DIPARTIMENTO DI SCIENZE E TECNOLOGIE AGRO-ALIMENTARI - DISTAL Corso di Dottorato di Ricerca in Scienze e Tecnologie Agrarie, Ambientali e Alimentari

CICLO XXXI SETTORE CONCORSUALE: 07/A1 – ECONOMIA AGRARIA ED ESTIMO SETTORE SCIENTIFICO DISCIPLINARE: AGR/01 – ECONOMIA ED ESTIMO RURALE COORDINATORE DOTTORATO: PROF. MASSIMILIANO PETRACCI

## Regret Theory as an Alternative Framework in Consumer Food Choice: an Application of the Random Regret Minimization Model

Candidato: Beatrice Biondi Matricola 772767 Supervisore: Prof. Luca Camanzi

Co-supervisore: Dr. Ivo A. Van der Lans

# Contents

Ał	Abstract Introduction 7							
In								
1	The food choice process							
	1.1	A conceptual model of food choice						
	1.2	Food related values						
		1.2.1	Sensory perceptions	14				
		1.2.2	Monetary considerations	15				
		1.2.3	Quality	15				
		1.2.4	Health and Nutrition	16				
		1.2.5	Convenience	17				
		1.2.6	Sustainability and ethical consumption	17				
		1.2.7	Managing relationships	18				
	1.3	1.3 Personal factors						
		1.3.1	Demographic characters	19				
		1.3.2	Psychographics	20				
2	Decision strategies in consumer choice 2							
	2.1	Utility	y theory	28				
	2.2	Heuristics and Satisficing theory						
	2.3	Loss aversion and Prospect theory						
	2.4	Regre	t theory	36				
	2.5	Theor	ry into practice: applications in the food domain	40				
3	Discrete Choice Models 45							
	3.1	Behav	vioural process specification: RUM and RRM	46				

#### Contents

	3.2	Estim	ation methods	50			
		3.2.1	Multinomial Logit model	50			
		3.2.2	Mixed Logit model	57			
		3.2.3	Latent class model	58			
	3.3	An ov	erview of Discrete Choice Experiments in the food literature	61			
4	RRN	A and I	RUM models comparisons: a review of empirical results	65			
5	Emp	pirical	study	81			
	<ul> <li>5.1 Objective of the study</li></ul>						
		5.2.1	Participants, survey administration and questionnaire	81			
		5.2.2	Choice experiment	83			
		5.2.3	Personality traits	86			
	5.3 Methodological approach			88			
		5.3.1	RUM and RRM logit models estimation and comparison $$ .	88			
		5.3.2	Segmentation	91			
	5.4	.4 Results					
		5.4.1	Multinomial Logit model	93			
		5.4.2	Segmentation	101			
		5.4.3	Mixed logit model estimation	101			
		5.4.4	Latent Class model	106			
	5.5	Discus	ssion	109			
Co	Conclusion						
Acknowledgements 1							
Aŗ	Appendix A 1						
Bi	Bibliography 1:						

4

# Abstract

In consumer behaviour literature, discrete choices of food are usually assumed to be driven by maximization of utility, and modelled through the Random Utility Maximization (RUM) choice model. Nevertheless, other behavioural paradigms have been proposed in marketing literature, which account for loss aversion and regret minimization. Hence, this study investigates the usefulness and potential in the food domain of a discrete choice model that follows the regret minimization principle, the Random Regret Minimization (RRM) model, as an alternative and complement to existing RUM models. The study also investigates whether and to what extent a number of personality traits influence the use of a utility-maximizing, or regret-minimizing decision rule. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first attempt to explore whether and how anticipated regret affect consumers' choice of food products, while in general a direct and significant impact on future choices has been found.

The thesis begins with a conceptual model for the food choice process, which takes into account how values related to food and personal factors contribute to drive food choices. Then, consumer choice strategies developed in the literature are introduced and discussed in light of the existing empirical applications to food choice.

Based on data gathered from a discrete choice experiment, the RRM discrete choice model is applied and compared with the RUM classical model.

Results show that at the aggregate level the two models have similar goodness of fit to the data and prediction ability. Still, each of them shows better fit for particular subgroups of consumers, based on personality traits. Hence, the present study reveals a potential for the RRM model applications in the food domain. Nonetheless, the two models are subject to different interpretations and feature distinct behavioural properties. As such, the RRM can be seen as a valuable addition to existing methodologies in consumer choice modelling, specifically in the food domain.

# Introduction

In marketing studies, an overarching aim is to understand why people buy what they buy, in order to develop products that address consumers' real needs, and to address these products to the right consumer. This holds for consumer goods in general, and in particular for food products, for which managers can use different leverages to attract consumers and differentiate products based on several attributes (e.g. brand, taste, nutritional composition, packaging design, claims, production process, etc.).

At the same time, food choices and dietary styles have an effect on people's health, therefore it is in the interest of policy makers to develop adequate long-term strategies to help people make healthier choices (Nestle and Jacobson, 2000; Waterlander et al., 2009).

Explaining food choices is important nearly as much as it is complicated. Many factors contribute to the consumer choice of food, including situational, physiological, cultural, social, and psychological aspects (Furst et al., 1996; Martins and Pliner, 2005; Mela, 1999; Asp, 1999; Frewer and Van Trijp, 2006). Moreover, food choices are often driven by habits, that is to say consumers simply choose what has been chosen in the past and might not engage in cognitive reasoning while choosing, depending on the specific product and situation (Adamowicz and Swait, 2013; Cohen and Farley, 2008).

The dominant approach in analyzing and predicting food choices typically assumes that consumers are (most) inclined to choose the option that they expect will result in the highest post-purchase and post-consumption satisfaction, formally expressed through the idea of expected utility maximization (Savage, 1954). Nevertheless, the maximization of utility represents only one of the possible goals that consumers may pursue in choosing foods. Other paradigms have been proposed in the literature, mainly taking into account the phenomenon of loss aversion. Loss aversion refers to a phenomenon that can take place in the consumers' mind, when different subjective evaluations are attached to losses and gains of the same size, the loss being perceived as more undesirable than the gain is attractive. Prospect theory (Kahneman and Tversky, 1979) takes into account this issue, assuming that consumers' evaluations are based on perceived gains and losses with respect to a reference point. Reference points can be different for different individuals and situations, for instance<sup>1</sup> if an individual usually purchases a product for  $5 \in$ , he/she would consider a similar product that costs  $7 \in$  as a loss, while someone with a reference price of  $9 \in$  sees it as a gain.

A different choice model has been recently proposed, which assumes that people anticipate the regret that would derive from choosing a sub-optimal alternative. In economic theories, regret is defined as: "the difference in value between the assets actually received and the highest level of assets produced by other alternatives" (Bell, 1982). Regret is a negative emotion and people tend to be regret averse. The Random Regret Minimization (RRM) model (Chorus, 2010) incorporates the idea that consumers anticipate possible future regret while choosing and aim to minimize it. The anticipated regret arises from making trade-offs between the attribute values of alternatives – in absence of a dominant alternative – and choosing the alternative that performs best overall, but might have an inferior performance on one or more attributes.

Anticipated regret has proven to be a significant predictor of future choices (Coricelli et al., 2005), and studies found that it influences decision making in several fields (e.g. marketing, economics, health behaviour etc.) (see Joong et al., 2013; Abraham and Sheeran, 2003; Simonson, 1992).

To date, the RRM model has been applied mainly in contexts of transport, policy, health, shopping destinations, leisure and dating choices (Chorus, 2010; Chorus, Annema, Mouter, and van Wee, 2011; Chorus and Rose, 2011; De Bekker-Grob and Chorus, 2013; Thiene, Boeri, and Chorus, 2012), but to our knowledge it has never been explored in relation to food choice.

In previous studies, regret is assumed to have a different weight on choice based on the context and choice setting, following the assumption that the more the decision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The reference point can be internal (based on memory or previous experience) or external (based on stimuli at the point of purchase). In this example, an internal reference price is considered (Neumann and Böckenholt, 2014, see).

#### Contents

is difficult, the more regret is taken into account (Zeelenberg and Pieters, 2007). Nevertheless, individuals might perceive differently the importance and difficulty of the choice, and they might differ in how they make choice in a similar situation; this heterogeneity in individual's choices needs to be taken into account.

Thus, in this thesis the RRM model is introduced into the food context through an empirical illustration and its potential is critically discussed in relation to individuals' heterogeneity.

The aim of the present study is to draw attention to a regret-based approach to decision-making and its impact on choice modelling. Modelling regret may provide important complementary insights in consumer food-choice processes beyond existing approaches.

In this study, the RRM choice model is tested on food choices, and individual heterogeneity in preferences are taken into account. The choice model is applied to discrete food choices taken at the supermarket, thus referring to the choice to buy a specific product having several alternatives available, likely to have different prices. The performance of the RRM model is compared with its utility maximizationbased counterpart.

The thesis starts with a detailed description of the food choice process, following the conceptual framework proposed by Furst et al. (1996). Food related values considered in food choice are outlined, than the personal characteristics that contribute in shaping food choices are discussed.

Chapter 2 presents some of the most important theories regarding decision strategies in consumer choices, which attempt to explain how the available information is evaluated by consumers and results in the final decision, including utility- and regret-based choice theories. The chapter also provides examples of empirical applications in the food domain.

Chapter 3 provides a definition of Discrete Choice Models and displays the statistical models which are estimated on discrete choices, belonging to the Logit family. It also provides a presentation of Discrete Choice Experiments and how they are applied in the food literature.

Chapter 4 is a literature review of the empirical results obtained in RRM and RUM models comparisons.

Finally, Chapter 5 describes the empirical study's settings and results. In our experimental setting, the RRM model is applied to stated choices of cheese based on price, quality, sustainability of the packaging and preservability (i.e. days left until the best by date). The Results section reports the main results obtained, focusing on comparisons in performance between estimated RUM and RRM models, and segmentation analysis. Lastly, results are discussed in light of existing literature, and strategic implications, limitations and directions for future research are outlined.

# Chapter 1

# The food choice process

The study of what governs the choice of consumers is pivotal in food marketing. By knowing the mechanism(s) that drives people choices, researchers can predict future choices; this allows companies to manipulate the marketing strategy in order to increase their profit and policy makers to develop effective interventions.

Nevertheless, explaining and defining the consumer food choice process is not an easy task. Sobal et al.'s article entitled "Food Choice Is Multifaceted, Contextual, Dynamic, Multilevel, Integrated, and Diverse" gives an idea of the multi-dimensionality of the process (Sobal et al., 2014). It is not only how the choice is made, but the fact that the time, place, reasons, and people involved all have an interrelated effect on how and what people choose.

The present chapter aims to give an overview of the main characteristics of the food choice process, based on a conceptual framework from Furst et al. (1996). The involved dimensions are discussed and personal factors which affect food choices are presented.

## 1.1 A conceptual model of food choice

Figure 1.1 shows a conceptual model for the food choice process proposed by Furst et al. (1996). This model has been built on information collected by the researchers (Furst, Connors, Bisogni, Sobal, and Falk) in qualitative interviews, and it summarizes how the choice of food is shaped.

The model represents how a single food choice happens, which factors are involved



Figure 1.1. Conceptual model of food choice (Furst et al. (1996))

and how they affect the final choice. The main process represented is called *value negotiation*, a trade-off among personal values people make when choosing; this leads to the final choice by means of a decision strategy for the choice. Both operations can be performed with different degrees of conscious reflection, depending on the specific choice context. Value negotiation and strategy application together form the *personal system*. Personal systems for food choice are affected by several *influences*: ideals, personal factors, resources, social framework and food context; which in turn are generated by the *life course* of the individual. The latter includes the personal experiences and the environment to which a person has been and is exposed (Furst et al., 1996).

In the present thesis, the main focus is on the personal system, since it represents

the process activated in making choices, and on personal factors that can explain observed heterogeneity in choice. The reader interested in the other influences can refer to Furst et al. (1996).

The personal system is discussed in detail in the following sections; Section 1.2 outlines the food related values and Section 1.3 gives an overview of the main personal factors that can have a role in food choice. Chapter 2 presents the choice strategies with reference to the consumer literature, and evidence in the food domain.

## 1.2 Food related values

In studying behaviours, values are the main independent variables (Rokeach, 1973). According to the definitions given in the literature, values are intended as concepts or beliefs: values drive behaviours and choices by acting as goals or desirable end states. Moreover, values are inherit in individuals, meaning that the same value can hold in different situations, and they can be traded-off in their relative importance (Schwartz and Bilsky, 1990). Therefore, values shape attitudes and preferences in consumer behaviour.

Values can be distinguished based on their motivational content, i.e. the goal they pursue (Bilsky and Schwartz, 1994).

In the conceptual framework by Furst et al. (1996), the value negotiation represents the phase in which an individual's values related to food are weighted and adapted to each particular choice situation. Individuals have different values, and each of them can have a different weight in their choice, depending on the choice context. For instance, when buying a food item that involves potential safety risk, such as fish, one could attach more importance to health and quality dimensions and less to monetary considerations; the opposite could happen for a standardized product like breakfast cereals or crackers, in buying these items price consideration might be stronger. Also, value considerations could be different when an individual is buying for him/herself with respect to the case in which he/she is buying a food to share with other members of the family or friends. Another factor affecting value negotiation might be the relative state of hunger during the shopping, which could lead to increased importance of sensory factors in comparison to health dimension. The links and the spiral at the centre of the value negotiation in Figure 1.1 highlight the interconnected nature of personal values and the recurrent type of process. Each time, based on the peculiarities of the choice, values are compared and balanced; all values could be equally important, or one or more values could be deemed to be the deciding factor in a given situation.

The six values reported in the scheme were the most frequently mentioned by consumers in Furst et al.'s experiment; these values are related to dimensions of: sensory, price, convenience, health and nutrition, social relationships and quality. Other mentioned values were ethics, tradition and familiarity (Furst et al., 1996). Food related dimensions such as pleasure, health, tradition, convenience, familiarity, prestige and price were described also in other previous works (Rappoport et al., 1992; Lau et al., 1984). Furthermore, Steptoe et al. (1995) developed and validated a multidimensional questionnaire – called Food Choice Questionnaire – to assess the importance of different factors in food choice; they found nine dimensions: health, mood, convenience, sensory appeal, natural content, price, weight control, familiarity and ethical concerns. In their study, sensory appeal, health, convenience and price were rated as the most important factors overall; nonetheless, they found sub-segments in the population that differed on the relative importance placed on the nine factors.

#### 1.2.1 Sensory perceptions

Sensory properties are often the most important factor in food selection, such as in the study by Furst et al. (1996), where taste and flavour were the primary driving factors for most of the people.

The value of sensory perception refers to personal preferences regarding the organoleptic characteristics of a food item in terms of its taste, texture and odour<sup>1</sup>. These physical characteristics of a product are called its intrinsic attributes (e.g. colour, flavour, smell). On the other hand, all the features of a product which are not "physical" are called extrinsic attributes (e.g. brand, quality mark, price, country of origin, written information on the label, etc.) (Mancini et al., 2017).

Furst et al. (1996) found that sensory was sometimes in conflict with convenience and monetary values: people acknowledged the taste of a homemade dish (e.g. a pie) is not comparable with the one of a ready-to-eat similar dish, but often they had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Sensory science is a broad field, and it is not in the interest of this study to go into this issue. For the purposes of the present study, the other dimensions are presented in more detail.

no time to bake or cook and choose the ready solution; moreover, often branded products are more tasty than similar private label (cheaper) products.

#### 1.2.2 Monetary considerations

Monetary considerations refer to the price of a food product, and to the perceived quality/price tradeoff. This value is likely to dominate the food choice in some circumstances; sometimes people just buy the cheapest product (Furst et al., 1996). The same price can be subject to different evaluations; a high price can be appreciated as a signal of quality for one consumer, but it may represent a barrier for another consumer. Thus, price is mostly in conflict with the values of quality and taste; it can be the most or less important value depending on the situation, e.g. one might buy a food only when it is on discount – switching category, for example with fruit (Furst et al., 1996) – or one can buy a food regardless of the cost – "choice of a treat" (Furst et al., 1996).

#### 1.2.3 Quality

Consumers in Furst et al.'s study referred to quality as a "level of excellence", which was associated with good ingredients, freshness, branded and good looking products. Nevertheless, quality was also related to other dimensions, such as taste, health and price.

The value of food quality is a broad concept and includes several sub-dimensions. Steenkamp (1989) identified four approaches to product quality: the metaphysical approach, the production management approach, the economic approach, and the behavioural or perceived quality approach of marketing and consumer behaviour. The first approach concerns the being of quality, under a philosophical perspective; the production management approach to quality focuses on the production method and quality controls and standards; the economic approach adopts an economic perspective to quality-related aspects, such as quality competition; the perceived quality approach concerns the way consumers form judgments about the quality of a product, i.e. the subjective quality.

Accordingly, the quality that a consumer values often is not the objective quality, but the subjective quality (Grunert, 2005; Brunsø et al., 2002). Subjective or perceived quality is the quality as perceived and judged by consumers, which might rely on incomplete information and depends on personal and situational variables (Steenkamp, 1989).

Still, it is not clear to which characteristics subjective quality is linked. In this sense, there are two main approaches: in the first one – the holistic approach – (subjective) quality refers to all the desirable properties a product is perceived to have (Grunert, 2005); in other words, a product feature adds to its quality to the extent that consumers believe that feature to be a desirable property. In this sense, when people prefer cheaper prices, a cheaper price is signal of quality; also, a convenient product might be perceived as having more quality if convenience is seen as a desirable property. Nevertheless, the second approach – the excellence approach – acknowledges that products can have desirable properties that consumers may not view as part of quality (Grunert, 2005). For instance, convenience foods are generally perceived as having low quality, even though for consumers convenience represents a desirable property (Grunert, 2005).

Consumers perceive quality under four major dimensions: sensory, health, convenience, and process (Brunsø et al., 2002). In particular, the production process refers to how the food is produced, with reference to how it is cultivated or raised (organic, animal welfare, no GMO, local etc.). Consumers' interest in and value attached to production practices is growing, leading to an increasing demand of "natural" products and ingredients. The production process has become a unique dimension of quality, which not necessarily relates to the taste or healthiness of the product (Brunsø et al., 2002). The process-related quality is usually signalled with a mark – also called *extrinsic cue* – therefore the consumers' perceived quality depends on the knowledge of and trust in these quality marks.

Despite being a value itself, process related aspects such as naturalness are often associated with the health value.

#### 1.2.4 Health and Nutrition

The value of health and nutrition was related to three dimensions: disease avoidance and control, weight control, and well-being (Furst et al., 1996). Consumers had distinct views of health and nutrition, the former being associated with avoidance of certain foods (e.g. high in salt or fat), while the latter with consumption of nutritious foods such as vegetables. In general, the health dimension includes both safety and nutritional aspects. In the mind of consumers, health is often associated with weight control and low-fat diets (Lappalainen et al., 1998). The healthiness of a food product can be inferred based on personal knowledge, nutritional labels and health claims (Nocella and Kennedy, 2012; Kozup et al., 2003; Garretson and Burton, 2000). Moreover consumers could use the best-by date or expiration date as a proxy of healthiness or freshness (Ragaert et al., 2004).

Health orientation, or attitude, can sometimes be in contrasts with other food values, especially taste and convenience.

#### 1.2.5 Convenience

In the experiment by Furst et al. (1996), convenience was mainly associated with saving time in preparation of a meal and saving time in shopping expeditions, i.e. the convenience of buying larger-sized products. Moreover, ease of preparation was considered part of convenience, together with the convenience of easily find products at the store, related to an adequate display of products on the shelves. In general, the convenience construct refers to food products which allow consumers to save time, culinary skills, and energy inputs, with respect to raw foods (Traub and Odland, 1979).

Consumers seem to trade off between health and convenience (Ragaert et al., 2004). For instance, beliefs about physical health were found to have a negative effect on the purchase of convenience foods (de Boer et al., 2004). Moreover, fresh fruits are perceived to be healthier and less convenient than dried fruits (Sijtsema et al., 2012). However, healthiness is not significantly correlated to convenience orientation according to Candel (2001). Furthermore, Olsen et al. (2012) found health orientation to increase the likelihood of buying a (healthy) ready meal.

#### 1.2.6 Sustainability and ethical consumption

A value which is not mentioned in the conceptual framework, but is gaining importance in the last years is sustainability. Sustainable food products contribute to sustainable goals in three dimensions: economic (i.e. fair prices for farmers and consumers), social (fair human working and trade conditions), and environmental (animal welfare and natural preservation) (Vermeir and Verbeke, 2006). The sustainability of a food product refers to its attributes: the ingredients, the production process, and the packaging; and it can have both an environmental or ethical meaning in the mind of consumers (Vermeir and Verbeke, 2006; Mancini et al., 2017; Steenis et al., 2017).

A *conscious consumer* is an individual that, through his/her choices, express a sustainable behaviour. The sustainable behaviour can be expressed through individuals' own health protection, the search for information and certifications, the care about environmental biodiversity and climate change, the attention to resources waste, the support of local communities and small businesses (Mancini et al., 2017; Grunert, 2011).

Given the recent introduction of sustainability labels and the recently augmented consumer awareness, it is quite unlikely that sustainability enters the value negotiation phase directly. Most likely, sustainable aspects are not going to be valued against more familiar aspects like taste and convenience, but rather perceived as added features, in relation to price (Grunert, 2011). Moreover, Mancini et al. (2017) found a correlation between food sustainability and quality, meaning that sustainability attributes might be regarded as another sub-dimension of product quality.

#### 1.2.7 Managing relationships

The last value included in the food value negotiation process is managing relationships. This means taking into account other people's preferences when making food choices, and thus accommodating others' tastes. But this is not the only way in which others' opinion can be taken into account when making food choices.

Social norm – an implicit set of behaviours that is considered acceptable in a group – has proven to affect what and how much people eat. According to Higgs (2015), the eating behaviour of relevant others is considered as a guide for individual's own behaviour in a given context. For instance, people tend to consume similar amounts to dining partners, or they tend to eat more when told other people have eaten more (Pliner and Mann, 2004; Higgs and Thomas, 2016). Also, dietary choices tend to converge with a normative dietary style, as perceived by the individual as a socially or culturally acceptable behaviour (Higgs, 2015).

The next section discusses the personal factors which affect food choices. Then, Chapter 2 deals with the possible strategies for making food choices.

## 1.3 Personal factors

Food choice decisions are diverse, each individual negotiates food choice values differently depending on personal characteristics, social framework and the food context (Sobal et al., 2014; Connors et al., 2001). In particular, how each individual manages values in food choices is of great interest for food consumption researchers (Connors et al., 2001). Knowing personal characteristics that affect food choice and habits allows managers and policy makers to segment the market, in order to reach the desired sub-group of consumers.

The following sections outline the main findings in the literature regarding heterogeneity in food choices. More specifically, the main personal features that can cause different choice patterns are presented. Demographic variables, lifestyles and psychological variables that affect food choice are displayed.

#### 1.3.1 Demographic characters

Demographic characters are individual characteristics such as gender, age, income, education level, household composition, country and type of area in which a person lives (Albisu et al., 2012). Broad evidence suggests that demographic traits affect food consumption, although more recent segmentation research focuses more on the so-called *psychographic* – psychological and lifestyle variables – which are assumed to be the traits responsible of heterogeneous behaviours (Asp, 1999).

Behind gender differences in food choice lie socio-cultural variables, genetics and evolution, different importance attributed to health and looks, and differences in average income level and price sensitivity (Heiman and Lowengart, 2014).

The main findings on demographics affecting food choice values are outlined below:

- gender of the consumer has an influence on the demand for convenience food: in a study about consumption of ready meals in Sweden, female respondents were found to be in general more demanding than males, and their priorities were different. The most important aspects for women were related to health and nutrition; whereas men were more interested in aspects related to the ease of use and preparation (Ahlgren et al., 2006);
- gender, age and educational effects were found on health interest in food:
   women, older respondents, and respondents with high educational level were

more interested in eating healthily. Females were also more interested in eating light products, whereas males rated taste as the most important factor affecting their food choice (Roininen et al., 1999);

- gender differences were found on food choice values in general: women had higher values on all food choice motives except Sensory Appeal and Familiarity, meaning women are in general more preoccupied with food (Steptoe et al., 1995);
- age was found to affect the adoption of a heathy diet: older respondents were more interested than younger respondents in healthy dietary practices and in using natural products (Steptoe et al., 1995);
- dietary factors were related to the demographic variables of gender and age: older (but not necessarily elderly) participants reported eating more fiberrich foods in their diets than did younger ones, and women reported more avoidance of fats from meats than did men (Goldberg and Strycker, 2002);
- significant differences in motivation for food choice emerged between people with low and high BMI: the former eat more often because of physiological hunger while those with a higher BMI rely more on social norms and emotional cues (Renner et al., 2012);
- higher income has been found to encourage the consumption of convenience food; also, those who work more than 30 hours per week are the most convenience oriented consumers (Bonke, 1996).

These are only some examples of the differences in values found based on demographics. The number of experiments that have taken into account demographic differences on food related values and eating patterns is extensive. For further information, see also Frewer and Van Trijp (2006), Part III.

#### 1.3.2 Psychographics

Lifestyles and personalities have been demonstrated to have an impact on food choice behaviour, over and above demographic characters. For instance, consider a woman that practices sport every day, has an health oriented dietary style and lives alone; now think to a woman that has two children and a full time stressful job. It is likely that the different lifestyles they have result in different preferences and choices, even if they are both women and the same age.

The term lifestyle refers to the main interests, opinions and activities of each individual, whereas personality refers to the psychological traits peculiar of each person. Segmentation based on lifestyle and personality is called *Psychographic segmentation* – as opposite to the traditional segmentation based on demographic characteristics. The next sections describe in detail the two types of variables, and the main studies concerning food preferences.

#### Lifestyles

The lifestyle (or life style) represents the way of living of individuals; it is expressed through behavioural patterns and refers to the set of activities, attitudes, interests and opinions of a person.

Scholderer et al. (2004) provided a definition of lifestyle: "Lifestyle is defined as an intervening system of cognitive structures that link situation-specific product perceptions (...) to personal values". Thus, lifestyles are situation-specific and can be specific to a product class.

The choices people make can be greatly influenced by their lifestyle. Lifestyle drives needs and wants, and can be influenced by factors such as culture, family and peers, and social class.

In a famous study, Brunsø and Grunert (1995) developed an instrument for measuring Food-Related Lifestyle (FRL). The FRL assumes the existence of five dimensions (or cognitive structures) that act as mediators between values and perceptions and behaviours: purchase motives, ways of shopping, quality aspects, cooking methods, and consumption situations (displayed in Figure 1.2).

The FRL instrument has been cross-culturally and nomologically validated (Scholderer et al., 2004; O'Sullivan et al., 2005; Brunsø et al., 2004) and applied in several studies in the food literature (e.g. Hoek et al., 2004; Nie and Zepeda, 2011; Pérez-Cueto et al., 2010). These studies explored a number of issues: Hoek et al. (2004) found differences between vegetarians and meat eaters in the five aspects of food-related lifestyle; Nie and Zepeda (2011) used FRL to segment food consumers and found four segments: rational, adventurous, careless and conservative uninvolved consumers, which differed in frequency of shopping at farmers' market and for organic food;



Figure 1.2. The Food-Related Life style model (from Grunert (2006))

Pérez-Cueto et al. (2010) studied the associations between obesity and FRL, finding that sub-dimensions of the quality aspect (health, organic production and freshness) are associated with not being obese.

Other studies in the food domain took into account lifestyles, but deviating from the FRL conceptualization. Goetzke and Spiller (2014) analyzed health-improving lifestyles according to five dimensions: physical activity, stress management, responsibility, spiritual wellness and beauty, and linked them to the purchase of organic and functional food. They found a link between the choice of organic food and active and spiritual lifestyle, and between choosing functional food and having a passive lifestyle (focused on beauty and passive relaxation). Moreover, Myrland et al. (2000) found a positive relationship between the level of physical activity and the consumption of seafood. Furthermore, de Jong et al. (2003) explored how lifestyles such as smoking, alcohol consumption, vegetable, fibre and fat intake and physical activity affect the consumption of seven types of functional foods, finding product specific and non-generalizable results.

#### Psychological and personality traits

In a study in the field of psychology from Bouchard Jr. (2004), psychological traits were divided into: personality traits, psychiatric illnesses, social attitudes, intelligence and interests. Personality refers to the "unique pattern of traits" of individuals, with traits being defined as "any distinguishable, relatively enduring way in which one individual differs from others" (Bilsky and Schwartz, 1994; Guilford, 1959). In general, there is consensus in the psychological literature on the overall characterization of personality traits into five categories, the so-called Big Five or Five Factors: Openness, Conscientiousness, Extraversion, Agreeableness and Neuroticism, also identified with the acronym OCEAN (Costa Jr and McCrae, 1992; Perugini and Gallucci, 1997; John and Srivastava, 1999). Openness to experience measures the willingness to explore new and unfamiliar experiences; conscientiousness refers to self-discipline such as being organized, active, and hardworking; extraversion refers to the inclination to be sociable; agreeableness is related to sympathy, cooperation and friendliness; lastly, neuroticism refers to emotional instability such as anxiety and inability to react to stressful situations (Bazzani et al., 2017; Perugini and Gallucci, 1997)

Whether and how these personality traits affect food choices and eating patterns has been explored in the literature. For instance, Conner et al. (2017) studied how the big five personality traits are associated with fruit and vegetable consumption, they found that openness, extraversion and conscientiousness were associated with higher consumption of fruits and vegetables; the other two personality traits did not show an effect. Also, Carrillo et al. (2012) tested how conscientiousness, neuroticism and agreeableness relate to health and weight control as moderators in the consumption of low fat, low sugar and high calories food products. They found no effect for the agreeableness construct, while the neuroticism and conscientiousness presented a positive effect on health and weight control. Nonetheless, opposite results were obtained by Booth-Kewley and Vickers Jr (1994) and Goldberg and Strycker (2002), who found an association between neurotic personality and unhealthy behaviour. In particular, Goldberg and Strycker (2002) results confirm the effect of openness to experience and conscientiousness in predicting healthy dietary practices, on the other hand extraversion and neuroticism were associated to less healthy diets in terms of fats.

Impulsiveness as a personality trait has been also tested in the food literature, in relation to sensory perceptions. Impulsiveness measures the tendency to act on the spur of the moment, without taking into account potential risks. Saliba et al. (2009) found impulsiveness to be positively associated with a preference for sweet taste in wine, while openness was negatively related.

Broadly acknowledged food-related psychological traits are food neophobia, food involvement and variety seeking. Food neophobia is a measure of the reluctance to try novel or unfamiliar foods. Food involvement is a measure of importance of food in consumers own life, e.g. enjoyment in talking about food, thoughts about food during a typical day, and engagement in food-related activities such as food shopping, meal preparation, eating and disposal (Eertmans et al., 2005). Variety seeking is a variation in the response to an item of an individual with reference to the previous response in the same category, due to variation per se (Van Trijp et al., 1996). Variety seeking trait correlates positively with food involvement and negatively with food neophobia (Van Trijp et al., 1996).

In the study by Eertmans et al. (2005), food choice motives (i.e. values) were considered as mediators between food-related personality traits and food choice (intake). In their view, values in the personal system for food choice represent the "generative mechanism" through which traits are able to influence food intake (Eertmans et al., 2005). They found that food involvement was associated with price and ethical concern values, whereas convenience, weight control, and familiarity were associated with food neophobia. Furthermore, Marshall and Bell (2004) found that sensory and health values were interacting with food involvement, acting as mediators for food-involved individuals towards a more healthy and tasteful diet. Food involvement also affect habits such as the number of away-from-home consumed meals (Marshall and Bell, 2004).

Kim et al. (2010) analyzed the association between food neophobia and food involvement with satisfaction and loyalty in hospitality and tourism, and found an opposite effect of the two food-related personality traits: neophobia affected negatively satisfaction and loyalty, while food involvement had a positive effect. Moreover, food neophobia and involvement affect consumers attitude towards and intention to buy organic food in Taiwan (Chen, 2007).

Byrnes and Hayes (2013) studied how personality traits moderate sensory perceptions and liking. They analyzed the relationship between capsaicin burn and liking of spicy food, taking into account sensitivity to reward, sensitivity to punishment and sensation seeking personality traits. They found sensitivity to reward and sensation seeking to be positively related to liking of a spicy meal, whereas sensitivity to punishment was negatively correlated with the liking of spicy foods (Byrnes and Hayes, 2013). A similar study by Spinelli et al. (2018) took into account sensitivity to reward and to punishment as well, and also sensitivity to disgust, private body consciousness (i.e. awareness of internal bodily sensations), alexithymia (i.e. the difficulty in the identification and verbal description of subjective and others emotional feelings), and food neophobia. People more sensitive to reward liked more the spicy food, more neophobic and more sensitive to disgust individuals had lower liking scores for the spicy food. Low sensitivity to punishment was significantly affecting liking for males; no effect of private body consciousness and alexithymia was found. In a different study, Cliceri et al. (2018) measured how food neophobia, sensitivity to disgust and empathic responsiveness – defined as the ability to understand or feel the emotions other people are feeling – affect attitudes towards plant-based and animal based-dishes. More empathic individuals had positive attitudes towards plant-based dishes and negative attitudes towards animal-based dishes, no effect was found for the other personality traits.

It is evident how psychological and personality traits contribute in shaping values and attitudes of consumers, and therefore affect individuals' eating patterns. The present chapter has discussed the food choice in terms of driving factors (i.e. values) and individual traits that can affect values, preferences and attitudes. Chapter 2 outlines and describe how consumer choice is made, and thus the different strategies consumers adopt to evaluate food products when choosing.

# Chapter 2

# Decision strategies in consumer choice

Explaining consumer choices, as well as predicting future choices, can be rather complex. Indeed, people often experience uncertainty when faced with a choice among several alternatives and sometimes will not make the same choice if presented with a similar choice-situation in the future. In fact, several factors can intervene, such as changes in the environment and/or in personal values and the social context (see Chapter 1 for an overview of determinants of consumer food choice). This does not mean that choices are totally random, but that choice behaviour can be represented as a probabilistic process, which includes a random part (Luce, 1959).

The decision-making process can be seen as consisting of sub-stages of information acquisition, evaluation of information, and the expression of a decision (Payne et al., 1993). Probabilistic theories of choice differ based on the mechanism that underlies and thus governs choice, called decision strategy, which is an expression of how the available information is evaluated in order to make a decision.

Some of the most important theories developed in the marketing field are described throughout this chapter, that concludes by providing examples of empirical applications in the food domain.

## 2.1 Utility theory

The Utility theory is broadly applied in consumer behaviour studies.

An antecedent of the modern concept of utility emerged in the psychological literature on decision making more than ninety years ago, when Thurstone (1927) introduced a law for the comparison of perceived psychological stimuli. In his *law of comparative judgment*, Thurstone assumed a psychological construct as a continuum on which two perceived stimuli can be located, therefore the distance between the two is a measure of what he called the *discriminal difference*.

Several years later, Marschak (1960) interpreted the same concept in terms of economic choice, conceiving the perceived stimuli as satisfaction or utility levels. Since then, several researchers have dealt with this concept adding their contribution to shape the Utility theory in economics.

A pivotal contribution to the Utility theory has been provided by Luce (1959), which imposed an important assumption about the characteristics of choice probabilities, i.e. the Independence from Irrelevant Alternatives (IIA)<sup>1</sup>, which simplified the subsequent formulation of the choice model by Marschak (1960). Marschak not only applied the theory in the economic field, but also provided a derivation of a choice model from the utility maximization decision rule, called Random Utility Maximization (RUM) model. This has been further elaborated by McFadden (1973, 1981), Nobel Prize winner for his work on RUM choice modelling (see the Prize lecture: McFadden (2000))<sup>2</sup>.

In the economic field the term *utility* simply means the *value* attached to a good. Straightforwardly, the Utility theory assumes the maximization of utility as the decision process that drives choices; in other words, people are assumed to maximize the utility derived from a good when choosing.

In the review of economic theories of decision making by Edwards (1954) it is written: "Every object or action may be considered from the point of view of pleasureor pain-giving properties. These properties are called the utility of the object, and pleasure is given by positive utility and pain by negative utility. The goal of action,

<sup>1</sup> According to the IIA property, the choice probabilities ratio of any two alternatives in a choice set is assumed to be independent from the presence or absence of other alternatives in the choice set. In other words, the inclusion of an additional good decreases the choice probabilities of all other goods by an equal proportion.

<sup>2</sup> The RUM model is presented in detail in Chapter 3. In this section, the theoretical implication are considered.

then, is to seek the maximum utility. (...) People choose the alternative, from among those open to them, that leads to the greatest excess of positive over negative utility. This notion of utility maximization is the essence of the Utility theory of choice". This extract describes the idea behind the utility maximizing process, which remains valid today. The Utility theory is based on the rational evaluation of the features of a good, whose values are added up – with each feature scaled differently according to its importance – to obtain a final value of utility for each alternative available, i.e. imposing a weighted additive rule (WADD) (Payne et al., 1993). Therefore, the utility derived from a good is based on the characteristics or attributes that it possesses (Lancaster, 1966) and is typically evaluated by a linear combination, through a compensatory process.

In a compensatory framework, a negative utility, called dis-utility, provided by one of the attributes of the product can be compansated by a positive utility provided by a different attribute. In other words, a high value on one attribute compensates for a low value on another attribute for the same alternative.

Giving the broad consistency of this framework and its simplicity, utility maximization is most of the times accepted as the decision rule in consumer choice. However, a number of issues challenges its absolute validity.

First of all, traditional economic theories such as the Utility theory postulate that the economic – and thus completely rational – man has a full knowledge of the relevant aspects connected to the choice and of the alternatives available. The economic man is assumed also to have, and to always use, computational skills that enables him to correctly assess which of the available alternatives will reach the maximum utility, i.e. the highest attainable point on his preference scale, which is stable over time (Ford et al., 1989).

Already in 1955, Simon raised some doubts on the validity of this assumption, suggesting rather adopting a kind of rational behaviour that is "compatible with the access to information and the computational capacities that are actually possessed by organisms". Also, Kahneman and Tversky (1979) provided evidence for the violation of some of the axioms of Utility theory and proposed an alternative choice model (presented in Section 2.3).

Choice theories that deviate from Utility theory assume that, for instance, consumers act as satisficers rather than maximizers, thus not engaging in seeking the best possible outcome, but choosing the first option that meets some minimum requirements. Decision makers are assumed to not engage in full informed evaluations and trade-offs, since they often choose under constraints (e.g., time, effort, ability, budget), which limit the real choice set within they can maximize their utility. Furthermore, information asymmetry causes bias in the evaluation of the best option. These are only some examples of psychological and behavioural issues that can challenge the utility maximization decision rule. Theories that try to overcome these limitations are presented in the following sections.

Objections raised aganst the Utility theory concern also the information processing strategy, questioning the compensatory mechanism implied by the standard utility model. Alternative rules for the information processing strategy have been proposed, which accommodate for non-compensatory rules (Stüttgen et al., 2012; Gilbride and Allenby, 2004). In the next section, a detailed description of non-compensatory rules is provided.

## 2.2 Heuristics and Satisficing theory

In consumer research, studies based on the idea of utility maximization are predominant to date; at the same time, decision rules that apply simplified shortcuts called *heuristics* are sometimes taken as psychologically valid description of human decision making (Dieckmann and Dippold, 2009).

Decision strategies based on heuristics deviate from the assumption of rational economic man who carefully considers and weights all pieces of information available. In fact, consumers may not always invest significant effort into a complete and careful evaluation of alternatives. Sometimes, it can be more realistic to assume that consumers rely on simplified choice rules and/or reduced consideration sets, which are expression of a bounded rationality (Kahneman, 2003).

In consumer behaviour literature, the most known simplified rules for decision making are the lexicographic, the conjunctive and disjunctive rules, and the eliminationby-aspects.

The lexicographic decision rule (Bettman, 1979) assumes consumers to choose solely based on the attribute they consider the most important, i.e. they choose the alternative that performs best on that particular attribute, regardless of any other feature. If two or more alternatives carry the same level for the most important attribute, then the choice is based on the second attribute in the personal hierarchy. The process continues until the best alternative is found, or all the attributes have been screened. The term lexicographic refers to the dictionaries, whose alphabetical order recalls the above-descripted mechanism, i.e. in searching for a word one proceeds letter by letter – the first one being the most important – if two words are tie in the first letter, the second letter is considered, etc.

Differently from the lexicographic rule, both the conjunctive and disjunctive strategies (Dawes, 1964) involve processes based on individual threshold values for the attributes, which are intended as the minimum requirement for the choice. Under a conjunctive process, products that pass all of the thresholds are acceptable, thus all the attributes are considered. On the other hand, the disjunctive rule considers all products that pass at least one threshold as acceptable.

Lastly, the elimination by aspects decision rule (Tversky, 1972) is based on a sequential elimination process of alternatives. In multiple stages – each of which is based on a desired level for one attribute – the alternatives that do not match that desired level are excluded from the consideration set. This strategy can be viewed as a combination of the lexicographic and the conjunctive rules: the evaluation process matches the one inherit in the lexicographic rule, however under the elimination by aspects rule not only the alternative that has the best value is retained, but all the alternatives that are above the threshold for the specific attribute are retained (that is to say the alternatives that are under the threshold are excluded). It can be seen as a lexicographic multi-stage process, each involving a single attribute conjunctive rule.

Having these definitions in mind, it appears that conjunctive and disjunctive rules – being based on thresholds for acceptable levels of the attributes of alternatives – could result in a sub-set of acceptable products, from which each alternative can be chosen indiscriminately. But how can researchers predict a unique choice under this decision rule, if there are more than one different but equivalent alternatives? These specific decision rules for the choice process involve what is called a *stopping rule* (Stüttgen et al., 2012). The stopping rule predicts that a consumer stops evaluating alternatives when he/her finds a *satisficing* alternative, according to the threshold(s) he/she has in mind. Accordingly, consumers do not evaluate all available alternatives on all the attributes simultaneously, but rather act sequentially and simply stop when they find an acceptable alternative.

This is in line with what is called a satisficing choice behaviour, which has been first

theorized by Simon in 1955. Following his conceptualization, the ultimate choice is search path-dependent and varies with the order in which alternatives are presented to the decision-maker. Still, the researchers may, or may not, be aware of the mechanism that determines the order of procedure (Simon, 1955).

The satisficing theory has recently received the attention of Stüttgen et al. (2012), which developed a satisficing choice model. In their model, the first alternative that is good enough – after a verification stage – is chosen. Their model is made up by two interrelated parts, search and evaluation, implying a process in which the consumer continuously acquires information, updating the evaluations of the alternatives.

Before Stüttgen et al., Gilbride and Allenby (2004) also proposed a choice model which included simple heuristics, allowing for conjunctive and disjunctive rules in a two-stage choice process. Here, the heuristic is intended as a screening rule used to restrict the consideration set, but the actual choice is still based on a utility-maximizing behaviour.

All of the heuristics discussed so far are non-compensatory; i.e. a good value for one attribute cannot compensate for a bad value on another attribute. Indeed, only one undesired characteristic may be enough to exclude the option from the consideration set. This represent an extreme simplification of the decision process, in which the decision maker does not engage in any trade-off between attributes (Stüttgen et al., 2012).

Simple heuristics have proven to be an accurate representation of the real decision strategy when the choice task is complex, and thus when the need for simplifying is stronger. More specifically, a relatively large number of options and/or of attributes can induce a shift from compensatory to noncompensatory information processing (see Dieckmann and Dippold (2009) for an overview of the studies on this issue).

Nevertheless, besides choice models including simplified choice rules have shown promising results, they can be more or less valid depending on the choice framework. Situational factors and the characteristics of the decision task may lead people to use different strategies (Payne et al., 1993); therefore, researchers must be careful in their decision regarding which choice strategy to use to reproduce and explain a particular consumer choice.

Theories have been proposed that allow for trading off attributes, but under a different perspective from the utility-based paradigm. These theories adopt a loss aversion perspective and are outlined in the following sections.

## 2.3 Loss aversion and Prospect theory

According to Kahneman (2003): "A theory of choice that completely ignores feelings such as the pain of losses and the regret of mistakes is not only descriptively unrealistic, it also leads to prescriptions that do not maximize the utility of outcomes as they are actually experienced".

The "pain of losses" is triggered by what is called *loss aversion*, which seems to be inherent in human beings. The concept of loss aversion refers to the idea that loss and gain of the same size are given different subjective evaluations, loss being more undesirable than the gain is attractive. Loss aversion explains why people do not bet on a stake equal to the bet amount, having fifty percent chance of winning: the attractiveness of the possible gain is not sufficient to compensate for the aversiveness of the possible loss. With reference to consumer choice, this also implies that the amount of utility provided by the desired attributes of a product do not compensate for the same amount of dis-utility given by the undesired ones.

A further way to explain the loss aversion phenomenon relates to the loss being interpreted as giving up an object one already possesses. The motivation to avoid the loss is so great that the loss will be accepted only for a greater amount of money than the amount originally spent by the owner. This phenomenon is called *endowment effect* (Thaler, 1980). It describes the reluctance of people to give up assets that are already in their possession.

Several experiments have been carried out to test the endowment effect, and all give similar results, confirming the existence of the phenomenon (Knetsch and Sinden, 1984; Kahneman et al., 1990). In one of the most famous experiments, half of the participating students of the Cornell University were randomly assigned a coffee mug decorated with the University logo. Then some games were performed in which owners had to trade their mug to other students, that acted as buyers, in exchange for money; all the students knew that the mug was sold at the University store for \$6.00. Despite the fictitious nature of the study and the fact that students did not own the mug prior to the experiment, the average selling price for the owners was indeed greater than the average buying price for the buyers (Kahneman et al., 1990).

The loss aversion also gives rise to the so-called *status quo bias* phenomenon, which refers to the tendency of people to remain in their current status, since the disadvantages of leaving it have greater impact than the advantages (Kahneman et al., 1991).

All these psychological mechanisms challenge the pure compensatory behaviour in the evaluation of alternatives assumed by the Utility theory. More importantly, taking into account the different value of gains and losses necessarily imply the existence of a reference point. Starting from these considerations, Kahneman and Tversky (1979) developed the Prospect theory, which represents a completely new economic paradigm with reference to the classical utility theory.

The Prospect theory is a behavioural economic theory that involves psychological effects into the choice evaluation; it has initially been developed in the field of risky choices and then extended to riskless choices (Tversky and Kahneman, 1991). According to Prospect theory, values are viewed as a function of the reference point or status quo and the magnitude of the deviation from that reference point. In case of probabilistic alternatives, it specifies how value and probability are evaluated by decision makers. The objective value (e.g. money) and objective probability are processed by human beings to become subjective value and decision weight. What typically happens is that the objective magnitude is not coherent with the internal evaluation. For instance, two ice creams are not twice as attractive as one; and the difference in subjective value between 200€ and 100€ appears larger than the difference between 1, 200€ and 1, 100€. Therefore, as the objective value increases, the marginal value (or utility) – the additional utility gained from consuming one more unit of a good – experienced by the decision maker decreases. This concept is expressed through a concavity in the utility function with respect to the size of gains and a convexity with respect to the size of losses. When the value functions are pieced together, an S-shaped function is obtained (see Figure 2.1).

Moreover, in Figure 2.1 the curve relating subjective value to objective value for loss outcomes (the left side of the graph) is steeper than the curve relating subjective value to objective value for gain outcomes (the right part of the graph), exhibiting a loss aversion behaviour. For moderate gains and losses, the ratio of the slopes of the value function in the two domains is about 2:1 (Tversky and Kahneman, 1991). Thus, prospect theory assumes that values are attached to changes rather than to final states, going against the classical utility theory (Kahneman and Tversky, 1979).



Figure 2.1. Value function (from Kahneman and Tversky (1984))

Throughout the years, many researchers followed the axioms of Prospect theory in their studies on consumer behaviour. The theorized reference-dependence under a loss-aversion perspective explains the impact of reference prices on consumer choice preferences that is found in the literature. Evidence of the existence of reference price is therefore a validation for Prospect theory (Mazumdar et al., 2005; Kalyanaram and Winer, 1995; Wang, 2018; Caputo et al., 2018a).

Although the reference-dependence assumed by Prospect theory seems perfectly logic, it is not always observed. List (2004) compared Utility and Prospect theory and found that different behavioural processes are used depending on the prior experience of consumers in the marketplace: prospect theory has a stronger predictive power for inexperienced consumers, whereas consumers with market experience exhibit behaviour consistent with neoclassical utility theory. This result reflects the idea of the endowment effect being a sort of mistake, whose effect could be reduced or avoided through exercise in market transactions. List concludes his study highlighting both successes and failures of, as well as challenges for, the two theories (List, 2004).

In the next section, a theory akin to loss-aversion is presented. This theory goes beyond the assumption of loss aversion in consumer behaviour, assuming the emergence of regret due to a loss, and a regret-averse decision process.

## 2.4 Regret theory

Regret theory, just as Prospect theory, has been developed in the attempt to overcome the psychological limitations of the classical Utility theory.

Loomes and Sugden (1982) are the fathers of Regret theory and believed that their theory was simpler and more intuitive than Prospect theory.

Regret theory is based on actions and consequences, under the assumption that the "psychological experience of pleasure" (i.e. the utility) connected to the action – in our case the choice of a single alternative – depends not only on the consequences of that specific action, but also on the potential consequences of other actions that have not been taken. Loomes and Sugden theorized the existence of *regret* and *rejoice*: regret is experienced when the consequences of a not chosen option would have been better than the one the decision maker has chosen, leading him/her to think to the missed opportunities, and lowering the pleasure derived from the actual choice. On the other hand, rejoice represents an extra pleasure derived from knowing that the best choice possible has been made. In Regret theory, not only consumers are assumed to feel regret and rejoice, but also to anticipate these feelings when making decisions.

Loomes and Sugden incorporate regret and rejoice into a modified utility function that consumers are assumed to maximize. They consider an individual in a situation where multiple states of the world can occur, each of which with probability  $p_j$  with j = 1, ..., n. The individual is assumed to choose between two alternatives; each alternative is represented by a *n*-tuple of consequences, one consequence for each state of the world.

The modified utility  $m_{ij}^k$  of choosing *i* over *k* is a function of the consequences  $c_{ij}$  and  $c_{kj}$  of the possible choices in the state of the world *j*:

$$m_{ij}^k = M(c_{ij}, c_{kj})$$

The function M(.) assigns a real-valued index to every ordered pair of consequences.  $m_{ij}^k$  is smaller or larger than  $c_{ij}$  depending on the decremental or additional utility provided by experiencing rejoice or regret from choosing *i* over *k*, caused by knowing  $c_{kj}$ .

Accordingly, the individual chooses i over k by maximizing the expected modified
utility  $E_i^k$ , calculated over all the possible states of the world:

$$E_i^k = \sum_{j=1}^n p_j m_{ij}^k$$

Loomes and Sugden's modified utility function is just one of the possible formulations for including regret in the choice modelling. Nevertheless, other regret-based behavioural theories and choice models have been proposed in the literature. One of the most known choice models involving regret is the Random Regret Minimization (RRM) model developed by Chorus (2010). The RRM model incorporates the idea that consumers anticipate possible future regret while choosing and aim to minimize it.

In the context of riskless choices, the anticipated regret connected to the choice arises from making trade-offs between the attribute values of alternatives. In order to reach the alternative that has the best performance overall, sometimes the decision-maker has to accept a sub-optimal performance on one or more of the attributes of the alternative chosen, which may cause regret (Hensher et al., 2015). More specifically, the RRM model calculates the choice probability for an option by means of an attribute-by-attribute comparison with the other available options. Morevover, the regret minimization-based choice framework postulates that losses loom larger than gains, under a loss-aversion (and therefore regret aversion) perspective. This means that the same difference in an attribute level between two alternatives produces different impacts on choice probabilities depending on the fact that the considered alternative has a better or worse performance (see section 3.1 and Figure 3.1 for a detailed description of the behavioural process assumed by the RRM model). In other words, if a decision-maker is comparing product A with product B, and A costs 1€ more, the regret he/she anticipates is higher than the rejoice he/she would have felt if product A was 1€ cheaper than B.

This regret-based framework implies what is defined as *semi-compensatory* choice behaviour (Chorus et al., 2008; Chorus, 2010). Referring to the compensatory and non-compensatory behaviours outlined in the utility theory (Section 2.1) and heuristics (Section 2.2), respectively, a semi-compensatory behaviour is something in between. It is based on the evaluation of all the attributes of a product, like what occurs in the compensatory choice strategy, but the attributes losses and gains may

not compensate each other, since the same difference in attribute levels between two alternatives gives regret and rejoice of different sizes.

Another feature of the RRM model is that it allows for capturing choice set composition effects such as the compromise effect. The compromise effect is a well-known phenomenon in marketing and refers to consumers' tendency to choose products that overall have an intermediate performance on all attributes, rather than a high performance on some and a low performance on others (Simonson, 1989).

#### Theory of Regret Regulation

The RRM model is based on the Theory of Regret Regulation by Zeelenberg and Pieters (2007). This theory provides a clear definition of regret – distinguishing it from akin emotions – specifies the conditions under which regret is felt, outlines the aspects of the choice that can be regretted, and displays the behavioural implications. Regret is a "negative, cognitively based emotion that we experience when realizing or imagining that our present situation would have been better, had we decided differently" (Zeelenberg, 1999).

Evidence from neuroscience and psychology suggests that *anticipated regret* has a direct and significant impact on future choices (Coricelli et al., 2005; Joong et al., 2013; Simonson, 1992). Thus, regret is not only a reaction to unexpected bad outcomes, but also a driver of people's choices, and it has been found to influence decision making in several fields (e.g. marketing, economics, health behaviour etc.).

From a psychological perspective, researchers have found that regret is the most frequent and intense negative emotion in people's life (Saffrey and Roese, 2006; Shimanoff, 1984). However, regret is not a basic emotion since it implies a complex reasoning around what could have been, and therefore it heavily relies on comparison processes (Zeelenberg and Pieters, 2007).

Zeelenberg and Pieters (2007) state ten propositions which are the foundation of the Theory of Regret Regulation. Table 2.1 displays the propositions.

The authors found that anticipated regret plays a bigger role especially when a decision is complex and/or important.

The next section discusses the empirical applications in the food domain of the theories presented so far.

Table 2.1. Theory of Regret Regulation's propositions (Zeelenberg and Pieters, 2007)

N	Propositions
1.	Regret is an aversive, cognitive emotion that people are motivated to regu- late in order to maximize outcomes in the short term and learn maximizing them in the long run.
2.	Regret is a comparison-based emotion of self-blame, experienced when people realize or imagine that their present situation would have been better had they decided differently in the past.
3.	Regret is distinct from related other specific emotions such as anger, dis- appointment, envy, guilt, sadness, and shame and from general negative affect on the basis of its appraisals, experiential content, and behavioural consequences.
4.	Individual differences in the tendency to experience regret are reliably related to the tendency to maximize and compare one's outcomes.
5.	Regret can be experienced about past ("retrospective regret") and future ("anticipated or prospective regret") decisions.
6.	Anticipated regret is experienced when decisions are difficult and important and when the decision maker expects to learn the outcomes of both the chosen and rejected options quickly.
7.	Regret can stem from decisions to act and from decisions not to act: the more justifiable the decision, the less regret.
8.	Regret can be experienced about decision process ("process regret") and decision outcomes ("outcome regret").
9.	Regret aversion is distinct from risk aversion, and they jointly and indepen- dently influence behavioural decisions.
10.	Regret regulation strategies are decision-, alternative-, or feeling-focused and implemented based on their accessibility and their instrumentality to the current overarching goal.

### 2.5 Theory into practice: applications in the food domain

People can use several strategies to make a choice. How people make choices has been discussed in previous sections.

Decision making strategies for choice prediction in the food literature has been traditionally seen as a process of weighting and adding aspects of a product, in a utilitarian perspective (Scheibehenne et al., 2007; Stafleu et al., 1991). Utility represents the subjective value attached to alternatives in choice models, which are traditionally based on random utility maximization. Thus, there are hundreds of applications of choice models in the food literature based on the RUM theory.

In the present section, studies that take into account the limitations of RUM theory in food choices are discussed.

#### Heuristics

Eating behaviour is often automatic and consumers might rely on low-effort processes when making everyday food choices (Cohen and Farley, 2008). Indeed, human beings have limited cognitive ability and usually rely on low-effort, fast and intuitive thoughts. In the literature, a dual-process model of thinking has been proposed, which distinguish between System 1's fast and intuitive thinking and System 2 thinking, which involves reasoned, slow and effortful decisions (Kahneman, 2003). Nonetheless, intuitive does not mean unconscious; the so-called heuristic judgement does not appear in the minds of people outside of awareness, but it still require basic consciousness and calculation (Dhar and Gorlin, 2013).

With regard to food decisions in particular, consumers might employ heuristics to reduce the effort put in the choice. This becomes especially true as the variety of food available in stores increases, augmenting the difficulty of trading-off between attributes and alternatives (Scheibehenne et al., 2007).

Heuristics that can be applied in food choices are mainly related to the lexicographic rule and attribute non-attendance. This means people base their choice on a small quantity of the whole information available and some attributes of the product are neglected in decision making. For instance, individuals following a strict weightreduction diet might base the choice of food products mainly on the caloric content of the food, ignoring other aspects (Roering et al., 1986). Attribute non-attendance can essentially be driven by two reason: a satisficing behaviour in which consumers ignore an attribute because it does not affect their utility, and a need for a simplified heuristic (Alemu et al., 2013).

Evidence of the use of a lexicographic decision strategy in food choice emerges from recent papers: Meenakshi et al. (2012) and Banerji et al. (2018) performed studies on maize and found that, for a subset of consumers, the price attribute was not taken into account in the choice, and the choice was uniquely based on the color or variety of maize. Moreover, they found interesting results in terms of demographic variables that affect the use of a lexicographic choice strategy: in the first study men were more prone to use a lexicographic rule as compared to women, in the second experiment participants who displayed lexicographic choices tended to be younger<sup>3</sup>. Berg and Preston (2017) in their study on local food had similar results: they found two distinct subgroups of consumers, one of which was made by individuals not interested in purchasing non-local food even at a zero price. In other words, their only requirement for food was to be local, and price was not considered in the choice. Therefore, the price seems to be irrelevant in some food choices. However, the irrelevance of the price attribute in food choices resulting from the above-mentioned studies might also derive from experimental settings, i.e. the differences in alternatives' price might be too small, leading to the perceived irrelevance for consumers. Also, respondents in Berg and Preston (2017) study may not have taken the price very seriously because this experiment was not incentivealigned.

From the studies cited in the discussion above, it appears that simplified noncompensatory decision rules are sometimes adopted in making food choices. Still, decision-makers could rely on different choice strategies depending on the decision task (Payne et al., 1993). Lexicographic heuristics are usually adopted when the retrieval of information on the available options is costly, or when there are time constraints (see Dieckmann and Dippold (2009) for details on empirical studies). In the opposite situation, when time and cost constraints do not subsist, a compensatory choice model gives more adequate choice predictions. Accordingly, the compensatory utility maximization is the most widely assumed strategy in food

<sup>3</sup> These results confirm the fact that demographic variables may affect food choices, which is discussed in Section 1.3.

choice studies, but researchers must be careful and adapt the assumed strategy case-by-case.

#### Loss aversion

Another practical challenge to the Utility theory is represented by the proven existence of reference prices and loss aversion behaviour in food choices. In 1991, Tversky and Kahneman developed a reference-dependent theory of consumer choice, based on prospect theory and loss aversion<sup>4</sup>. This reference-dependent theory immediately found some support, given by the empirical finding of a reference price, based on sales data of eggs (Putler, 1992). Just one year later, Hardie et al. (1993) formulated a reference-dependent choice model and applied it to orange juice's brand choice. They found evidence for the consumers evaluation of product attributes relative to a reference level, and for the asymmetric consumer response to deviations of actual prices from reference prices, coherently with prospect theory. In their experiment, they assume that brands can be evaluated in comparison to other brands, that act as reference points, taking the most recently purchased brand as the reference, i.e. the currently held alternative represents the status quo.

The status quo reference has a strong impact on consumer preferences, especially on food products. Considering standardized packaged food products, a typical process described in the consumer behaviour literature suggests that individuals try different products until a satisficing good is found, and then repeatedly purchase this alternative over time until an external shock occurs, e.g. the option is out of stock, the consumer sees an appealing advertising for a competitor product, a different product is on discount, etc. Then the process starts again (Adamowicz and Swait, 2013). Consumers buy repeatedly the same brand or product because they do not want to engage in cognitively difficult trade-off operations (Adamowicz and Swait, 2013), leading to the development of food habits. Furthermore, consumer food habits can be explained by loss aversion and the endowment effect. Taking into account the relatively strong value attached to products in one's possession compared to products not in his/her possession, it's clear that consumers may develop a strong preference for the product already in their endowment, being less prone to exchange it for a different option (Cramer and Antonides, 2011).

4 See Section 2.3

Despite the proven existence of a loss-aversion behaviour in food choices, the results across studies are quite mixed with respect to the significance and magnitude of this phenomenon (see Neumann and Böckenholt (2014) for a meta-analysis of loss aversion in product choice). The mixed evidences on loss aversion can be a result of not adequately accounting for consumer heterogeneity across people, measures, and choice situations (Bell and Lattin, 2000; Klapper et al., 2005). In their study, Klapper et al. (2005) found that on average loss aversion is rather small regarding beverage and chocolate. However, by accounting for heterogeneity among people they indeed found a subgroup of loss averse consumers; and those consumers were similar on a psychographic variable, namely *quality consciousness*, which strongly affects loss aversion. Moreover, Antonides and Cramer (2013) in their study show that some types of food choices are more susceptible to loss aversion than other types. They found a difference in the endowment effect for hedonic (affective) and utilitarian (instrumental) types of foods, which was stronger for the first category.

A further implication of a reference-dependent behaviour is the compromise effect. Carroll and Vallen (2014) documented the existence of the compromise effect (or: extremeness aversion) with reference to calories intake. In their experiment respondents tended to avoid the largest and smallest caloric items available, regardless of the absolute calorie counts. Moreover, Sharpe et al. (2008) found that, when extreme alternatives were added to the choice set, consumers shifted their preferences to smaller and larger options that had become compromise options. Preference for intermediate options has been found also for meat in between mainstream and organic production (de Jonge et al., 2015; Van Herpen et al., 2015).

#### Regret minimization

To the best of our knowledge, a choice model that assumes the minimization of anticipated regret as the decision rule for food choices has not been applied so far in the literature. Nevertheless, regret is often taken into account in decision-making, and empirical evidence supports the impact of anticipated regret on choice. For instance, anticipated regret is a significant predictor in the context of sexual and contraceptive behaviour (Richard et al., 1998) and has a direct influence on deciding to engage in physical exercise (Abraham and Sheeran, 2003). More akin to the food context, Joong et al. (2013) provided evidence that anticipated regret increases inten-

tions to select an eco-friendly restaurant.

Moreover, some studies document the emergence of regret in connection to food choices. In a recent study by Skelton and Allwood (2017), different kinds of food purchases were listed as choices that were frequently regretted. In particular, regret arouse from the impulsive choices of unhealthy foods such as takeaways and confectionery, which are rewarding in the short time, but produce undesirable effects in the long run. The main cause of regret related to groceries was that they spoil and had to be thrown away, while other reasons involved health concerns, e.g. consumers wished they had made a healthier choice, or a less fat/caloric choice for weight reduction.

Consistently with Zeelenberg and Pieters's Regret Regulation Theory (2007), and in particular with the claim that anticipated regret plays a bigger role when a decision is complex and/or important, in some circumstances food choices could indeed be based on the anticipation of regret. Several reasons may enhance the perceived relevance of a choice. In particular, the relevance of food choices can be connected to the implications for health (including body weight and food safety), to financial consequences, and to social norms (e.g., peer pressure, fashion, animal welfare, environmental effects, etc.).

## Chapter 3

## **Discrete Choice Models**

In consumer behaviour research, Discrete Choice Models (DCMs) describe consumers' choices among a set of products (Train, 2009). DCMs are mathematical models that link the choice to the alternatives the individual faces when making the choice, i.e. the choice set. In a discrete choice framework, the choice set exhibits three characteristics: it is finite, exclusive and exhaustive (Train, 2009). This means that the choice set contains a finite and small number of alternatives, but at the same time it includes all possible alternatives under investigation, and these alternatives are different from one another.

Discrete Choice Experiments (DCEs) are methodologies for data collection in a discrete choice framework, the collected data are analyzed by means of DCMs. In the stated form, DCEs are made of multiple choice tasks that are presented to a respondent, which is asked to express his/her preferred alternative in the choice set. Alternatives are built as a combination of different attribute-levels. Since researchers are usually interested in analyzing several attributes and levels in a single choice experiment, the number of possible combinations to analyze sometimes gives rise to huge amounts of alternatives. To reduce the amount of possible choice sets, they are formed based on experimental designs. The experimental design allows the researcher to obtain valid and strong results by means of specific combinations of attribute levels for the alternatives in the choice set, ensuring the minimum estimation error.

The next sections display the mathematical formulations of utility-maximizing and regret-minimizing behaviours in choice models, and present estimation methods of logit models. The last section provides an overview of DCEs in the food literature.

#### 3.1 Behavioural process specification: RUM and RRM

Consumers' choice is driven by factors related to the product, the self, and the environment, as discussed in Chapter 1. Some factors are observed and some are not known by the researcher. Thus, the chosen option among a finite number of alternatives can be explained by observed and unobserved factors through a certain function, which reflects the *behavioural process*.

Discrete choice models are usually derived under the assumption of utility maximizing behavioural process by the decision maker (Train, 2009).

The utility  $U_i$  derived from the alternative *i* is usually specified to be linear in parameters, and can be written as a weighted sum of the alternative's attributes *m*:

$$U_i = \sum_{m=1}^M \beta_m x_{mi} \tag{3.1}$$

Equation 3.1 displays the linear specification of utility, where  $x_{mi}$  is the value or level of the attribute *m* in the alternative *i* and  $\beta_m$  is the coefficient of the attribute *m* (called *taste parameter*), representing the importance of the attribute in contributing to total utility. This specification of linear preferences is also called *vector model*<sup>1</sup> (Green and Srinivasan, 1978).

Equation 3.1 models the *deterministic utility*, i.e. the systematic utility, and enters the function of the so-called Random Utility, together with a random factor.

In Random Utility Maximization (RUM) models, the random utility associated to the alternative i is a sum of a deterministic part and a random part and can be written as:

$$RU_i = U_i + \varepsilon_i \tag{3.2}$$

where  $U_i$  is the deterministic part of the equation displayed (3.1), and  $\varepsilon_i$  represent the random part. The random vector  $\varepsilon_i \forall i = 1, ..., I$  is assumed to be Independent and Identically Distributed (IID) extreme-value.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Other specifications of preferences have been proposed in the literature, e.g. the ideal-point model, which posits that the preference is related to the distance of the stimulus from an individual's ideal point (Green and Srinivasan, 1978).

Thus, the linear-in-parameter<sup>2</sup> RUM model is:

$$RU_i = U_i + \varepsilon_i = \sum_{m=1}^M \beta_m x_{mi} + \varepsilon_i$$
(3.3)

Under the assumption of utility maximization, the decision maker chooses the alternative *i* if  $RU_i > RU_j \forall j \neq i$ . In other words, the alternative *i* is chosen only if its associated utility is the greatest among all the utilities associated with alternatives in the choice set.

Although utility maximization is the most widely accepted framework in discrete choice modelling, alternative paradigms for decision making have been proposed, which allow for different decision rules (Hess, 2012). This study focuses on one alternative specification for the behavioural process, namely regret minimization. In 2008, Chorus first developed a regret-based model for travel choice. This model allows for the possibility that choices between travel alternatives are driven by the avoidance of negative emotions, rather than the maximization of payoffs (Chorus et al., 2008). This specification postulates that consumer choices are driven by pairwise comparisons on an attribute-by-attribute basis; the regret associated with a specific alternative derives from the comparison of that alternative with the best of the available alternatives. The attribute-level regret is calculated as:

$$R_{i \leftrightarrow j}^{m} = max\{0, [\beta_{m}(x_{jm} - x_{im})]\}$$
(3.4)

That is, at the attribute level *m* the regret is 0 when the considered alternative *i* outperforms alternative *j*. On the other hand, when the alternative *i* is outperformed by *j*, regret equals the product of the importance of the attribute,  $\beta_m$ , and the difference in attribute-values,  $x_{jm} - x_{im}$ .

Although being highly intuitive, this formulation is discontinuous around zero, therefore the partial derivatives of the function with respect to xs and  $\beta s$  cannot be computed in that area. This causes non-trivial theoretical and practical difficulties in the estimation of the model (Chorus, 2012a). These problems have been solved

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This is only one of the possible specifications for the taste parameters. In some contexts, it could be useful to allow parameters to enter the utility function as exponential factors or in the logarithmic form, based on specific restrictions imposed by the choice setting (e.g. parameters are interpretable only if they are at the exponential). See examples provided by Train in his book, page 62-63 (Train, 2009).

by means of the adoption of a smooth function, which was introduced by Chorus (2010) in his Random Regret Minimization (RRM) model, which is considered in the present study.

The new RRM model takes into account the regret for a specific alternative as an aggregation of the regret emerging from the comparisons with all available alternatives, rather than only with the best. Consumer choices are driven by pairwise comparisons between all available alternatives, on an attribute-by-attribute basis. If one or more of the competing alternatives performs better (on one or more attributes) than the considered alternative, a certain level of regret is anticipated when choosing that alternative. Moreover, Chorus (2010) specification postulates that any anticipated regret – that is due to a loss, i.e. a lower performance on one attribute of the considered alternative with respect to the competing alternatives – has a bigger influence on choice probabilities than the anticipated rejoice – that would come from an equal gain, i.e. the same difference in performance in the opposite direction (the considered option being the one that performs better). In other words, there is an asymmetry in the sense that losses loom larger than gains. At the attribute level *m*, the anticipated regret or rejoice that emerges by comparing the alternative *i* with the alternative *j*, called pairwise regret, is formulated as follows:

$$R_{i\leftrightarrow j}^m = \ln(1 + \exp[\beta_m(x_{jm} - x_{im})])$$
(3.5)

The size of the taste parameter  $\beta_m$  represents the maximum increase (or decrease) in regret resulting from a unitary increase in the attribute (Chorus, 2012a), and measures the relative importance of an attribute.

However, differently from what occurs in the RUM model, in the RRM model the value of  $\beta_m$  also reflects the relative importance of regret respectively to rejoice for the attribute *m*, since it can modify the shape of the attribute level regret function. In other words,  $\beta_m$  is a measure of the *profundity of regret* for the attribute *m* (van Cranenburgh et al., 2015).

More specifically, the non-linear specification of the attribute level regret in (3.5) accommodates for different degrees of asymmetry between regret and rejoice, depending on  $\beta_m$ . The larger the taste parameter, the stronger the difference between the regret generated by a loss and the rejoice generated by an equivalent gain.



Figure 3.1. Attribute level regret function

Whereas, a relatively small taste parameter implies that regret and rejoice generated respectively by a loss and an equivalent gain are about the same size. Therefore, the extent to which the RRM model imposes a regret minimizing behaviour is likely to vary across attributes, depending on the estimated  $\beta$ .

Figure 3.1 displays an example of the attribute level regret function with different values of positive  $\beta^3$ . The graph shows that as  $\beta$  increases the difference between the impacts of loss and gain widens. In other words, more important attributes lead to higher anticipated regret, the difference in performance of the attributes held constant. The dashed line represents the situation of null regret, and thus the case in which  $x_{jm} = x_{im}$ , which occurs at  $y = \ln(2)$ .

Starting from the formulation of the attribute-level regret function displayed in Equation 3.5, Chorus developed the RRM choice model (Chorus, 2010):

$$RR_i = R_i + \varepsilon_i = \sum_{j \neq i} \sum_m ln(1 + \exp[\beta_m(x_{jm} - x_{im})]) + \varepsilon_i$$
(3.6)

Here, like in the utility-based approach,  $RR_i$  is composed of a deterministic, systematic part and a random part (hence it is called random regret). In any particular choice situation, consumers are supposed to select the alternative associated with

3 In case of negative values for  $\beta$ , a specular graph with respect to x = 0 is obtained.

the lowest total anticipated random regret; i.e. the decision maker chooses the alternative *i* if  $RR_i < RR_j \forall j \neq i$ .

Equation 3.6 models the deterministic regret (rejoice) for an alternative *i* as a summation of different amounts of regret (rejoice) invoked by comparisons to other available alternatives  $j \neq i$  in terms of their values on each attribute *m*. Assuming that lower values on attribute *m* are less attractive (i.e.  $\beta_m > 0$ ), a lower value of alternative *i* relative to another available alternative *j* on attribute *m* generates anticipated regret, and a higher level generates anticipated rejoice.

The asymmetry in the impact of losses and gains differentiates the RRM model from the linear-in-parameter RUM model in (3.3), which assumes that contributions of losses and gains to utility are symmetric. Furthermore, the random utility in Equation 3.3 does not depend on the other available alternatives.

#### 3.2 Estimation methods

#### 3.2.1 Multinomial Logit model

In discrete choice modelling, the most widely used type of model to transform random utility (and random regret) into choice probabilities is logit (Train, 2009). The original logit formulation has been derived by Luce (1959), who first hypothesized the property of Independence from Irrelevant Alternatives (IIA), of critical importance for the derivation of the model.

According to the IIA property, the choice probabilities ratio of any two alternatives in a choice set is assumed to be independent from the presence or absence of other alternatives in the choice set. This means that the inclusion of an additional alternative decreases the choice probabilities of all other alternatives by an equal proportion. By assuming this property and extreme value distribution for the errors, McFadden (1973) obtained the logit formulation for choice probabilities<sup>4</sup>:

$$P_i = \frac{e^{U_i}}{\sum_j e^{U_j}} \tag{3.7}$$

<sup>4</sup> see Train, pag 41 (2009) and the Prize lecture of McFadden (2000) for more details about the derivation of logit model in the RUM context

If the choice set comprises only two alternatives (J = 2), the model is called Logit model. On the other hand, if there are more than two alternatives in the choice set (J > 2), then the denominator becomes the sum of more than two terms and the model is called Multinomial Logit (MNL) model<sup>5</sup>.

A summary of the steps followed in obtaining the logit formula is displayed below.

As explained in the Section 3.1, both the random utility and the random regret formulations are composed of a deterministic and a random part. The latter accounts for all the unobserved factors that contribute to the choice. The random term distribution is specified based on the researcher assumptions regarding the specific choice situation.

Assuming that the random vector  $\varepsilon_i \forall i = 1, ..., I$  is Independent and Identically Distributed (IID) extreme-value, the density for each unobserved component is:

$$f(\varepsilon_i) = e^{-\varepsilon_i} e^{-e^{-\varepsilon_i}}$$

and the cumulative distribution is:

$$F(\varepsilon_i) = e^{-e^{-\varepsilon_i}}$$

The difference between two IID extreme-value variables follows a logistic distribution. Therefore, taking  $\varepsilon_{ij}^* = \varepsilon_i - \varepsilon_j$  it holds:

$$F(\varepsilon_{ij}^*) = \frac{e^{-\varepsilon_{ij}^*}}{1 + e^{-\varepsilon_{ij}^*}}$$

The choice probability  $P_i$  for the alternative *i*, in an utility maximization context,  $\forall j \neq i$  is:

$$P_i = Prob(RU_i > RU_j)$$

And can be written as:

$$P_{i} = Prob(U_{i} + \varepsilon_{i} > U_{j} + \varepsilon_{j})$$
$$P_{i} = Prob(\varepsilon_{j} < U_{i} + \varepsilon_{i} - U_{j})$$

<sup>5</sup> Sometimes also called Conditional Logit model, since it is conditioned to the available set of alternatives (McFadden, 2000).

 $\varepsilon_i$  has cumulative distribution:

$$F(\varepsilon_i) = e^{-e^{-\varepsilon_i + U_i - U_j}}$$

Since  $\varepsilon_i$ s are independent of each others, the cumulative distribution over all  $j \neq i$  is the product of all the individual cumulative distributions, given  $\varepsilon_i$ :

$$P_i|\varepsilon_i = \prod_{j\neq i} e^{-e^{-\varepsilon_i + U_i - U_j}}$$

But  $\varepsilon_i$  is not given, therefore the choice probability is calculated through the integral over all possible value of  $\varepsilon_i$ , weighted by its density.

After algebraic treatments, the logit choice probability is obtained:

$$P_i = \frac{e^{U_i}}{\sum_j e^{U_j}} \tag{3.8}$$

The same logit formulation of choice probability can be applied in a regret minimizing framework:

$$P_{i} = \frac{e^{(-R_{i})}}{\sum_{j} e^{(-R_{j})}}$$
(3.9)

The logit specification of choice probabilities has several favourable properties:

. 
$$0 < P_i < 1$$
  
.  $\sum_{i=1}^{J} P_i = 1$ 

. The relation between utility and logit probability is S-shaped.

The properties that are required for a probability are respected: the range of  $P_i$  is between zero and one, and the choice probabilities for the available alternatives sum to one. Moreover, when the utility increase,  $P_i$  approaches one with an S-shaped probability function (Figure 3.2): this means that the change in choice probability is not linear and depends on the level of utility. In other words, if the deterministic utility of an alternative is quite high (low), a small change in utility will not affect the probability of being chosen, which approaches one (zero). On the contrary, when the choice probability is around 0.5 the same change in utility will change the probability to a higher extent, since the curve is steeper around this level.



The logit probability in (3.7) can be written explicitly, assuming a linear specification for the parameters entering the utility function, as in (3.3):

$$P_i = \frac{e^{\beta x_i}}{\sum_j e^{\beta x_j}} \tag{3.10}$$

with  $\beta$  being the vector of parameters, and  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  the vectors of observed attribute levels for the alternatives. Likewise, the logit model for the regret function can be written explicitly as:

$$P_{i} = \frac{\exp(-\sum_{k \neq i} \sum_{m} ln(1 + \exp[\beta_{m}(x_{km} - x_{im})]))}{\sum_{j} \exp(-\sum_{k \neq j} \sum_{m} ln(1 + \exp[\beta_{m}(x_{km} - x_{jm})]))}$$
(3.11)

with  $\beta_m$  being the parameters for the *m* attributes, and  $x_i$ ,  $x_k$  and  $x_j$  the vectors of observed attribute levels for the alternatives.

Concerning the estimation procedure, both RUM-based<sup>6</sup> and RRM-based MNL models can be estimated by means of Maximum Likelihood procedure. This is an iterative optimization process that estimates the parameters that maximize the likelihood of the data given the choice model.

After estimating a model, the fit of such model to the data can be evaluated using

6 From here on for simplicity the linear-in-parameter specification of the RUM is called RUM.

different measures. In particular, the (log)likelihood value is generally used as a measure of the goodness of fit of the model through the so-called *likelihood ratio index*. This index compares the performance of the estimated parameters with a model in which all the parameters are fixed at zero (which represents the worst case, i.e. having no model at all) (Train, 2009). The likelihood ratio index is defined as:

$$\rho^2 = 1 - \frac{\ln \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})}{\ln \mathcal{L}(\beta_0)}$$

where  $\ln \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})$  is the value of the log likelihood function at the estimated parameters and  $\ln \mathcal{L}(\beta_0)$  is the log likelihood function of a model with all the parameters set equal to zero. The index  $\rho^2$  varies between 0 and 1: in the worst case  $\rho^2$  equals zero and it means that the estimated parameters have the same fit of zero parameters (i.e. the estimated model is no better than no model); in the best case, the estimated parameters fit perfectly to the data and thus the likelihood function is one, and the log likelihood function is zero, which means  $\rho^2$  equals one.

The likelihood ratio index has no interpretable meaning (Train, 2009, pag. 79). In comparing two models estimated on the same data one can only say it is preferable to have higher values for  $\rho^2$ , since it means that the parameters fits the data better. Nested models can be tested against one another using the *likelihood ratio test*. The likelihood ratio test compares the performance of two models according to a null hypothesis on the estimated parameters; the typical null hypothesis assumes some parameters to be equal to zero, i.e. one model can be seen as a reduced form of the other. The Likelihood Ratio is defined as  $LR = \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}_H)/\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})$  where  $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}_H)$  is the maximum value of the likelihood function under the null hypothesis and  $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})$  is the unconstrained maximum of the likelihood function.

The likelihood ratio test statistic is defined as -2ln(LR) or  $-2[\ln \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}_H) - \ln \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})]$ . The statistic is distributed chi-squared with degrees of freedom equal to the number of restrictions implied by the null hypothesis.

However, two models estimated using different specifications – and thus non-nested – cannot be compared via likelihood ratio test. For the comparison in fit of nonnested logit models, a different test can be used, namely the Ben-Akiva and Swait (BAS) test (Ben-Akiva and Swait, 1986). The BAS test considers the null hypothesis that the model with the lower likelihood is the "true" one. A significant difference in fit between the model with the higher likelihood and the model with the lower likelihood leads to the rejection of this null hypothesis. In other words, the test generates an upper limit for the probability that the model with the lower (log-)likelihood actually provides the best representation of the data-generating

process. This upper bound can therefore be considered as a "conservative proxy" for the significance (i.e. p-value) of a difference in model fit between two non-nested models.

The BAS test is based on the likelihood ratio index, corrected for the number of parameters, *K*:

$$\overline{\rho}^2 = 1 - \frac{\ln \mathcal{L}(\beta) - K}{\ln \mathcal{L}(\beta_0)}$$

The BAS test specifies an upper limit for the probability. Consider f and g as two non-nested models, with  $K_f$  and  $K_g$  parameters, respectively. Then, it holds:

$$Pr[\overline{\rho}_{A}^{2}(g) - \overline{\rho}_{A}^{2}(f) \ge z] \le \phi[-(-2z\ln\mathcal{L}(\beta_{0}) + (K_{g} - K_{f}))^{\frac{1}{2}}]$$
(3.12)

If z is taken equal to the difference between the two likelihood ratio indexes, then the value on the right hand side represents the asymptotic upper bound for the probability of rejecting the null hypothesis, i.e. the p-value for the null hypotesis that the model with the lower fitness measure is the true one. If the null hypothesis is rejected, the model with the higher fitness measure is the true one at a certain level of confidence.

For testing hypotheses about single parameters in discrete choice models, standard t-statistics can be used. For hypotheses involving more than one parameter simultaneously, a likelihood ratio test can be used. The likelihood function value is also used for the calculation of the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) and the Bayesian Information Criterion (BIC). These indexes provide a measure of the relative quality of models estimated on the same data: they estimate the amount of information lost by a given model, introducing a penalty term to correct for the number of parameters in the model; the penalty term is larger in BIC than in AIC. The indexes are calculated as follows:

$$AIC = 2K - 2 \ln \mathcal{L}(\beta)$$
$$BIC = \ln(n)K - 2 \ln \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})$$

where *K* is the number of parameters, *n* is the number of observations and  $\ln \mathcal{L}(\beta)$  is the log likelihood of the estimated model.

#### Including systematic taste variation

People have different tastes. In choice processes, the value that people place on different aspects or attributes (captured by the  $\beta$ s) of the alternatives may differ. Different tastes can be related to socio-demographic factors like gender, age and income, and to psychological variables and lifestyles. Variations that are related to, and can be explained by these factors are called *systematic taste variations*.

The MNL model can be extended in order to account for systematic taste variations, both in the RUM and in the RRM specifications. These variations are included in the formula as interaction terms (Train, 2009). For example, consider the case in which researchers want to see if males and females place different importance to the price for a given product. The coefficient for price can be expressed as a combination of a generic coefficient plus an interaction term, such as:

$$\beta_{price*} = \beta_{price} + \beta_{int} D_{female}$$
(3.13)

where  $D_{female}$  is a dummy variable equal to one when the respondent is female and zero otherwise. If  $\beta_{int}$  is significant, it means that males and females attach different value to the price. In particular, the average utility of price for males equals  $\beta_{price} * price$  and for females is  $(\beta_{price} + \beta_{int}) * price$ .

The same result can be reached segmenting the population and estimating models on subsamples, e.g. estimating the model on females and on males separately and testing whether the estimated  $\beta$ s are significantly different.

Other types of systematic taste variation can be included in the same way – via the addition of interaction terms in the model specification – for continuous variables (such as age, income, etc.). In this case, the dummy variable in (3.13) is replaced by the specific value (e.g. the age), and the  $\beta_{int}$  represents the additional utility attached to the price provided by being one year older. At the same time, cutoff values may be used to group similar people, e.g. age classes, and the associated dummy included in the model.

However, it is unlikely to be able to describe the heterogeneity in population entirely via interaction terms, and more sophisticated models exist to model taste variations

that cannot directly be ascribed to observed characteristics.

#### 3.2.2 Mixed Logit model

People's choices can differ based on common traits like age or gender; when tastes vary systematically in the population in relation to observed variables, the variation can be incorporated into MNL models through interaction terms (see Section 3.2.1) (Train, 2009). However, sometimes the value attached to attributes can be different based on unobserved or unobservable characteristics of people or choice situations, i.e. there is *random taste variation*.

Random taste variation cannot be captured by MNL models. This is because in MNL models  $\beta$  coefficients are fixed among people, representing the average taste. This average values tell nothing about how much the coefficients vary among people, and the same value of  $\beta$  can come from very different distributions. Information on the distribution of tastes can be important in many situations, for instance when a researcher is interested to uncover the tastes of a minority of people, e.g. a niche market for a new product. To incorporate random taste variation in discrete choice models, a Mixed Multinomial Logit model can be used (Train, 2009).

The Mixed Multinomial Logit (MMNL) model, also called Random Parameter Logit (RPL) model, is a flexible logit model which allows for random taste variation. In mixed logit models,  $\beta$ s vary across decision makers, with a pre-specified density  $f(\beta)$ . Therefore, the mixed logit probability is obtained as the integral of the logit probability in Equation 3.10 for RUM models and Equation 3.11 for RRM models, over a density of parameters. Considering the RUM model<sup>7</sup>, the choice probability for the alternative *i* by the decision-maker *n* is:

$$P_{ni} = \int \frac{e^{\beta_n x_{ni}}}{\sum_j e^{\beta_n x_{nj}}} f(\beta) \, d\beta \tag{3.14}$$

where  $\beta_n$  is an *M*-dimensioned vector of estimated coefficients, specific for the individual  $n, \forall n = 1, ..., N$ .

Equation 3.14 represents a weighted average of the logit equation evaluated at different values of  $\beta$ , with weights given by  $f(\beta)$  – the latter is called *mixing distribution* 

<sup>7</sup> The same formulation of choice probabilities can be obtained for the RRM model, using the specification in (3.11).

#### (Train, 2009).

The mixing distribution can be discrete or continuous<sup>8</sup>, MMNL models are also called continuous mixture models and assume continuous parametric densities for the  $\beta_n$ ; whereas discrete random taste variation is implied by finite mixture models or the Latent class model (presented in Section 3.2.3).

In MMNL models,  $\beta$ s are given a distribution  $f(\beta)$ , which is defined by a group of parameters, typically its mean *b* and covariance *W*. Accordingly, two sets of parameters enter the formulation of mixed logit models, the taste parameters  $\beta_n$  for each individual and the parameters describing  $f(\beta)$ . Normal, lognormal, triangular, gamma mixing distributions for the parameters  $\beta$  are among the most used. The researcher chooses the distribution that most adequately describes the real distribution among population. Hence, the choice of the mixing distribution must follow assumptions based on previous evidence or hypothesis, and in any case it will be an approximation of the actual randomness in population.

MMNL can be used without a random tastes interpretation (i.e. with  $\beta$ s that vary across respondents), but representing error components that create correlations among the utilities for different alternatives (i.e. with  $\beta$ s that vary across alternatives) (see Train, 2009, pag. 158). By allowing the taste parameter to vary across choice sets, the MMNL model relaxes the IIA property<sup>9</sup>. This contribute to the added flexibility of this model if compared to the MNL model.

#### 3.2.3 Latent class model

The Mixed Logit model described in Section 3.2.2 is specified with continuous mixing distributions for the  $\beta$ s, following the hypothesis that each respondent can have different taste parameters. Nonetheless, discrete mixing distributions can be specified, where  $\beta$ s can take a finite set of values. In the latter case, the underlying hypothesis is that homogeneous-in-tastes segments exist within the population. However, one must always remember that market segments represent sub-groups "artificially" created by researchers and exploited by companies as targets for their

<sup>8</sup> The standard logit formulation is a special case with  $f(\beta) = 1$  for  $\beta = b$  and  $f(\beta) = 0$  for  $\beta \neq b$ 

<sup>9</sup> Other logit formulations exist that accommodate for the violation of the IIA hypothesis in a RUM framework; for instance the Nested logit model, which captures the correlation between alternatives and group similar alternatives into a nest. In this case the IIA holds whithin each nest, but it does not hold for alternatives in different nests (Train, 2009).

strategies (Wedel and Kamakura, 2000, 2002). Segmentation has a practical relevance as it allows to meet specific consumer needs, increasing profit for the firm. Thus, models that approximate market heterogeneity are appealing by many actors in the marketing field, despite the fact that segments are not real entities in the market (Wedel and Kamakura, 2000, 2002).

In the so-called Latent Class (LC) model, discrete distributions are used to define the underlying latent structure of preference (Hensher et al., 2015). The discrete mixing distribution upon which the LC model is built can be seen as an approximation of the underlying continuous distribution specified in the MMNL model, which in turn is an approximation of the real heterogeneity among individuals.

In estimating the LC model, the distribution of the coefficients in the population does not have to meet any specific assumption (Hensher et al., 2015); only the number of classes has to be pre-specified. The researcher does not know a priori which respondent belong to a class, i.e. classes are *latent*, and a probability of class membership is estimated instead.

In LC models, the  $\beta$ s assume different values, one for each class or segment. If Q classes (i.e. groups of individuals) are specified,  $\beta$  can take Q distinct values  $\beta_1, \beta_2 \dots \beta_Q$ . In the standard version of the LC model parameters are fixed whithin classes but vary between classes<sup>10</sup>. The specification of the LC model within each class follows the MNL logit probability for the individual choice. The probability for the individual n of choosing the alternative i among J available alternatives given the membership to a class q resembles the MNL probability in Equation 3.10:

$$P_{ni|q} = \frac{e^{\beta_q x_{ni}}}{\sum_j e^{\beta_q x_{nj}}}$$
(3.15)

However, *q* is unknown. The (3.15) can be re-written as the sum of the probabilities that the decision maker *n* belongs to class *q*, called *prior probabilities*, multiplied by the probabilities that *i* is chosen given the class *q*:

$$P_{ni} = \sum_{q=1}^{Q} H_{nq} P_{ni|q}$$
(3.16)

<sup>10</sup> It is also possible to specify random parameters instead of fixed parameters within each class through more advanced LC models.

The prior probability  $H_{nq}$  is unknown and is typically obtained through a class membership model, specified as a logit model, which is a function of the explanatory variables  $z_n$  (e.g. socio-demographic characteristics), where  $\theta_q$  denotes a vector of class-membership parameters that need to be estimated:

$$H_{nq} = \frac{e^{z'_n \theta_q}}{\sum_q e^{z'_n \theta_q}} \tag{3.17}$$

It is not strictly necessary to include covariates into the class membership model, it is also possible to have constant prior probabilities, which sum to one, where  $z_n$  is a vector full of constant terms 1.

Estimates of the parameters of the model,  $\beta_q$ , and the parameters of the submodel,  $\theta_q$ , are obtained via maximum likelihood. Once estimates of the parameters are obtained, the *posterior probability* that consumer *n* belongs to latent class *q* can be calculated as:

$$\hat{H}_{q|in} = \frac{H_{nq} P_{ni|q}}{\sum_{q=1}^{Q} \hat{H}_{nq} \hat{P}_{ni|q}}$$
(3.18)

Hence, the latent classes are conceived as groups of people with similar tastes. But this is not the only possible interpretation. In fact, the heterogeneity among people can be related not only to different importance attached to attributes, but also to actual differences in the choice process by individual respondents (Hess et al., 2012). To account for different behavioural processes as latent classes, classes can be defined that correspond to different decision rules. Here, each class might refer to a probabilistic decision rule (e.g. regret minimization or utility maximization), or even a deterministic one. For instance, coefficients could be fixed to zero in a random-responder class.

In the present study, a discrete choice experiment has been carried out on a food choice, with particular interest put on the underlying behavioural process. Several models have been estimated and compared in their RUM and RRM formulations, including multinomial logit, mixed logit and latent class models.

The next section presents an overview of applications of DCEs carried out in the food literature, and the main topics covered.

# 3.3 An overview of Discrete Choice Experiments in the food literature

DCEs are extensively used in the food choice literature. More than four hundred DCE applications on food choice can be found in peer-reviewed journals. More specifically, searching for the keywords "choice experiment" and "consumer" and "food", 428 scientific articles can be found. Figure 3.3 displays the categories in which choice experiments are applied: Economics, Food Science Technology and Agricultural and Economics Policy are the main primary fields of applications of DCEs in the food consumption domain.



Figure 3.3. Scientific categories of DCE applications in food.

It is interesting also to look at the distribution per year-of-publication of articles using DCEs on food consumers (Figure 3.4). The interest in this type of methodology for studying consumer food choice has grown constantly in the past fifteen years, with more than sixty publications published per year since 2016.

DCEs allow to analyze the trade-offs consumers make between attributes of a product, resulting in the estimation of the value attached to each attribute. Moreover, through DCEs is possible to estimate the willingness to pay for an attribute, even for attributes that are not yet implemented such as new labels or certifications. Existing studies mainly focus on the value attached to:

 Nutritional composition (e.g., Koistinen et al., 2013; Jurado and Gracia, 2017; Balcombe et al., 2010; Barreiro-Hurle et al., 2010)



Figure 3.4. Publication year distribution of DCE applications in food.

- Organic production (e.g., Kim et al., 2018; Janssen and Hamm, 2012; Hasselbach and Roosen, 2015)
- Local production (e.g., Gracia et al., 2014; Hempel and Hamm, 2016; Holmes and Yan, 2012; Mugera et al., 2017)
- Sustainability (e.g., Emberger-Klein and Menrad, 2018; Grebitus et al., 2015; Aizaki et al., 2013; Sporleder et al., 2014; Grebitus et al., 2016)
- *Genetic-modification technology* (e.g., Yue et al., 2015; Edenbrandt et al., 2018; Ison and Kontoleon, 2014)
- Food safety (e.g., Marra et al., 2017; Raun Mørkbak et al., 2010; Owusu-Sekyere et al., 2014; Grunert et al., 2018)
- *Traceability* (e.g., Yin et al., 2017; Wu et al., 2017; Kehagia et al., 2017; Ubilava and Foster, 2009)
- *Country of origin* (e.g., Balcombe et al., 2016; Pouta et al., 2010; Bienenfeld et al., 2016)
- *Fortified/enriched food* (e.g., Pambo et al., 2017; Chowdhury et al., 2011; Moro et al., 2015; Baba et al., 2016)

These are usually evaluated in combination with one another. In each experiment, the evaluation of these aspect is specific for one food product. In the literature

on DCEs, products more used in the experiments are: meat products, fruit (apple, bananas), yogurt, snacks, milk, bread, seafood, tomatoes, olive oil, and cheese.

All the published studies adopt DCMs based on the Utility theory. However, some studies deviate from the traditional framework of maximization of utility to explore more simple heuristics. For instance, Aizaki et al. (2012) used a discrete choice model developed by Swait (2001) to accommodate for a non-compensatory valuation, with regard to food safety attributes in beef products. Also, Caputo et al. (2018b) explored attribute non-attendance (i.e. respondents ignoring one or more attributes when deciding across DCE attributes) in a DCE on poultry meat with sustainability labels. The same author explored price reference-dependence in DCEs, finding that reference-dependent models are better in describing the choice data, and that the price evaluation is consistent with Prospect theory (Caputo et al., 2018a).

Discrete choice experimentation is evolving, especially concerning DCE's hypothetical nature. Some applications in the literature use the so-called real or nonhypothetical choice experiment to analyze the choice of food, which aims to reduce the hypothetical bias that derives from choosing in a non-real setting. Real choice experiments introduce an economic incentive for the participation of respondents, which they have to spend buying the alternative they choose, at the price indicated in the choice task<sup>11</sup> (see Gracia et al., 2014; Olesen et al., 2010; Wu et al., 2015).

Furthermore, DCEs are starting to be used in combination with other methodologies, in particular eye-tracking and scanner data. By registering participants' eye path is possible to re-construct the flow of choice process, detecting which information has been taken into account, and how thoroughly (see Balcombe et al., 2017; Bialkova et al., 2014). The joint use of DCE and scanner data allows to determine consumer preferences for specific attributes of a product, as well as to determine whether stated choices are consistent with revealed choices given by scanner data (Brooks and Lusk, 2010).

The aim of this section was to breafly present and describe how DCEs are applied in the literature on consumer food choice, providing some references that stand out for methodological advancements. Indeed, the great number of applications of DCEs that can be found in the literature make it rather complicated to provide a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> In other words, one of the choice tasks in the experiment is binding, and participants are required to actually buy the product they choose, paying the corresponding price for the product in this scenario.

detailed overview of all the studies, which, in any case, is out of the scope of the present study.

The next chapter provides an overview of the performances of the RUM and RRM formulations for discrete choice models, taking into account comparisons carried out in the literature so far.

## Chapter 4

## RRM and RUM models comparisons: a review of empirical results

Since its conception in 2010, the performance of the RRM model has been mainly tested in the transportation field, most frequently with route choices for car drivers, car type choice and travel mode choice. Studies compare the performance of the RRM model with its RUM-based counterpart. The overview of empirical comparisons between the RRM and RUM based logit models by Chorus et al. (2014) provides a summary of results based on goodness of fit and prediction of the two models. No clear evidence on the superiority of either one of them emerges, as performances seem to be linked to the choice context and statistically significant differences (if any) are always rather small.

In their overview, Chorus et al. summarize which model has the best fit and gives the best prediction in the considered studies; they classify the studies based on the choice context and provide information about which type of model is estimated (whether MNL or Mixed MNL) and whether the data collection is based on revealed or stated choices. However, nothing is said about the experimental setting of the experiments, which is likely to affect the validity of results. More importantly, the overview does not provide the models'  $\rho$ -squared values nor predictions' hit rates, it only reports which model is superior, if any. Therefore, the reader is not able to fully understand the magnitude of the reported results.

Based on these premises, a review of previous comparisons between RRM and RUM logit models has been carried out in order to critically evaluate existing experiments.

The tables included in this section contain information for the retrieved studies<sup>1</sup> and reports the  $\rho$ -squared values<sup>2</sup> for the estimated models. In the following tables, each row refers to an empirical comparison of RRM and RUM models, whereas the columns include several charachteristics of the studies. ID refers to the ID used in Chorus et al. (2014) paper and Paper ref. is the reference of the paper in which the study is reported. Then, information about the settings of the DCEs is outlined: SS is the Sample Size in the DCE; Exp. Design is the experimental design used to build the DCE; CT indicate the number of Choice Tasks that each respondent faced; N alt represents the number of alternatives shown in each choice set; No choice option displays the type of questions in the DCE, whether respondents were forced to make a choice in each choice task or they were given possibility to not choose; Attributes; Levels displays the number of attributes and levels used in the DCE and Attributes provide a description of the attributes. Lastly, information about which models have been estimated, the Number of parameters and the p-squared values of RUM and RRM models are displayed, together with additional information on specific issues examined in the reviewed studies.

Concerning the choice contexts in which the RRM model has been applied, a vast number of studies are found in contexts of route choice for car drivers, travel mode choice and car type choice. With reference to the analysis of route choice for car drivers, ten experiments have been carried out in the literature. Comparisons' results are reported in Table 4.1. In these studies, the choice of the best route is mainly based on attributes concerning time and money spent (i.e. total travel time, travel time spent in traffic jams, travel-time variability, running costs, and toll costs); either four or five attributes are used in the experiments, which are mainly treated as continuous. Eight out of ten studies are based on forced choices with status quo option; these DCEs required individuals to make sixteen repeated choices, which could result in biased results due to fatigue of respondents. However, studies on respondents' fatigue in choice experiments have given conflicting results, either finding decreasing attention after six, nine or ten choice tasks (Caussade et al., 2005; Raffaelli et al., 2009; Hu et al., 2006). All the experiments estimate a MNL-model.

<sup>1</sup> Only studies based on stated preferences have been considered (40 studies). Plus, five new studies published after Chorus et al. (2014) have been taken into account.

<sup>2</sup> Only the  $\rho$ -squared values concerning the fit of the models have been reported, no information about the prediction is provided since the scarce evidence existing (in Chorus et al.'s table, only seven out of fortythree studies reported a measure of prediction ability).

Q	Paper ref.	SS	Exp. Design	ե	N alt	No choice option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	Model estimated	Number of parameters	p-square	Additional info
σ	Chorus (2012a)	Two samples of 167 and 196 respondents	Optimal orthogonal in the differences	و	m	Forced choice	4; 3 levels each (all treated as continuous)	average door-to-door travel time, percentage of travel time spent in traffic jams, traffic fatalities per year on that route, total costs	MNL-model	4	(a) RRM 0.34; RUM 0.34. (b) RRM 0.34; RUM 0.34	For each choice set asked the desirability-rate (a); for each choice set asked the satisfaction-rate (b). RUM and RRM estimated separately on the two sub-groups (a, b)
13	(Chorus et al., 2013b)	300	вп	16	m	Forced choice with status quo option	5 (all treated as continuous)	free-flow travel time, slowed- down travel time, travel-time variability, running costs, toll costs	MNL-model	5 + ASC =6	RRM 0.229; RUM 0.237	Hybrid model that allows for different attributes to be processed using different rules was estimated
14*	(Chorus and Bierlaire, 2013)	068	Optimal orthogonal ir the differences	م د	m	Forced choice	4; 3 levels each (all treated as continuous)	average door-to-door travel time, percentage of travel time spent in traffic jams, traffic fatalities per year on that route, total costs	MNL-model	4	RRM 0.323; RUM 0.321	Compromise variable added in the RUM model
30-36 (Study 1)	(Leong and Hensher, 2015)	280	D-efficient	16	* * ~	Forced choice with status quo option	5; (levels na)	free flow time, slowed down time, stop/start/crawling time, running cost, toll cost	MNL-model	na	ла	Relative Advantage Maximisation (RAM) model was also estimated
30-36 (Study 2)	(Leong and Hensher, 2015)	вп	D-efficient	16	* *	Forced choice with status quo option	4; (levels na)	free flow time, congested time, running cost, toll cost	MNL-model	па	ца	Relative Advantage Maximisation (RAM) model was also estimated
30-36 (Study 3)	(Leong and Hensher, 2015)	вп	D-efficient	16	* *	Forced choice with status quo option	4; (levels na)	free flow time, slowed down time, stop/start/crawling time, running cost, toll cost	MNL-model	па	ца	Relative Advantage Maximisation (RAM) model was also estimated
30-36 (Study 4)	(Leong and Hensher, 2015)	вп	D-efficient	16	* *	Forced choice with status quo option	4; (levels na)	free flow time, slowed down time, stop/start/crawling time, running cost, toll cost	MNL-model	ра	ца	Relative Advantage Maximisation (RAM) model was also estimated
30-36 (Study 5- 7)	(Leong and Hensher, 2015)	57 in Study 5; na studies 6 and 7	D-efficient	16	** **	Forced choice with status quo option	4; (levels na)	free flow time, congested time, running cost, toll cost	MNL-model	na	па	Relative Advantage Maximisation (RAM) model was also estimated
* Same pa	nel used in Stu	udy 9 but differen	it respondents	s were se	lected.							

\*\* Alternatives in the choice set are made of a recent trip (info asked to the respondent), and unlabelled alternatives defined by attribute levels pivoted off of the recent trip profile.

Sample size ranges between 57 and 390, although in half of the studies the number of respondents is not explicitly indicated, which represents an important information gap. But an even greater gap is represented by the missing  $\rho$ -squared values in all the studies by Leong and Hensher (2015), which makes impossible for the reader to appropriately interprete the results. For the studies that provide the information about the  $\rho$ -squared values, the fit of the models lie between 0.24 and 0.34. Moreover, despite the statistically significant difference in fit indicated in Chorus et al. (2014), it is clear that RUM and RRM model have a quite similar goodness of fit to the data, their difference only showing in the third digit behind the decimal point. For what concerns applications on travel mode choice (Table 4.2), nine experiments have been found. The choice of the transport is usually linked to travel time, punctuality of the transport, travel costs, waiting time and seat availability. The number of attributes considered in each DCE varies between three and eight, this also gives rise to estimated models which differ in terms of the number of estimated parameters. Both MNL and Mixed logit models are estimated, the latter also with two different types of distribution for the errors (normal and triangular). The  $\rho$ -squared values of RRM and RUM models vary betweeen 0.144 and 0.539, the lower ones being associated with MNL models. Therefore, in this context the estimation of a Mixed logit model greatly increases the fit to the data, which means that there is random heterogeneity in the data that the MNL model cannot capture. Again, the difference in fit between RRM and RUM models barely reaches one percentage point, the RRM model having the best fit most of the times.

Note that the DCE from Boeri and Masiero (2014) was carried out on only 27 respondents; this is due to the particular context involved in the study: respondents were not consumers but logistic managers of manufactoring firms located in a small area of Northern Italy, and they had to choose among alternatives of freight transport modes. This also explains the obtained  $\rho$ -squares above 0.5, which might be due to the homogeneity across respondents.

Six studies can be found that explore the choice of a car (Table 4.3). Vehicles are typically described based on purchase price, country of manufacture, fuel price and efficiency, seating capacity, emissions charge, engine size. For the special case of the choice of an alternative fuel vehicle, also monthly contribution, tax percentage charge, recharge/refueling time, number of available brands/models and policy measure have been considered. In these studies, the  $\rho$ -squared values are always

₽	Paper ref.	SS	Exp. Design	ь	N alt	No choice option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	Model estimated	Number of parameters	p-square	Additional info
37 (Study 8)	(Leong and Hensher, 2015)	269	Bayesian D- efficient	e	5 labelled	Forced choice	a	Access and egress modes, one-way cost, and attributes that attempt to capture travel time variability	MNL-model	na	na	Relative Advantage Maximisation (RAM) model was also estimated
H	(Chorus, 2010)	280	na (simulator)	па	na (simulator)	Forced choice	8 (7 cont., 1 dummy)	Travel time, travel time uncertainty, travel costs, travel costs uncertainty, waiting time, waiting time uncertainty, seat availability, seat availability uncertainty	MNL-model	8+ ASC =9	RRM 0.433; RUM 0.440	
24,26,27	(Boeri and Masiero, 2014)	27	р	15	3 labelled	Forced choice with status quo option	3; two with 5 levels and one with 3 levels (all treated as continuous)	Transport time, transport cost, punctuality of the transport	MNL-model; Mixed MNL1; Mixed MNL2 **	3+2 ASC=5	MNL-RRM 0.147; MNL- RUM 0.144; MXMNL- RRM1 0.531; MXMNL- RUM1 0.526; MXMNL- RTM2 0.538; MXMNL- RUM2 0.538; MXMNL- RUM2 0.539	
25,28,29	(Boeri and Masiero, 2014)	27	вц	15	3 labelled	Forced choice with status quo option	3; two with 5 levels and one with 3 levels (all treated as continuous)	Transport time, transport cost, punctuality of the transport	MNL-model; Mixed MNL1; Mixed MNL2**	3+3 ASC=6	MNL-RRM 0.208; MNL- RUM 0.200; MXMNL- RRM1 0.467; MXMNL- RUM1 0.461; MXMNL- RRM2 0.469; MXMNL- RUM2 0.458	
42	(Hess and Stathopoulos, 2013)	368	D-efficient	10 (6 blocks)	3 labelled*	Forced choice with status quo option	6; (all treated as continuous)	Travel time, travel cost, rate of crowded trips, rate of delays, average length of delays, provision of a delay information service with different pricing	MNL-model	6+ASC=7	ē	Mixed RU-RR structure, where the allocation to a given class is driven in part by a latent variable which at the same time explains respondents' stated satisfaction with their real world commute journey
* Alternat defined b <sup>*</sup> **Mixed h	ives in the cs are n / attribute levels p ///L1= errors norm	nade of ivoted ( nal distr	a recent trip (ir off of the recen ibuted; Mixed i	nfo asked t t trip profi MNL2 erro	o the responde le. rs triangular di	ent), and unlabelle stributed	ed alternatives					

#### Table 4.2. RUM/RRM comparisons on travel mode choice

						No choice			Model	Number of		
₽	Paper ref. S.	Ş	Exp. Design	ե	N alt	option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	estimated	parameters	p-square	Additional info
12	(Chorus et <sub>6:</sub> al., 2013a)	16	Efficient	œ	m	Forced choice	9; attrxlevels: 3x3,4x4,1x5, 1x6 (car type dummy coded with 5 dummies)	Car type (i.e., type of Alternative fuel vehicle), purchase or catalogue price, monthly contribution, tax percentage charge, driving range, recharge/refueling time, additional detour time for refueling, number of available brands/models, policy measure	MNL-model	14	RRM 0.225; RUM 0.225	
16	(Beck et al., 1 2013) cl	.31 (individual hoices)	D-efficient	œ	3 labelled	Forced choice	9; attrxlevels: 3x3, 5x5, 1x6	Purchase price, Country of manufacture, Fuel price, Seating capacity, Registration, Annual emissions charge, Variable emissions charge, Engine size, Fuel efficiency	MNL-model	10 + 3 interactions	RRM 0.137; RUM 0.137	Compares choices of groups and individuals, exploring the influence household members have within an interactive agency choice experiment.
17	(Beck et al., 2. 2013) rε	:35 (primary espondents)	D-efficient	4	3 labelled	Forced choice	9; attrxlevels: 3x3, 5x5, 1x7	Purchase price, Country of manufacture, Fuel price, Seating capacity, Registration, Annual emissions charge, Variable emissions charge, Engine size, Fuel efficiency	MNL-model	7 + 2 interactions	RRM 0.108; RUM 0.105	Compares choices of groups and individuals, exploring the influence household members have within an interactive agency choice experiment.
18	(Beck et al., 2. 2013) rε	:35 (Secondary espondents)	D-efficient	4	3 labelled	Forced choice	9; attrxlevels: 3x3, 5x5, 1x8	Purchase price, Country of manufacture, Fuel price, Seating capacity, Registration, Annual emissions charge, Variable emissions charge, Engine size, Fuel efficiency	MNL-model	×	RRM 0.093; RUM 0.093	Compares choices of groups and individuals, exploring the influence household members have within an interactive agency choice experiment.
19	(Beck et al., 2 2013) cl	:35 (group hoices)	D-efficient	4	3 labelled	Forced choice	9; attrxlevels: 3x3, 5x5, 1x9	Purchase price, Country of manufacture, Fuel price, Seating capacity, Registration, Annual emissions charge, Variable emissions charge, Engine size, Fuel efficiency	MNL-model	10 + 1 interaction	RRM 0.145; RUM 0.143	Compares choices of groups and individuals, exploring the influence household members have within an interactive agency choice experiment.
22*	(Hensher et al., n 2013)	ē	D-efficient	4	3 labelled	Forced choice	9; attrxlevels: 3x3, 5x5, 1x10	Purchase price, Country of manufacture, Fuel price, Seating capacity, Registration, Annual emissions charge, Variable emissions charge, Engine size, Fuel efficiency	MNL-model	9 + 7 interactions	RRM 0.109; RUM 0.108	
* poc	led dataset o	if 17 and 18										

#### Table 4.3. RUM/RRM comparisons on car type choice

quite low, between 0.093 and 0.225, meaning that there is high variability which is not captured by the attributes used in the DCE and /or by the MNL model formulation of the models used. According to the results reported in Chorus et al. (2014), the RRM model obtains a significant better fit to the data in half of the cases, whereas in the other half the two models are tie in fit. Despite the significance of results, looking at absolute values of  $\rho$ -squared it is clear that the difference is always rather small.

According to Chorus et al. (2014), the RRM model has a better fit when people have to make an explicit trade-off between time spent to commute and a gain in salary (see Table 4.4: experiment 40 implied a choice regarding own workplace and experiment 41 included also the same reasoning for the partner's workplace relocation).

Four studies by Hess et al. (2014) explore this issue: in these experiments the sample size is rather high, paired with a small number of choice tasks per respondent<sup>3</sup>. These settings are ideal for the success of the data collection, minimizing the biases that can occur.

However, Study 1 (both in experiments 40 and 41) estimated the RUM and RRM models only on the subset of data where one of the two alternatives was chosen by respondents, leaving out the observations in which people decided not to choose. Looking at Table 4.4, results of Studies 1 regarding the fit of RUM and RRM estimated models provide identical fit for the two models in both studies. This identical fit is due to the fact that the RRM model collapse into the RUM model when only two alternatives are available (see Chorus, 2010). In this study, although the inclusion of the no-choice alternative in the choice set theoretically renders the choice task a multinomial choice, the comparison results based on a subset of data which leaves out the no choice observations are likely to be biased.

Indeed, the comparison is more accurate with at least three non-no choice alternatives in the choice set (Chorus and Rose, 2011). Thus, we believe the results of this comparison are not meaningful. On the other hand, Study 2 provides sizeable differences in fit between the two models, the RRM model reaching a better fit. These results could be linked to the explicit trade-off requested and to the particular

<sup>3</sup> The choice experiment was designed according to a full-profile design. This is possible because of the small number of attributes and levels considered, only two attributes (commuting time and monthly net wage) with two levels each are considered in Study 40; whereas in Study 41, four attributes with two levels each are considered and the resulting choice sets were divided into two blocks. For detailed information on the data see Swardh and Algers (2009).

₽	Paper ref.	SS	Exp. Desig	n CT Nalt	No choice option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	Model estimated	Number of parameters	p-square	Additional info
40 (Study1)	(Hess et al., 2014)	2358	na	4 2*	"I am indifferent" opt out	2; (all treated as continuous)	One-way commuting trip, net wage per month	MNL structure with added panel effect error components	2+ error component=3	adj. RRM 0.479; RUM 0.479	models estimated only on the subset of choices actually made (I am indifferent left out)
40 (Study2)	(Hess et al., 2014)	2358	па	4 2+ indifferent	"l am indifferent" opt out	2; (all treated as continuous)	One-way commuting trip, net wage per month	MNL structure with added panel effect error components	2 + ASC + error component=4	adj. RRM 0.481; RUM 0.362	models estimated including I am indifferent options chosen
41 (Study1)	(Hess et al., 2014)	2358	na	4 2*	"l am indifferent" opt out	4; (all treated as continuous)	One-way commuting trip, net wage per month, one-way commuting trip of the spouse, net wage per month of the spouse	MNL structure with added panel effect error components	4+ error component=5	adj. RRM 0.497; RUM 0.497	models estimated only on the subset of choices actually made (I am indifferent left out)
41 (Study2)	(Hess et al., 2014)	2358	na	4 2+ indifferent	"l am indifferent" opt out	4; (all treated as continuous)	One-way commuting trip, net wage per month, one-way commuting trip of the spouse, net wage per month of the spouse	MNL structure with added panel effect e error components	4 + ASC + error component=6	adj. RRM 0.535; RUM 0.438	models estimated including I am indifferent options chosen
* with on	'y two option i	n the cł	hoice s	et the two models							

\* with only two option in the choice set the two mod collapse in the same formulation.

Chapter 4
choice context; the choice of a farther workplace but with an increased wage is likely to trigger regret due to the increased time spent, and vice versa saving time but receiving less money is also likely to trigger regret.

Other experiments refer to choices of travel information (Table 4.5). In this context RUM has a significant better fit (Chorus et al., 2014), but the differences are again small in size, except for Experiment 39. In the latter study, panel effect error components were included in the MNL model. In the other contexts, i.e. choice of traffic calming scheme, choice of departure times for car drivers and choice of road pricing-policy by politicians, the two models have almost equal goodness of fit to the data. In these studies, MNL models were estimated and their  $\rho$ -squared values range between 0.08 and 0.173, which indicates that both RUM and RRM models perform poorly on the data.

A different field of application is related to healthcare: choice of lifestyle to prevent coronary heart disease, choice of medical treatments and choice of type of vaccination have been analyzed in existing studies (Table 4.6). In these contexts, similarly to the other contexts discussed so far, no clear evidence emerges on which model could better fit the data. Other contexts in which the model has been applied are related to leisure time, i.e. choice of recreational activities and choice of online-dating profiles. In these two experiments,  $\rho$ -squared values are again rather low, between 0.081 and 0.14.

More recent studies involve choices of travel mode, health and lifestyle programmes to reduce obesity, route, renewable energy programmes and evacuation travel behaviour (Table 4.7). In particular, Wang et al. (2017) recent experiment can be seen as an exception among all the comparisons carried out in the literature, in which  $\rho$ -squared values are above 0.6 and the differences in model fit between RRM and RUM models are remarkable, indicating that decisions taken in an emergency state are well explained by travel time, travel time uncertainty, perceived road damage probability and perceived service level, and are likely to be guided by anticipation of regret.

Overall, differences in performance between RUM and RRM models appear to be context- and dataset- specific. Only Hess et al. (2014) and Wang et al. (2017) obtained sizeable different results in models fit. Going into detail in their experimental settings, it is tricky to find similar features that can be responsible for the stronger results. Moreover, we do not have information about differences in predictions, so

٩	Paper ref.	SS	Exp. Design	Ե	N alt	No choice option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	iviodel estimated	parameters	p-square	Additional info
(Chori 2010)	us,	104	в	6	3+ no choice	"none of these" option	4; 2 continuous, 2 dummy coded	Type of provided information, who takes the initiative to get information, unreliability price	MNL-model	9	RRM 0.259; RUM 0.262	Models estimated only on the subset of choices actually made (none of these left out)
(Hess al., 2	s et 014)	104	е.	б	3+ no choice	"none of these" option	4; 2 continuous, 2 dummy coded	Type of provided information, who takes the initiative to get information, unreliability price	MNL structure with panel effect error components	6+ error component=7	adj. RRM 0.265; RUM 0.267	Models estimated only on the subset of choices actually made (none of these left out)
(Hes al., 2	s et .014)	104	e	б	3+ no choice	"none of these" option	4; 2 continuous, 2 dummy coded	Type of provided information, who takes the initiative to get information, unreliability price	MNL structure with panel effect error components	6 + ASC + error component=7	adj. RRM 0.205; RUM 0.253	Models estimated including none of these options chosen
(Boe al., 2	eri et 2014)	407	Randomized set of profiles from the full factorial design	ø	2+ status quo	Forced choice with status quo option	5; 2 dummy coded and 3 continuous	Annual cost, speed, noise, beauty, waiting time for crossing the road	MNL-model	5+ ASC=6	RRM 0.113; RUM 0.112	Latent class RU and RR models with and without taste heterogeneity are also estimated
(Chc and Jong 201:	de 1)	na	в	na	2+ status quo	Forced choice with status quo option	5; (all treated as continuous)	travel time, time spent in traffic jams for both the morning and the evening commute, resulting amount of time at work	MNL-model	5+ ASC=6	adj. RRM 0.173; RUM 0.172	Respondent could choose to depart at or close to their regular hour, or considerably earlier or later (and face reduced travel times)
(Cho al., 2	orus et 2011)	51	ла	2	m	Forced choice	5; 5 levels each (all treated as continuous)	Operational costs, congestion reduction, emission reduction, acceptability among inhabitants and acceptability among retailers	MNL-model	Ŋ	RRM 0.09; RUM 0.08	

\* same dataset as in 2

Choice context	₽	Paper ref.	s	Exp. Design	ե	N alt	No choice option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	Model estimated	Number of parameters	p-square	Additional info
Lifestyle-choices to prevent coronary heart disease	11	(Boeri et al., 2013)	493	Bayesian efficient	10	2+ status quo	Forced choice with status quo option	4, attrxlevels: 3x5, 1x7 (all treated as continuous)	Diet, amount of physical activity, risk of a fatal heart attack in the next ten years, cost	MNL-model	4	вп	Respondent's tailored DCE questions built using answers given by the respondent in the initial part of the questionnaire
Choice of preventive Osteoporosis Drug Treatment	50	(De Bekker- Grob and Chorus, 2013)	120	Fold-over fractional factorial, efficiency 95%	16	2+ no choice	"no drug treatment" option	5; attrxlevels: 4x4, 1x2 (3 continuous, 2 dummy coded)	Effectiveness, side effects, total treatment duration, route of drug administration, out-of- pocket costs	Panel mixed logit model error component	7+ 1rnd parameter(A SC)=8	adj. RRM 0.359; RUM 0.359; Hybrid RRM-RUM 0.358	Hybrid RUM–RRM model was estimated
Choice of papillomavirus vaccination	21	(De Bekker- Grob and Chorus, 2013)	312	Near optimal fractional factorial, efficiency 79%	9 (6 blocks)	2+ no choice	"no vaccination" option	5; 3 levels each (all treated as continuous)	Degree of protection against cervical cancer, protection duration, serious side effects, chance of mild side effects, age at vaccination	Panel mixed logit model error component	5+ 1rnd parameter(A SC)=6	adj. RRM 0.356; RUM 0.370; Hybrid RRM-RUM 0.370	Hybrid RUM–RRM model was estimated
Choice of natural park services	~	(Thiene et al., 2012)	480	Efficient Bayesian	12	2+ status quo	Forced choice with status quo option	10, 3 levels each (8 continuous, 2 dummy coded)	Thematic itineraries, Network of trails, Trail signs, Managed trails excursions, Climbing routes, Via ferrata, Shelters, Congestion, Information, Entrance fee	MNL-model	12 +ASC=13	RRM 0.081; RUM 0.084	
Choice of online date profile	15	(Chorus and Rose, 2011)	661	na (8 different experimental designs)	5	3+ no choice	no choice option	6, 3 levels each (all treated as continuous)	Drinking Habit, Smoking Habit , Children, Looks, Job, Cost to contact	MNL-model	6+ASC=7	RRM 0.14; RUM 0.13	

Choice context	₽	Paper ref.	ss	Exp. Design	ե	N alt	No choice option	Attributes; Levels	Attributes	Model estimated	Number of parameters	p-square	Additional info
Travel mode choice	101	(Hensher et al., 2016)	670	Bayesian - efficient	6 (40 blocks)	3 (of 4 labelled alternatives)	Forced choice	8, See Hensher et al. (2011) for a detailed description of the CE	In-vehicle travel time, travel cost, access, and egress times, frequency, crowding, getting a seat, number of transfers	both MNL and mixed-MNL (RPL)	9+3 ASC=12; 12+6 SD=18	RR M 0.444; RUM 0.444; Mixed- RR M=0.551;Mixed- RUM=0.549	Preference heterogeneity is accounted for through random parameters
Health and lifestyle programmes to reduce obesity	102	(Ryan et al., 2017)	58	eu	10	2+ status quo	Forced choice with status quo option	7, attrxlevels: 5x4 (continuous), 2x2 (dummy)	Comprehensiveness, Goal, Weight reduction, Reduction in risk of diabetes, Reduction in risk of high blood pressure, Time per day, Cost per week	MNL-model (RUM); MNL model with search measure index	7; 11	e	The CE was completed and eye movements were recorded to examine how transitions are inked to choices
Route choice	103	(Guevara and Fukushi, 2016)	134	вп	œ	m	Forced choice	2; (all treated as continuous)	Travel time, travel cost	MNL-model	2+2 ASC=4	RRM 0.348; RUM 0.344	six models are compared. MNL- RUM, Emergent Value (EV) model,Weigh Change (WC), MNL- RRM, RBA, CCM
Evacuation route choice	104	(Wang et al., 2017)	521	Optimal orthogonal in the differences	ĸ	m	Forced choice	4; 3 levels each (all treated as continuous)	Average Travel Time, travel Time Uncertainty, perceived road damage probability, perceived service level	MNL-model	4+ interactions=12	RRM 0.787; RUM 0.643; Hybrid RRM-RUM 0.794	Perceived road damage probability interacted with socio- demographics
Preferences for policies for the promotion of renewable energy	105	(Boeri and Longo, 2017)	300	Fractional factorial efficient	6 (6 blocks)	2+ status quo	Forced choice with status quo option	4, attrxlevels: 3x3, 1x4	Annual percentage reduction in greenhouse gas emissions, duration of energy disruptions (black-outs), variation in the number of people employed in the energy sector, electricity bill increase	MNL-model (RUM, RRM, ÀRRM), RU-RPL, RR-RPL	4	e	sub-sample 2 received some additional information on the affects of black-outs compared to sub-sample 1

Table 4.7. RUM/RRM comparisons not included in Chorus et al. (2014)

we cannot really say that one model is better than another.

In order to further summarize the evidence outlined so far, tables displaying the frequencies of the main characteristics of the studies are presented. Tables 4.8 and 4.9 show a summary of the collected information.

Overall, one experiment out of three is based on a sample of less than 200 respondents; moreover, 36 percent of the studies are based on data collected through more than ten repeated choice tasks per respondents.

The D-efficient experimental design, with reference to the RUM model, is used in 30% of the applications. Indeed, efficient designs towards a utility maximizing choice behaviour may not be as efficient when people choose according to regret minimization, as recently established by van Cranenburgh et al. (2018). To overcome this limitation, van Cranenburgh et al. derived efficient experimental designs for DCEs that are robust towards the underlying decision rule.

Providing three alternatives in the choice set seems to be the rule, with the majority of them being articulated as two alternatives plus the status quo option. Seventy percent of the studies included up to five attributes in the DCE and most of them were treated as continuous in estimating the models.

Table 4.9 summarizes the information concerning estimated models, showing how the majority of the comparisons were based only on the estimation of the MNL model; these models, both for RUM and RRM specifications, often fail to reach a satisfactory  $\rho$ -squared value.

What appears evident from Tables 4.8 and 4.9 is the lack in the provided information in existing comparisons beween RUM and RRM models: in 44 percent of the studies is not indicated which experimental design the researcher used to build the DCE; in 27 percent of the studies the  $\rho$ -squared values are not provided in the papers.

The present chapter has given an overview of the empirical evidence concerning performances of the RUM and RRM model formulations of logit models. The following chapter outlines the empirical study carried out in the food domain and displays the results.

Characteristic	n of applications	% of applications (N=45)
Sample size		
<200	16	36%
201-600	15	33%
>600	7	16%
na	7	16%
Experimental Design		
Bayesian D-efficient	4	9%
D-efficient	14	31%
Optimal orthogonal in the differences	3	7%
Other designs	4	9%
na	20	44%
Choice tasks per respondent		
3-5	10	22%
6-10	17	38%
11-16	16	36%
na	2	4%
N alt. in the choice set		
3	39	87%
4	4	9%
5	1	2%
na	1	2%
No choice option		
Forced choice	14	31%
Forced choice with status quo option	21	47%
"I am indifferent" opt out	4	9%
"none of these" opt out	6	13%
N attributes		
2-3	9	20%
4-5	23	51%
6-10	12	27%
na	1	2%
Attributes' coding		
Continuous	28	62%
Continuous and categorical	9	20%
na	8	18%

Table 4.8. Characteristics of the collected studies: A summary (1)

		% of applications
Characteristic	n of applications	(N=45)
Estimated models		
MNL-model	29	64%
Both MNL and mixed-MNL	8	18%
MNL structure with added	0	22/
panel effect error components	8	18%
ASC included	20	44%
ρ-squared RRM MNL		
<0.30	21	47%
0.31-0.50	10	22%
>0.50	2	4%
na	12	27%
<i>p</i> -squared RUM MNL		
<0.30	21	47%
0.31-0.50	11	24%
>0.50	1	2%
na	12	27%
ρ-squared RRM Mixed (N=8)		
<0.50	3	38%
>0.50	4	50%
na	1	13%
<i>p</i> -squared RUM Mixed (N=8)		
<0.50	3	38%
>0.50	4	50%
na	1	13%

Table 4.9. Characteristics of the collected studies: A summary (2)

# Chapter 5

# Empirical study

## 5.1 Objective of the study

The aim of the empirical study is to compare performances of RUM and RRM based logit models in explaining and predicting food consumer choices. This study represents the first application of the RRM model in the food domain.

A second objective is to analyze the heterogeneity in food choices, based on personality traits. In particular, the personality traits taken into account are assumed to be linked to the choice strategy; by means of a segmentation analysis, it will be possible to see whether and how latent traits influence the way in which the choice is made. A consumer survey has been carried out, encompassing a choice experiment and the scales to measure personality traits. Several logit models have been estimated on the sample in order to achieve the desired results.

The next sections outline the procedure and methods used for the survey, the measures and the analyses performed, and the obtained results, along with a final discussion.

## 5.2 Experimental settings

#### 5.2.1 Participants, survey administration and questionnaire

Data have been collected in February 2017 by means of a web-based survey; 300 students from Wageningen University were recruited as participants by advertising the study in an education building. The online survey was managed and administered through Qualtrics software. In order to avoid any distraction, the questionnaire was administered in a controlled setting in a computer lab of the university. Completion of the questionnaire took an average of about 10 minutes. Students received a snack as a (pre-announced) reward for participating in the study. Key characteristics of the sample are displayed in Table 5.1.

Characteristi	cs	Percentages
Gender	Females Males	79.67 20.33
Type of student	Bachelor Master Other	68.33 30.0 1.67
Age (mean; std dev)		20.45; 2.02

Table 5.1. Demographic characteristics of the sample

The selected food product for the experiment was cheese. Since the sample is made up by students in a Dutch university, cheese has been chosen as the object of the experiment because it is a product familiar and affordable for students, is a relevant part of their diet, and has many alternatives available on the shelves.

The questionnaire included the discrete-choice experiment based on stated preferences and questions to measure the personality traits that were hypothesized to influence the relative performance of the RRM and RUM -based models. Moreover, liking and consumption habits of cheese and socio-demographic variables were investigated (see the full questionnaire in Appendix A).

The questionnaire started with the questions pertaining to the discrete-choice experiment on cheese. Respondents had to choose a single alternative of cheese among the three presented, of which they (imagined to) buy a single unit. Respondents were asked to choose a cheese from each of ten different choice sets included in the questionnaire.

Before being asked to choose cheeses from the choice sets, the participants were briefed about a scenario that they had to imagine themselves to be in while choosing one out of three pieces of cheese.

It reads as follows: "Imagine you have invited some friends to your home, everybody will bring something nice to eat or drink, you agreed to contribute with some cheese. You

#### Empirical study

do not know for sure when your friends will come, but it is going to be within a week. You are at the supermarket, you know you are going to be busy during the next days, therefore you want to do the shopping today. Assume that you are only expected to bring one type of cheese".

In order to increase the likelihood for anticipated regret to emerge, we tried to make the choice of cheese more important than usual, introducing other people – friends, whose opinion is likely to be taken into account – in the scenario. Moreover, the uncertainty about the day of the meeting might also introduce some regret, especially with respect to trade-offs involving preservability of cheese.

After having read the scenario, participants saw a detailed explanation of attributes and levels in terms of which the cheeses could differ from each other (see next section for attributes and levels included in the experiment). Then, the choice tasks were displayed one at a time. Respondents had to choose one cheese from the presented alternatives, according to their preference.

#### 5.2.2 Choice experiment

Choice sets consisted of three cheese alternatives defined in terms of four attributes. Relevant attributes considered for the choice of cheese were: Quality, Price, Preservability and Sustainability of the packaging.

The attribute selection was guided by the desire to enhance regret emergence, in line with the study aim. Specifically, quality and price were included as these tend to be relevant attributes for most consumer choices. In order to make the presented alternatives of cheese more realistic to consumers, each quality level had its own reference price. The price attributes referred to deviations from these reference prices.<sup>1</sup>

Preservability expressed through the days until the best-by date was included because it implies different levels of uncertainty about the products' suitability at the consumption moment. It relates both to food safety issues and social norm, thus regret is likely to be taken into account when trading-off different options. Preference for recyclable packaging is one of the dimensions of sustainable consumption (Mancini et al., 2017), the related attributed was included because environmentfriendliness of product packaging has proven to be a relevant product attribute in

1 Respondents only saw the resulting price.

consumer food choice (Rokka and Uusitalo, 2008) and to explore a moral dimension of food choice (Chorus, 2015).

Attributes and levels are shown in Table 5.2.

Attributes	Levels
Quality (reference price)	No star (€ 1.40) * (€ 1.90) ** (€ 2.40) *** (€ 2.90)
Price	$- \notin 0.40$ $- \notin 0.20$ $+ \notin 0.00$ $+ \notin 0.20$ $+ \notin 0.40$
Preservability (best by date)	2 days 7 days 14 days
Packaging sustainability (% of recyclable components)	A (80 - 100) B (20 - 80) C (0 - 20)

Fable 5.2. Attributes	s and levels	in the	choice	experiment
-----------------------	--------------	--------	--------	------------

Choice sets were generated by a (in terms of the RUM model) D-efficient fractionalfactorial main-effects design, following Rose and Bliemer (2009).

Prior simulations revealed that, as far as the two 3-level attributes are concerned, a (3x3x4x5) D-efficient design rules out any difference in the performance of the RRM and RUM models. The reason for this is that all three levels of each 3-level attribute occurred exactly once across the alternatives in each choice set, with the consequence that the RRM model becomes a mere re-parametrization of the RUM model. Therefore, a (6x6x4x5) D-efficient fractional-factorial main-effects design was generated first, using SAS 9.3 software. This design had a relative D-efficiency of 82.13%. Subsequently, the levels of the two 6-level attributes in the design were collapsed into three levels, obtaining a (3x3x4x5) design with relative D-efficiency of 85.05% (for comparison, the highest relative D-efficient we obtained by directly generating a (3x3x4x5) design was 90.57%).

The experimental design contains 60 choice sets, which were divided into six blocks

#### Empirical study

with ten choice sets each. Each respondent was confronted with a single block, i.e. ten choice sets. Respondents were randomly assigned to the blocks in a balanced way.

In each choice set, respondents selected one alternative from the three displayed (see Figure 5.1).

According to your preferences, choose one option from the three shown below:

Cheese	1	Cheese 2	2		Cheese :	3
Quality	**	Quality	no star		Quality	***
Sust. of pack.	С	Sust. of pack.	С		Sust. of pack.	В
Price	€ 2.60	Price	€ 1.20		Price	€ 2.90
Preservability	14 days	Preservability	7 days		Preservability	14 days
0		 0		- '	0	

Figure 5.1. Example of choice set

Following Dhar and Simonson (2003), respondents were forced to make a choice, without offering them a no-choice option. The inclusion of the no-choice option can affect some alternatives more than others, taking greater shares of choice away from safer or compromise options (Dhar and Simonson, 2003), i.e. options that people would choose to avoid regret and thus diminish the relevance of the RRM model.

To be able to compare the RRM and the RUM model in the presence of no-choice options, respondents saw a subsequent scenario in which they were allowed to reconsider each (forced) choice they made, "confirming" if they would actually buy the product even when they would have had the option to buy nothing and postpone the shopping.

Research has shown different effects of the inclusion of the so-called no-choice option on RRM and RUM models (Chorus, 2012b; Hess et al., 2014; Thiene et al., 2012), due to its formulation in the questionnaire. In particular, the formulation of the no-choice option in the questionnaire as "none of these" or "indifferent" could have ambiguous effect on the models. Empirical results have shown that RRM model is negatively affected by none of these framing, on the other hand RUM is more affected by the indifferent option (Hess et al., 2014). In our scenario, we did not make the difference between "none of these" and "indifferent" as reasons for the no-choice explicit.

#### 5.2.3 Personality traits

In the present study, people heterogeneity in choice patterns is explored, based on personality traits. The underlying assumption is that personality traits affect people's choices; specifically, it is assumed that personality traits can lead people to act more as utility-maximizer or as regret-minimizer. Hence, personality traits such as regret sensitivity, need for acceptance, and type of regulatory focus are likely to drive people more towards one of the two principles.

Sensitivity to regret refers to the degree to which a person might regret a decision once made. The underlying hypothesis is that people that are more regret sensitive will be more likely to minimize regret than to maximize utility in choice situations. For measuring regret sensitivity, the five-item scale developed by Schwartz et al. (2002) was used.

Need for acceptance is defined as the desire to be accepted from others, concerning with being valued and accepted by individuals. A strong desire for acceptance might lead people to take the social norm – which has proven to be a determinant of choice of food (Herman et al., 2003; Ivanic, 2016) – into account in their everyday decisions. Since Beck et al. (2013) found support for the idea that the RRM performs better when people know they will have to defend their choice to others or when they bear a high degree of responsibility for the choice (as previously theorized by Zeelenberg and Pieters, 2007), it seems plausible that people that have a strong need for acceptance will be more likely to minimize regret than to maximize utility in choice situations. In the experiment, need for acceptance was measured with a reduced version of the need-to-belong scale by Leary et al. (2013). The original scale includes ten items aimed to measure two domains of need to belong: the need for social support and the need for acceptance. In the present study, we only consider the latter.

According to regulatory-focus theory, self-regulation can be promotion focused (acting towards gains) or prevention focused (acting towards avoiding losses) (Hall et al., 1997; Higgins et al., 2001; Higgins, 1997, 1998). Regulatory focus has been found to influence how people evaluate products and their choice motives. In particular, researchers found that prevention-focused individuals attach more importance to products' features related to purposes of safety, whereas promotion-focused people place greater importance to features related to comfort (Werth and Foerster,

#### Empirical study

2007). Considering that safety is about avoiding losses, and comfort typically can be seen as a gain, it would be straightforward to assume that prevention-focused individuals are more likely to act as regret minimizers, and promotion-focused people as utility maximizers. However, according to Leder et al. (2013), the overall intensity of anticipated regret does not differ between prevention- and promotionfocused individuals, but they differ in what triggers regret, i.e. the types of negative outcomes that are most relevant to them. Florack et al. (2013) describe the two types of regret: prevention-related regret is experienced when people did not think carefully enough about their choice and end up with an inferior product; whereas promotion-related regret is connected to the situation in which a better result could have been obtained if they had made a different choice. The anticipated regret connected to consumer choice and modelled by the RRM model depends on the foregone options, arising when a better result could have been obtained by choosing a different option (i.e. the promotion-related regret). Therefore, we hypothesize that the RRM model performs better than its RUM-based counterpart on promotion-oriented individuals.

In the present study, the prevention-promotion focus was measured by two subscales, one of which measures promotion goals and one of which measures prevention goals. Short versions of the subscales by Lockwood et al. (2002) were used in this study in order to reduce the burden for respondent (six items in total, three for each subscale).

Table 5.3 gives an overview of the 7-point Likert-scale items that were used in the experiment. Each item was rated from Strongly disagree to Strongly agree.

Scales	Items
<b>Regret sensitivity</b> (Schwartz et al., 2002)	<ul> <li>Whenever I make a choice, I'm curious about what would have happened if I had chosen differently</li> <li>Once I make a decision, I don't look back (Reversed item)</li> <li>When I think about how I'm doing in life, I often assess opportunities I have passed up</li> <li>If I make a choice and it turns out well, I still feel like something of a failure if I find out that another choice would have turned out better</li> <li>Whenever I make a choice, I try to get information about how the other alterna- tives turned out</li> </ul>
<b>Need for Acceptance</b> adapted from (Leary et al., 2013)	<ul> <li>My feelings are easily hurt when I feel that others do not accept me</li> <li>If other people don't seem to accept me, I don't let it bother me (Reversed item)</li> <li>I try hard not to do things that will make other people avoid or reject me</li> <li>I want other people to accept me</li> </ul>
<b>Promotion/Prevention Focus</b> adaped from (Lockwood et al., 2002)	<ul> <li>I often think about how I will achieve academic success</li> <li>I typically focus on the success I hope to achieve in the future</li> <li>I frequently imagine how I will achieve my hopes and aspirations</li> <li>I often worry that I will fail to accomplish my academic goals</li> <li>I am anxious that I will fall short of my responsibilities and obligations</li> <li>I frequently think about how I can prevent failures in my life</li> </ul>

Table 5.3. Personality traits: Scales and items

## 5.3 Methodological approach

### 5.3.1 RUM and RRM logit models estimation and comparison

For model estimations, Biogeme 2.5 Software package has been used (Bierlaire, 2016). In the model estimations, Quality, Sustainability of the packaging and Preservability

#### Empirical study

were treated as categorical (dummy coded) predictors, whereas the effect of Price was assumed to be linear.

First, MNL models have been estimated (See Equation (3.3) for RUM and Equation (3.6) for RRM based models).

Despite the two models sharing the same MNL formulation and being equally parsimonious, a direct comparison between the parameter values of the two models is not meaningful. Firstly, in the RRM model the effect that unitary changes on attributes have on random regret does not only depend on the estimated taste parameters, but also on the other available alternatives<sup>2</sup>. Secondly, the magnitude of the estimates in the RRM model depends on the number of the available alternatives, i.e. on the choice set size. Larger choice sets give rise to smaller RRM-parameter estimates, and vice versa (Chorus, 2012a). This happens because the RRM model formulation involves a sum of all the binary comparisons between the available alternatives. With fixed parameters' magnitude, in a larger choice set one would obtain regret-levels and choice probabilities that are more sensitive to changes in attribute values, which is not the case in the real world. It is much more realistic for the degree of sensitivity of regret-levels and choice probabilities to changes in attribute values to be invariant with respect to the choice set size. This means that in the context of larger choice sets, smaller RRM-parameter estimates should be obtained and vice versa (Chorus, 2012a).

Given the impossibility to directly elicit meaningful results from the parameters' comparison, an indirect comparison of the RUM and RRM models estimates is sometimes useful. More specifically, a meaningful comparison can be performed on parameter ratios of the RRM model with their RUM counterparts. This is worth-while because the ratios of parameters does not suffer from the abovementioned choice set size-effect, since the latter affects each parameter to the same extent. Therefore, by comparing parameters ratios of RUM and RRM models one can get information on the differences between model types in terms of the relative importance of one attribute over another attribute taken as reference (typically the price).

Based on existing applications, the overall performance of the RUM and RRM models are compared in terms of goodness of fit to the data and predictive ability

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Contrary to the linear in parameter specification of the RUM model, the RRM model does not imply the IIA assumption.

Table 5.4. Prediction vs real choices in the validation sample

	Ac	tual	Ch	oice	S
		1	2	3	
ed s	1	а	b	С	
ict	2	d	e	f	
Pred	3	g	h	i	

(Chorus, 2012a; Chorus et al., 2013a, 2014).

RUM and RRM logit models are not nested, having the same number of estimated coefficients, but different specifications. Therefore, the Ben-Akiva and Swait (BAS) test (Ben-Akiva and Swait, 1986) is used to compare the goodness of fit of the two models (See Section 3.2.1 for the formula).

The predictive ability of each model can be assessed by looking at the cross-validated hit rate, i.e. the out-of-sample proportion of correctly predicted choices. In order to calculate the cross-validated hit rate, the sample of choice observations is randomly split into an estimation sample (i.e., two third of the observations) and a validation sample (i.e., the remaining one third of the observations). First, the models are estimated on the estimation sample. Then the estimated parameters are used to predict choices in the validation sample according to the largest predicted probabilities. Finally, the predicted choices are compared with actual choices across the validation sample, obtaining the hit rate. In Table 5.4 the correctly predicted choices are represented by a, e and i. Therefore the hit rate can be computed as

$$\frac{a+e+i}{M}$$

where M is the number of observation in the validation sample.

In addition to the hit rate value, in order to statistically compare the prediction ability of the two models, McNemar's test was calculated. It tests whether the difference on the number of incorrect predictions between the two models' predictions is statistically significant. The null hypothesis of the test is marginal homogeneity, i.e. the probabilities for each outcome (marginal frequencies) are the same. The McNemar's test compares the number of incorrect prediction of the two models in the following way:

$$\chi^2 = \frac{(inc_R - inc_U)^2}{inc_R + inc_U}$$

#### Empirical study

where *inc* represents the number of incorred prediction with Regret and Utility based models. Under the null hypothesis,  $\chi^2$  has a chi-squared distribution with 1 degree of freedom. If the null hypothesis is rejected, the marginal proportions are significantly different, i.e. the model with the higher hit rate predicts significantly better.

MNL models are first estimated and compared on the overall sample. Then, the same models are estimated on the restricted sample of confirmed choices, in order to see whether models performances are affected by the presence of a no-choice option.

#### 5.3.2 Segmentation

The previous mentioned analyses concern models estimated on the entire sample, under the assumption of homogeneity of taste within the population. Nonetheless, exploring and evaluating heterogeneity in choices is an important objective of the study. To do so, three methods have been used: a priori segmentation based on personality traits, mixed logit models that account for random taste variation, and latent class RUM–RRM model to explore heterogeneity in decision rules.

A priori segmentation is performed separately for the three personality traits considered. It is done through a split of the sample into three subsamples, based on the tertile scores on the personality traits. Then, RRM and RUM models are estimated in the first and third tertiles, leaving out observations around the mean.

The scores for the personality traits are obtained through ordinal Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) on the validated scales items (Rosseel, 2012). One-factor models were estimated for regret sensitivity (all completely-standardized factor loadings above 0.5) and need for acceptance (all factor loadings above 0.6). A two-factor model was estimated for the two regulatory-focus subscales (all factor loadings above 0.6). However, concerning the regulatory focus, we found a positive and rather high (above 0.5) correlation between prevention and promotion scores. One could argue that people might not be solely promotion or prevention focused, but that the two dimensions can be present in varying degrees at the same time. To allow for this simultaneous presence, we subtracted the prevention CFA scores from the promotion scores, in line with the idea of ipsatizing scores (Ten Berge, 1999), calling the new scale Promotion-Prevention Discrepancy. In this new representation of an

Model	Chi-Square p-value	SRMR	RMSEA	CFI	TLI
Regret sensitivity	>0.05	0.02	0.00	1.00	1.00
Need for acceptance Prevention-Promotion	>0.05	0.02	0.03	1.00	1.00
discrepancy	>0.05	0.03	0.04	1.00	1.00

Table 5.5. Results from the CFA

Table 5.6. Original-scale means (across participants) of the average (across items) score in each of the tertiles of the factor score distributions

Trait	Terti	le ori	ginal
	scale means		
	1	2	3
Regret sensitivity	3.11	4.44	5.39
Need for acceptance	3.40	4.72	5.84
Prevention focus	3.50	4.16	5.17
Promotion focus	4.50	4.90	5.66

individual's self-regulatory orientation, positive values of promotion-prevention discrepancy mean that promotion is relatively high, whereas negative values of promotion-prevention discrepancy mean relative prevention focus (Chen et al., 2017). Table 5.5 shows that each model had a good fit.

In order to test the hypothesized moderating effects of regret sensitivity, need for acceptance, and promotion-prevention discrepancy, the sample of respondents was divided into tertiles based on their CFA factor scores on each of these traits separately. To have a clear distinction between respondents with a higher and respondents with a lower score, separate RRM and RUM models were estimated for the highest and the lowest tertiles, excluding observations around the mean. Table 5.6 displays the original-scale (7-points scale) means (across participants) of the average (across items) score in each of the tertiles of the factor score distributions; Table 5.7 shows the factor score ranges in the first and third tertiles.

Estimated MNL models are compared in terms of goodness of fit and prediction ability, in each of the tertiles.

Trait Tertile factor score range			anges	
		1	-	3
	Min	Max	Min	Max
Regret sensitivity	-2.77	-0.30	0.36	2.63
Need for acceptance	-2.32	-0.36	0.37	2.49
Promotion-prevention discrepancy	-2.28	-0.29	0.26	1.65

Table 5.7. Factor score ranges for high and low tertiles

Latent class models allow the use of different behavioural processes to explain the choices (Hess et al., 2012). In particular, in this study the estimated LC model assume the existence of two latent classes, one of the classes assumes a utility-based choice, whereas the other class assumes a choice based on minimization of regret. Two LC models have been estimated, one with a class membership function that is not dependent on any personal characteristic, and a different one in which the class membership function is linked to psychological traits. This will allow to link the membership to a class with specific psychological traits.

## 5.4 Results

#### 5.4.1 Multinomial Logit model

In this experiment, the deterministic utility associated with an alternative i is formulated as such:

$$U_{i} = \beta_{B_{2days}} * B_{i}^{2days} + \beta_{B_{7days}} * B_{i}^{7days} + \beta_{Price} * Price_{i} + \beta_{Q_{NoStar}} * Q_{i}^{NoStar} + \beta_{Q_{*}} * Q_{i}^{*} + \beta_{Q_{**}} * Q_{i}^{**} + \beta_{S_{C}} * S_{i}^{C} + \beta_{S_{B}} * S_{i}^{B}$$
(5.1)

Where *B*, *Q* and *S* are dummy variables for the respective levels. The deterministic regret is estimated with the following formula:

$$R_{i} = \sum_{j \neq i} [ln(1 + \exp(\beta_{B_{2days}} * B_{j}^{2days} + \beta_{B_{7days}} * B_{j}^{7days} - (\beta_{B_{2days}} * B_{i}^{2days} + \beta_{B_{7days}} * B_{i}^{7days}))) + ln(1 + \exp(\beta_{Price} (Price_{j} - Price_{i}))) + ln(1 + \exp(\beta_{Q_{NoStar}} * Q_{j}^{NoStar} + \beta_{Q_{*}} * Q_{j}^{*} + \beta_{Q_{**}} * Q_{j}^{**} - (\beta_{Q_{NoStar}} * Q_{i}^{NoStar} + \beta_{Q_{*}} * Q_{i}^{*} + \beta_{Q_{**}} * Q_{i}^{**}))) + ln(1 + \exp(\beta_{S_{C}} * S_{j}^{C} + \beta_{S_{B}} * S_{j}^{B} - (\beta_{S_{C}} * S_{i}^{C} + \beta_{S_{B}} * S_{i}^{B})))]$$

$$(5.2)$$

In both equations, the baseline levels for each qualitative attribute are: three star quality, 14 days until the best by date, and sustainability of the packaging equal to A (80-100% recyclable).

Estimation results for MNL models are displayed in Table 5.8 and Table 5.9.

Estimated coefficients are in line with expectations: since the reference modality for each attribute is the best option (longer best by date, higher quality and higher sustainability of the packaging), the coefficients sign reflects a decrease in utility and an increase in regret, with respect to reference modes. The higher magnitude is represented by no star quality (compared to three stars) and 2 days until the best by date (compared to 14 days); these aspects are more important than (an increase of  $1.00 \in$  in) price.

In the RRM model, the relatively higher magnitude for quality and best by date attribute-levels means that for these attributes higher regret arises from a loss with respect to the rejoice arising from an equivalent gain. In other words, there is a higher profundity of regret, which means greater asymmetry between regret and rejoice. Thus, a more emphasized regret minimizing behaviour is observed for quality and best by date with respect to price and sustainability of the packaging, in the choice of cheese.

RUM and RRM models show almost the same pattern for the relative importance given to the cheese attributes. In order to better understand if any difference exist between models, since it is not possible to directly compare the parameter values of the two models (Chorus, 2012a), the relative importance of attributes with respect to price has been calculated. Results are plotted and displayed in Figure 5.2. Besides the

#### Table 5.8. RRM MNL estimation results

		Robust		
	Coeff.	Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	<i>t</i> -stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days	1.43	0.06	25.20	<0.01
7 days	0.12	0.04	2.79	0.01
Price	0.89	0.05	16.54	<0.01
No star	1.60	0.09	18.16	<0.01
*	0.76	0.07	10.38	<0.01
**	0.12	0.06	2.01	0.04
С	0.60	0.05	12.77	<0.01
В	0.20	0.04	4.61	<0.01

#### Summary statistics

Number of observations = 3000 Number of estimated parameters = 8 AIC = 4625.865 BIC = 4673.916  $\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) = -3295.837$   $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) = -2304.932$   $-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] = 1981.809$   $\rho^2 = 0.301$  $\bar{\rho}^2 = 0.298$ 

#### Table 5.9. RUM MNL estimation results

Description	Coeff. estimate	Robust Asympt. std. error	<i>t-</i> stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days	-2.23	0.08	-26.65	<0.01
7 days	-0.13	0.05	-2.44	0.01
Price	-1.39	0.09	-15.28	<0.01
No star	-2.63	0.15	-16.99	<0.01
*	-1.03	0.11	-9.83	<0.01
**	-0.08	0.07	-1.10	0.27
С	-0.88	0.07	-12.41	<0.01
В	-0.32	0.06	-5.00	<0.01
0				

#### **Summary statistics**

Number of observations = 3000 Number of estimated parameters = 8 AIC = 4627.942 BIC = 4675.993  $\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) = -3295.837$   $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) = -2305.971$   $-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] = 1979.732$   $\rho^2 = 0.300$  $\bar{\rho}^2 = 0.298$  coefficient ratios being quite similar across the two models, in the quality attribute there is some weak evidence that intermediate levels gain importance within the RRM model.



Figure 5.2. RUM and RRM coefficient ratios relative to price

Table 5.10 displays the results of the comparison in performance of the two models. No significant difference emerges neither for the goodness of fit to the data, nor for the prediction ability. In the general case, on the overall sample, the two specification of Multinomial Logit performs equally well.

	RRM	RUM
<i>p</i> <sup>2</sup>	0.298	0.298
BAS test	Not sigr	nificant
Cross-validated hit rate	66.50%	66.80%
McNemar test	Not sigr	hificant

Table 5.10. MNL comparison

		Robust		
	Coeff.	Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	t-stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days	1.83	0.09	19.69	<0.01
7 days	0.17	0.06	2.97	<0.01
Price	1.07	0.07	16.06	<0.01
No star	1.98	0.12	16.78	<0.01
*	1.06	0.10	10.87	<0.01
**	0.25	0.08	2.92	<0.01
С	0.85	0.07	12.92	<0.01
В	0.26	0.06	4.34	<0.01

Table 5.11. RRM MNL estimation results on confirmed choices

#### **Summary statistics**

Number of observations = 1894 Number of estimated parameters = 8 AIC = 2429.746 BIC = 2474.117  $\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) = -2080.772$   $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) = -1206.873$   $-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] = 1747.798$   $\rho^2 = 0.420$  $\hat{\rho}^2 = 0.416$ 

The overall sample includes the forced choices made by respondents. If the sample of choices is restricted to the choices that are confirmed (and not delayed) in the second round of choice tasks, a further comparison between regret and utility based models is possible. Table 5.11 and Table 5.12 display the estimation results.

The BAS test on the restricted sample of confirmed choice is significant with a p-value<0.005, whereas the difference in prediction is not significant (see Table 5.13). This means that in case of choices on which consumer are certain, utility specification has a better fit to the data, although RRM and RUM predict equally well. Therefore, the performance of the RRM model increase if we consider also choices on which people are not completely sure.

		Robust		
	Coeff.	Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	<i>t</i> -stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days	-2.87	0.14	-20.81	<0.01
7 days	-0.23	0.08	-3.04	<0.01
Price	-1.85	0.12	-14.78	<0.01
No star	-3.50	0.22	-16.08	<0.01
*	-1.63	0.14	-11.31	<0.01
**	-0.28	0.10	-2.81	0.01
С	-1.22	0.10	-12.20	<0.01
В	-0.37	0.09	-4.24	<0.01

Table 5.12. RUM MNL estimation results on confirmed choices

#### Summary statistics

Number of observations = 1894 Number of estimated parameters = 8 AIC = 2422.227 BIC = 2466.599  $\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) = -2080.772$   $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) = -1203.114$   $-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] = 1755.316$   $\rho^2 = 0.422$  $\bar{\rho}^2 = 0.418$ 

Table 5.13. MNL comparison on confirmed choices

	RRM	RUM
<i>p</i> <sup>2</sup> BAS test	0.416 RUM is the best m	0.418 odel (p-value<0.005)
Cross-validated hit rate McNemar test	76.86% Not significant	77.50%

#### 5.4.2 Segmentation

To explore whether any difference exists in models performances based on personality traits, and thus to unveil different decision processes based on personality, the sample has been segmented. Subsamples were obtained based on the scores on personality traits; first and third tertiles have been considered, excluding the observations placed in the middle. RRM and RUM models are estimated in the first and third tertiles separately, for each of the considered personality traits. Models are compared in terms of goodness of fit and predictive ability. Results are displayed in Table 5.14.

Some significant differences between the two specifications are found in fit, but not in prediction. On subsamples made of people with high regret, high need for acceptance and high prevention-promotion discrepancy the RRM model specification has a significant better fit. The opposite happens in subsample with lower values in personality scales. Although being significant, the differences in fit are generally small.

	Subgroup	<u></u> ,	2	Better fit	CV Hit	: rate (%)	Better predic- tion
		RRM	RUM		RRM	RRM	
Regret sensitivity	High	0.30	0.30	RRM	66.67	66.06	Tie
	Low	0.28	0.28	RUM	68.93	68.34	Tie
Need for acceptance	High	0.33	0.33	RRM	68.75	68.15	Tie
	Low	0.25	0.25	RUM	66.17	65.88	Tie
Promotion-prevention	High	0.34	0.33	RRM	68.24	69.50	Tie
discrepancy	Low	0.28	0.28	RUM	63.89	65.43	Tie

Table 5.14. RUM RRM estimation results on subsamples

#### 5.4.3 Mixed logit model estimation

Mixed logit models have been estimated with RUM and RRM behavioural specifications. Random errors have been assumed as normally distributed<sup>3</sup>. Table 5.15 and Table 5.16 display estimation results.

<sup>3</sup> The smaller standard deviation of random coefficients is fixed at zero to ensure model identification, following Walker et al. (2007).

In the two estimated models, random taste heterogeneity is statistically significant. The mean coefficients for 2 days and no star quality attributes levels have the higher importance on utility and on regret, and the higher associated profundity of regret. But they have also the larger associated standard deviations. In order to interpret the results of estimated MMNL models more deeply, the size of  $\sigma$  coefficients relative to  $\mu$  coefficients has been calculated; also, the percentages of people with  $\beta$ s coefficients below zero for the RRM model and above zero for the RUM model are calculated. Table 5.17 displays the elaboration on the data.

When relating the estimated  $\sigma$  with the estimated  $\mu$  for one attribute, the relative size of  $\sigma$  is obtained. For 2 days and Price attributes these relative sizes of  $\sigma$  are bigger for the RRM model; on the contrary, for No star, One star and C level of recyclability of the packaging, the relative sizes of  $\sigma$  are bigger for the RUM model. Coherent results are obtained looking at the shares of people with an estimated  $\beta$ coefficient below/above zero; these shares of people are to be interpreted as having coefficients of an opposite sign with regards to the whole sample. In particular, more variability in taste is detected by the RRM model regarding Best by date and Price: a higher share of people feel rejoice from an higher price and a shorter best by date, compared with the share of people that attach positive utility to these levels. The opposite result is obtained for One star quality and C recyclability: higher shares of people attach a positive utility to these levels, compared to people that feel rejoice. The BAS test is significant, meaning that the RRM MMNL model has a statistically significant better fit to the data if compared to the RUM MMNL model. Therefore, including random taste variation through the Mixed MNL model changes the comparison result between the two behavioural specifications, leading to a significant difference. The improvement in fit gained using MMNL with respect to MNL can be seen also in the  $\bar{\rho}^2$  values, which change from nearly 0.30 for both RUM and RRM -MNL models to nearly 0.40 for RUM-MMNL and 0.41 for RRM-MMNL model.

		Robust		
	Coeff.	Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	t-stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days (µ)	3.43	0.26	13.34	<0.01
2 days (σ)	2.06	0.18	11.36	<0.01
7 days (µ)	0.24	0.07	3.47	<0.01
Price (µ)	1.72	0.12	14.21	<0.01
Price ( $\sigma$ )	1.32	0.11	11.67	<0.01
No star (μ)	2.93	0.18	16.77	<0.01
No star ( $\sigma$ )	1.18	0.12	9.60	<0.01
* (µ)	1.37	0.12	11.81	<0.01
$^{*}\left( \sigma ight)$	0.41	0.11	3.80	<0.01
** (µ)	0.25	0.09	2.80	0.01
С (µ)	1.05	0.09	11.24	<0.01
C (σ)	0.81	0.09	8.68	<0.01
Β (μ)	0.28	0.07	4.01	<0.01

#### Table 5.15. RRM Mixed Logit estimation results

## Summary statistics

Number of observations = 3000 Number of excluded observations = 0 Number of estimated parameters = 13 AIC = 3888.351 BIC = 3966 433

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}(\beta_0) &= -3295.837\\ \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) &= -1931.175\\ -2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] &= 2729.323\\ \rho^2 &= 0.414\\ \bar{\rho}^2 &= 0.410 \end{aligned}$$

		Robust		
	Coeff.	Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	t-stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days (µ)	-4.60	0.30	-15.38	<0.01
2 days (σ)	2.57	0.22	-11.48	<0.01
7 days (µ)	-0.20	0.08	-2.48	0.01
Price (µ)	-2.37	0.17	-14.38	<0.01
Price ( $\sigma$ )	1.55	0.14	-11.35	<0.01
No star (µ)	-4.86	0.33	-14.85	<0.01
No star ( $\sigma$ )	2.15	0.26	8.25	<0.01
* (µ)	-1.70	0.17	-9.98	<0.01
$^{*}\left( \sigma ight)$	0.96	0.15	6.48	<0.01
** (µ)	-0.14	0.10	-1.36	0.17
C (µ)	-1.46	0.14	-10.61	<0.01
C (σ)	1.25	0.13	9.33	<0.01
Β (μ)	-0.46	0.09	-4.94	<0.01

Table 5.16. RUM Mixed Logit estimation results

#### **Summary statistics**

Number of observations = 3000 Number of estimated parameters = 13 AIC = 3967.092 BIC = 4045.175  $\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) = -3295.837$   $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) = -1970.546$   $-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] = 2650.582$   $\rho^2 = 0.402$  $\bar{\rho}^2 = 0.398$ 

Relative sizes of $\sigma$ s	RRM	RUM
2 days	60%	56%
Price	77%	65%
No star	40%	44%
×	30%	56%
С	77%	86%
Shares of people with a		
negative (RRM)/positive (RUM) $\beta$ coefficient	RRM	RUM
2 days	5%	4%
Price	10%	6%
No star	1%	1%
*	0%	4%
С	10%	12%

Table 5.17. Comparison between RUM and RRM MMNL models' estimates

Table 5.18. Mixed Logit comparison

	RRM	RUM
	0.410	0.398
BAS test	RRM is the best model	(p-value<0.001)

#### 5.4.4 Latent Class model

A latent class model has been estimated. The model assumed two latent classes, with different behavioural processes: one class was specified as following a utilitymaximizing choice rule, and the other one followed a regret-minimizing decision rule. Using this type of specification for the LC model, we allow for the use of different underlying choice strategies for each respondent, using a probabilistic approach (Hess et al., 2012). The LC model estimates two sets of parameters for the choice model, in the two individual classes, and the probabilities to belong to each class. Results are displayed in Table 5.19, where LC 1 is utility based and LC 2 is regret based. The estimated coefficient *s* represents the probability to belong to Class 2, and 1 - s is the probability to belong to Class 1. The obtained value for *s* means that there is 49% probability to belong to the regret-based class.

To obtain information about which individual is more likely to belong to Class 1 or to Class 2, covariates have been included in the membership funcion (*s*). Through this formulation is possible to link features of the respondent to the membership probability. In particular, psychological scales have been included as covariates, obtaining one parameter for each scale. Unfortunately, the three parameters are not significant (see Table 5.20), meaning that none of the psychological traits affects the selection of the behavioural process underlying choice.

		Robust		
	Coeff.	Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	t-stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days (LC 1)	-3.06	0.25	-12.13	<0.01
2 days (LC 2)	1.27	0.22	5.68	<0.01
7 days (LC 1)	-0.24	0.11	-2.20	0.03
7 days (LC 2)	-0.04	0.05	-0.84	0.40
Price (LC 1)	-1.70	0.17	-10.31	<0.01
Price (LC 2)	0.68	0.11	6.41	<0.01
No star (LC 1)	-1.76	0.40	-4.38	<0.01
No star (LC 2)	3.27	0.47	6.98	<0.01
* (LC 1)	-0.72	0.24	-3.05	<0.01
* (LC 2)	0.54	0.12	4.41	<0.01
** (LC 1)	-0.03	0.14	-0.20	0.84
** (LC 2)	-0.02	0.07	-0.31	0.75
C (LC 1)	-1.16	0.18	-6.39	<0.01
C (LC 2)	0.50	0.10	4.72	<0.01
B (LC 1)	-0.37	0.10	-3.57	<0.01
B (LC 2)	0.26	0.08	3.26	<0.01
S	0.49	0.11	4.56	<0.01

#### Table 5.19. Latent Class model estimation results

Summary statistics

Number of observations = 3000

Number of estimated parameters = 17

AIC = 4396.401  
BIC = 4498.510  

$$\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) = -3295.837$$
  
 $\mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta}) = -2181.201$   
 $-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})] = 2229.272$   
 $\rho^2 = 0.338$   
 $\bar{\rho}^2 = 0.333$ 

	Coeff.	Robust Asympt.		
Description	estimate	std. error	t-stat	<i>p</i> -value
2 days (LC 1)	-3.05	0.25	-12.17	<0.01
2 days (LC 2)	1.27	0.22	5.68	<0.01
7 days (LC 1)	-0.23	0.11	-2.07	0.04
7 days (LC 2)	-0.04	0.05	-0.80	0.43
Price (LC 1)	-1.69	0.17	-10.22	<0.01
Price (LC 2)	0.69	0.10	6.66	<0.01
No star (LC 1)	-1.74	0.41	-4.24	<0.01
No star (LC 2)	3.28	0.48	6.90	<0.01
* (LC 1)	-0.71	0.24	-2.97	<0.01
* (LC 2)	0.54	0.12	4.60	<0.01
** (LC 1)	-0.03	0.14	-0.22	0.82
** (LC 2)	-0.02	0.07	-0.34	0.74
C (LC 1)	-1.18	0.18	-6.63	<0.01
C (LC 2)	0.49	0.11	4.65	<0.01
B (LC 1)	-0.37	0.10	-3.59	<0.01
B (LC 2)	0.26	0.08	3.34	<0.01
NFA	0.12	0.19	0.63	0.53
Prom-prev	-0.21	0.23	-0.91	0.36
Regret	-0.24	0.17	-1.42	0.15
S	0.95	0.43	2.21	0.03

Table 5.20. Latent Class model with covariates estimation results

### Summary statistics

Number of observations = 3000

Number of estimated parameters = 20

AIC	=	4399.408
BIC	=	4519.535
$\mathcal{L}(eta_0)$	=	-3295.837
$\mathcal{L}(\hat{eta})$	=	-2179.704
$-2[\mathcal{L}(\beta_0) - \mathcal{L}(\hat{\beta})]$	=	2232.266
2م 2	=	0.339
$\bar{ ho}^2$	=	0.333
### 5.5 Discussion

The present study tested the RRM model in the food choice domain through an empirical illustration. The empirical setting concerned the choice of cheese for a house party with friends; the attributes of cheese considered were quality, price, best-by-date and sustainability of the packaging. Several logit models were estimated.

The RRM-MNL model returns coherent estimates of anticipated regret and is not inferior to the RUM-MNL model in terms of goodness of fit and prediction. In fact, the goodness of fit to the data and the cross-validated hit rates are similar for the two models. This tie in model performance is in agreement with Chorus et al. (2014), who found that RUM and RRM perform equally in terms of model fit and prediction ability in nearly one third of the applications, mainly estimating MNL model. In those studies that do show statistically significant differences, these differences tend to be very small. Therefore, our results based on MNL estimation in a food context do not come as an exception, but are in line with previous findings. Moreover, the  $\rho$ -squared values of models are in line with previous estimations in the literature (see Table 4.9).

The RUM and RRM-MNL models have been estimated also on the restricted sample of people that, in a subsequent choice task, had confirmed they would buy the option previously chosen even if they had the possibility to postpone the shopping. On this subsample, the RUM model fits significantly better the data. This result confirms the association between anticipated regret and choice deferral (Beattie et al., 1994).

The estimation of Mixed logit models for RUM and RRM discloses significant random taste heterogeneity in the sample, which the MNL model cannot capture. Moreover, a statistically significant difference in fit between the two formulations is found, the RRM MMNL model providing a better fit to the data. Since the beta coefficients in the RRM model also reflect the degree of asymmetry between regret and rejoice, for this model the mixed logit formulation does not only imply different tastes in population, but also different regret minimization behaviours. Therefore, the estimation of the mixed logit model might favour the RRM model, increasing its fit in comparison to the RUM model.

In the MNL model estimation, the magnitude of parameters displays that the most important attribute levels that affect choice are no star quality with respect to three star quality, followed by 2 days until the best by date with respect to 14 days. These attribute levels produce the higher dis-utility and anticipated regret. This pattern of importance in utility and regret changes looking at estimated coefficients of MMNL models: in the RRM MMNL model, the attribute level affecting regret to the higher extent is two days compared to fourteen days until the best by date; in the RUM MMNL model, the highest (dis-)utility is provided by no star quality compared to three star. Therefore, taking into account taste heterogeneity in the sample, different behaviours are captured by the two models. If regret is modelled, the best by date has a higher impact meaning that higher regret is caused by losses (shorter best by date) than the rejoice provided by gains (longer best by date). On the other hand, if compensatory utility is modelled, the quality has an higher impact on choice.

Some evidence emerges showing that the RRM model can slightly outperform the RUM model when looking at sub-samples based on personality traits that are expected to be related to regret anticipation. This evidence is based on the obtained significant differences in fit of the models; however, this result is not supported by a difference in prediction of the models.

In particular RRM fits better to individuals with high regret sensitivity, need for acceptance, and stronger focus on promotion than on prevention. While intuitively it may seem odd that under promotion focus regret outperforms utility, our results align with earlier findings about what causes regret in different situations (Leder et al., 2013). More specifically, this result confirms that the RRM model captures promotion-related regret, arising when thinking that a non-chosen alternative could have provided a better result. This is a negative outcome that is highly relavant for promotion-oriented individuals (Florack et al., 2013).

Our results for individual regret sensitivity support the validity for the regret minimization model, which outperforms RUM on individuals that are highly sensitive to regret, and thus might wish to avoid it. This result supports the convergent validity of the RRM behavioural framework, which corroborates the findings of Connolly and Butler (2006) that show that there is moderate correspondence between selfreported emotions, including regret and disappointment, and choice behaviour in the context of real-money lotteries.

Despite evidence provided by segmentation, latent class model estimation does not confirm the effect of psychological traits on the use of decision rules taken into account in this study. Including psychological traits as covariates in the LC

#### Empirical study

membership function does not result in any significant effect of these traits on the use of a regret-minimizing or utility-maximizing choice process. Moreover, assuming two latent classes that follow regret-minimization or utility maximization decision rule, the results of LC estimation are quite mixed, with a fifty-fifty percent to belong to one or the other class.

Focusing on the subset of confirmed choices, the RUM MNL model has a better fit than the RRM MNL model. When delaying is justifiable and when difficulty is experienced in trading-off important attributes, regret minimizers tend to defer choice, since they typically associate more regret with choosing than with deferring (Mourali et al., 2018). Accordingly, individuals that do not defer choice are more likely to choose guided by utility maximization, in line with our findings.

Overall, the application of the RRM behavioural process to the choice of food is promising; the larger difference with the linear-in-parameter RUM model appears when fitting the Mixed logit model. Significant heterogeneity among individuals concerning the value attributed to the product characteristics is found, and regret minimizing approach provides a better performance.

### Study limitations and directions for future research

The present study has a number of limitations. First of all, although the scenario was aimed to trigger deliberate comparisons of the alternatives and weighing of attributes, it may be questioned whether food choices, even for special occasions are fully deliberate, or rather rely on simple heuristics. For future research, it could be worthwhile to investigate and compare simultaneously more decision rules taking into account heuristics, in different situations.

Another limitation may come from the experimental settings, particularly from the forced choice format and the experimental design used. The decision to force the choice was made based primarily on the scenario, which referred to an imminent dinner; therefore, the shopping could not be postponed. Since we refer to a very frequently purchased consumer product there is no compelling need for a no-choice option (Carson et al., 1994). Moreover, with the addition of a no-choice option, no information is obtained on the relative attractiveness of the available alternatives in a given choice set when the no-choice option is chosen. This is especially relevant in the estimation of the RRM model, which is based on pairwise comparisons of

alternatives: when the no choice option is chosen, it is not possible to trace back any information about the relative liking of available alternatives (Brazell et al., 2006). The experimental design was generated mainly based on consideration of D-efficiency for the RUM model, but not for efficiency in discriminating between the RUM and the RRM model. Prior to this study we ran some simulation studies with the experimental design we used. That is, we generated simulated observed choices according to RUM with hypothetical values for the attribute-level utility parameters and RRM with hypothetical values for the attribute-level regret parameters. Subsequently, both the RUM and the RRM model were estimated on each dataset with simulated choices, both with the attributes as categorical and with the attributes as linear predictors. We found coherence between the model that generated the simulated choices and the fit of the estimated models: the RUM model fit significantly better data generated according to RUM compared to RRM model, and vice versa (BAS test p-value<0.001 in all cases). Nevertheless, for further studies the use of the experimental design recently proposed by van Cranenburgh et al. (2018) is encouraged.

To the best of our knowledge, the current study is the first one to explore the possibility that food choices could be driven by regret minimization rule. Further research is needed to fully understand how people perceive the importance of food choices and how this is connected to regret minimization.

Further studies are encouraged to explore which psychological traits are likely to favour regret minimization in food related choice situations. The use of different formulations of the RRM model could provide more insights on individuals heterogeneity, i.e. hybrid RUM-RRM models and Generalized RRM model (Chorus, 2014; Chorus et al., 2013b).

It is quite difficult to distil some conclusions about those food contexts in which the RRM framework may better than the RUM framework account for consumer choices, especially given the weak evidence obtained in previous studies, showing that differences in performance between RUM and RRM models are mainly contextand dataset- specific (Chorus et al., 2014). Further research should explore other food products and contexts on which the RRM model may substantially outperform the RUM model.

Most promising contexts in which people more likely minimize regret when choosing could be: i) Situations where food risks may emerge from the choice (e.g. allergies, intolerance); ii) situation involving time constraints (e.g. time limited promotions)

#### Empirical study

such as in Wang et al. (2017); iii) contexts in which it is to be expected that others will also evaluate one's choice on a number of relevant attributes in comparison to other alternatives that are known to be available (e.g., choice of restaurant, buying a gift); iv) contexts with a strong moral component, as suggested by Chorus (2015) (e.g., different degrees of animal friendliness, see de Jonge et al. (2015)).

## Conclusion

The present study introduced the RRM model in the food choice domain through an empirical illustration. Furthermore, the food choice process and factors affecting it were discussed.

Assuming homogeneity in choices among individuals, the RRM model returns coherent estimates of anticipated regret and is not inferior to the RUM model in terms of goodness of fit and prediction. If heterogeneity in consumers' choices is allowed for, the RRM (mixed logit) model has a significantly better fit than its RUM counterpart.

These results can be helpful for driving strategies both in marketing and public policy making, to adapt products, messages, advertising to consumers that rely on different choice processes. Indeed, understanding how people make their food choices is important for effectively develop communication messages on healthy eating (Connors et al., 2001). Furthermore, market shares predictions and marketing actions are based on consumer choice modelling (Dieckmann and Dippold, 2009). In particular, segmentation based on consumers' choice process is of great interest for marketers and policy makers. For instance, when approaching loss-averse consumers, improving disadvantages will be more effective than further improve an advantage of an existing product (Neumann and Böckenholt, 2014). Also, knowing which kind of personal and situational features are more likely to trigger regret minimization allow to target specific groups or context that better respond to regret anticipation. This could be elicited through health or weight reduction in-store campaigns, accurate shelf displays that induce people to take into account helthier compromise alternatives, revisited restaurants' menu presentation.

# Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank Professor Luca Camanzi for being my tutor during the three years of PhD course.

A special thanks goes to the MCB group at the Wageningen University and Research, which provided funds and infrastructures for the data collection.

Thanks to Professor Hans van Trijp, Dr. Arnout Fischer and Professor Mario Mazzocchi for collaborating in the development of the empirical study.

Finally, my greatest gratitude goes to dr. Ivo Van der Lans, which helped me in developing my thesis, answering all my doubts and being a trustworthy guide for me. Bedankt Ivo!

Appendix A - Questionnaire

Dear student, thank you for agreeing to take part in this survey. The collected data will be helpful for a study on consumer choice of cheese. Collected data are completely anonymous and will only be reported at an aggregate level. Filling the questionnaire will take less than fifteen minutes. Press the bottom right button to start the survey.

Please, carefully read the text below.

Imagine you have invited some friends to your home, everybody will bring something nice to eat or drink, you agreed to contribute with some cheese. You do not know for sure when your friends will come, but it is going to be within a week. You are at the supermarket, you know you are going to be busy during the next days, therefore you want to do the shopping today. Assume that you are only expected to bring one type of cheese.

You will see ten assortment of three different cheeses to choose from.

Types of cheese differ based on 4 attributes: Quality, Sustainability of the packaging, Price and Preservability.

**Quality** has been rated by the Dutch Dairy Association, it is indicated with stars and refers to the general quality of the cheese: No stars quality refers to cheeses that are either not tested or do not comply with one or more standards of quality considered by the Association; \* quality refers to cheeses that meet the basic quality standards considered by the Association; \*\* quality refers to average quality cheeses quality refers to high quality cheeses.

**Sustainability** of the packaging is indicated with three letter grades: A, B and C. A refers to packaging of which 80% to 100% of its components could be recycled; B refers to packaging of which 20% to 80% of its components could be recycled; C refers to packaging of which up to 20% of its components could be recycled.

**Price** is the price for 100 grams, it can vary between  $\in$  1.00 and  $\in$  3.30.

**Preservability** is expressed through the number of days left before the best by date, it ranges between 2 and 14 days.

You will see ten different assortments, each with three cheese alternatives. We ask you to make a choice from each of these assortments. Please, carefully consider every choice you make. Please, think about the choice you would make if you would be in the previously sketched scenario - get together with friends in your house sometime during the next seven days - in real life.

General Quality has been rated by the Dutch Dairy Association; Sustainability of the packaging refers to the percentage of packaging components that can be recycled; Price for 100 grams; Preservability is indicated through the number of days left before the best by date.

• According to your preferences, choose one option from the three shown below:

Cheese	1	Cheese 2	?		Cheese 3			
Quality	**	Quality	no star		Quality	***		
Sust. of pack.	С	Sust. of pack.	С		Sust. of pack.	В		
Price	€ 2.60	Price	€ 1.20		Price	€ 2.90		
Preservability	14 days	Preservability	7 days		Preservability	14 days		
0		0			0			

- [... Ten choice sets like the previous one were displayed]
  - Now imagine you have the possibility to buy nothing, and come back for the shopping another time, or in another shop, when or where there might be other cheeses available.
     Would you still buy the cheese you chose before? Below you can find the cheeses you have just chosen, please for each cheese indicate whether you would buy it or buy nothing.

Cheese 3							
Quality	**						
Sust. of pack.	В						
Price	€ 2.20						
Preservability	7 days						

O Buy

Not buy

[... Ten questions like the previous one were displayed, one for each option chosen]

Please, give a rate of the **Quality** levels according to your preferences, indicate with 0 the least preferred level, and with 10 the most preferred level, the remaining level's ratings should stay somewhere in between:

	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
*** three stars	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
** two stars	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\odot$	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$	$\odot$	$\odot$	$^{\circ}$	$\odot$	$\odot$
* one star	0	0	0	0	0	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$	0	$\circ$	$\circ$
No star	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

How much is the difference between your most preferred and least preferred Quality level important in the choice? Indicate a value between 0 - not important at all, and 10 - extremely important.

0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Importance of the difference between the most preferred and least preferred level										

### [... Replicated for price, sustainability and preservability]

How much do you agree with the following statements?

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
If my guests will not appreciate the cheese I bought, I would regret the choice I made.	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$^{\circ}$	$\circ$
I like cheese.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$^{\circ}$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
In general, I care about choosing the best cheese.	$\circ$	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$^{\circ}$	0
To me, it was important to make the right decision in the choice tasks presented during the experiment.	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$	0	$\odot$	0	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$

The questionnaire is almost finished, now we ask you to answer some questions about yourself, these are not directly related to choice of cheese.

How much do you agree with the following statements?

				Neither agree	o		
	disagree	Disagree	disagree	nor disagree	agree	Agree	agree
I typically focus on the success I hope to achieve in the future.	0	0	$\circ$	0	$\circ$	$^{\circ}$	0
I often think about how I will achieve academic success.	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$
I am anxious that I will fall short of my responsibilities and obligations.	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$^{\circ}$	$\bigcirc$
I often worry that I will fail to accomplish my academic goals.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$\odot$	$\bigcirc$	$\odot$	$\bigcirc$	$\odot$
I frequently imagine how I will achieve my hopes and aspirations.	0	0	$\circ$	0	$\circ$	$\bigcirc$	$\circ$
I frequently think about how I can prevent failures in my life.	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

#### How much do you agree with the following statements?

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
When I think about how I'm doing in life, I often assess opportunities I have passed up.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Once I make a decision, I don't look back.	$\odot$	$\bigcirc$	$^{\circ}$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	0	$\bigcirc$
If I make a choice and it turns out well, I still feel like something of a failure if I find out that another choice would have turned out better.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Whenever I make a choice, I try to get information about how the other alternatives turned out.	0	$^{\circ}$	0	$^{\circ}$	0	$^{\circ}$	$^{\circ}$
Whenever I make a choice, I'm curious about what would have happened if I had chosen differently.	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### How much do you agree with the following statements?

	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Somewhat disagree	Neither agree nor disagree	Somewhat agree	Agree	Strongly agree
My feelings are easily hurt when I feel that others do not accept me.	$\circ$	$\circ$	0	$\circ$	0	$^{\circ}$	$\circ$
I try hard not to do things that will make other people avoid or reject me.	$^{\circ}$	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$	$^{\circ}$	$\bigcirc$	$^{\circ}$	$\circ$
I want other people to accept me.	$\circ$	0	$\circ$	$\circ$	$\circ$	$^{\circ}$	0
If other people don't seem to accept me, I don't let it bother me.	0	0	0	0	0	$\bigcirc$	$\bigcirc$

How often do you eat cheese?

- **O** Every day or almost every day
- Once or twice a week
- O Once a month
- O More rarely

Do you follow any restricted diet or have allergy/intolerance to lactose?

- O No
- O Allergic/intolerant to lactose
- Vegetarian
- O Vegan
- O Other, namely \_\_\_\_\_

### Gender

- O Female
- O Male

Age\_\_\_\_\_

Are you a master or a bachelor student?

- **O** I am a bachelor student
- **O** I am a master student
- O Other, namely \_\_\_\_\_

You reached the end of the questionnaire, a very last question we ask you to think to a situation in which you are choosing food from different products in the same category, and you feel that if you choose the wrong one you are going to regret the choice. Which product comes to your mind and why?

# Bibliography

- Abraham, C. and Sheeran, P. (2003). Acting on intentions: The role of anticipated regret. *British Journal of social psychology*, 42(4):495–511.
- Adamowicz, W. L. and Swait, J. D. (2013). Are food choices really habitual? Integrating habits, variety seeking and compensatory choice in a utility maximizing framework. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 95(1):17–41.
- Ahlgren, M. K., Gustafsson, I.-B., and Hall, G. (2006). Buyers' Demands for Ready Meals - Influenced by Gender and Who Will Eat Them. *Journal of Foodservice*, 17(5-6):205–211.
- Aizaki, H., Nanseki, T., and Zhou, H. (2013). Japanese consumer preferences for milk certified as good agricultural practice. *Animal Science Journal*, 84(1):82–89.
- Aizaki, H., Sawada, M., Sato, K., and Kikkawa, T. (2012). A noncompensatory choice experiment analysis of japanese consumers' purchase preferences for beef. *Applied Economics Letters*, 19(5):439–444.
- Albisu, L. M., Gracia, A., and Sanjuán, A. I. (2012). Demographics and Food Consumption: Empirical Evidence. *The Oxford Handbook of the Economics of Food Consumption and Policy*, pages 1–27.
- Alemu, M. H., Mørkbak, M. R., Olsen, S. B., and Jensen, C. L. (2013). Attending to the Reasons for Attribute Non-attendance in Choice Experiments. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 54(3):333–359.
- Antonides, G. and Cramer, L. (2013). Impact of limited cognitive capacity and feelings of guilt and excuse on the endowment effects for hedonic and utilitarian types of foods. *Appetite*, 68:51–55.

- Asp, E. H. (1999). Factors affecting food decisions made by individual consumers. *Food Policy*, 24(2-3):287–294.
- Baba, Y., Kallas, Z., Costa-Font, M., Gil, J. M., and Realini, C. E. (2016). Impact of hedonic evaluation on consumers' preferences for beef attributes including its enrichment with n-3 and cla fatty acids. *Meat science*, 111:9–17.
- Balcombe, K., Bradley, D., Fraser, I., and Hussein, M. (2016). Consumer preferences regarding country of origin for multiple meat products. *Food Policy*, 64:49–62.
- Balcombe, K., Fraser, I., and Di Falco, S. (2010). Traffic lights and food choice: A choice experiment examining the relationship between nutritional food labels and price. *Food policy*, 35(3):211–220.
- Balcombe, K., Fraser, I., Williams, L., and McSorley, E. (2017). Examining the relationship between visual attention and stated preferences: A discrete choice experiment using eye-tracking. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 144:238–257.
- Banerji, A., Chowdhury, S., De Groote, H., Meenakshi, J. V., Haleegoah, J., and Ewool, M. (2018). Eliciting Willingness-to-Pay through Multiple Experimental Procedures: Evidence from Lab-in-the-Field in Rural Ghana. *Canadian Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 66(2):231–254.
- Barreiro-Hurle, J., Gracia, A., and De-Magistris, T. (2010). The effects of multiple health and nutrition labels on consumer food choices. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 61(2):426–443.
- Bazzani, C., Caputo, V., Nayga, R. M., and Canavari, M. (2017). Revisiting consumers' valuation for local versus organic food using a non-hypothetical choice experiment: Does personality matter? *Food Quality and Preference*, 62(September 2016):144–154.
- Beattie, J., Baron, J., Hershey, J. C., and Spranca, M. D. (1994). Psychological Determinants of Decision Attitude. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 7:129–144.
- Beck, M. J., Chorus, C. G., Rose, J. M., and Hensher, D. A. (2013). Vehicle purchasing behaviour of individuals and groups regret or reward? *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, 47(PART3):475–492.

- Bell, D. E. (1982). Regret in Decision Making under Uncertainty. *Operations Research*, 30(5):961–981.
- Bell, D. R. and Lattin, J. M. (2000). Looking for Loss Aversion in Scanner Panel Data: The Confounding Effect of Price Response Heterogeneity. *Marketing Science*, 19(2):185–200.
- Ben-Akiva, M. and Swait, J. (1986). The Akaike likelihood ratio index. *Transportation Science*, 20(2):133–136.
- Berg, N. and Preston, K. L. (2017). Willingness to pay for local food?: Consumer preferences and shopping behavior at Otago Farmers Market. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 103:343–361.
- Bettman, J. R. (1979). An information processing theory of consumer choice. Addison-Wesley Pub.
- Bialkova, S., Grunert, K. G., Juhl, H. J., Wasowicz-Kirylo, G., Stysko-Kunkowska, M., and van Trijp, H. C. (2014). Attention mediates the effect of nutrition label information on consumers' choice. evidence from a choice experiment involving eye-tracking. *Appetite*, 76:66–75.
- Bienenfeld, J. M., Botkins, E. R., Roe, B. E., and Batte, M. T. (2016). Country of origin labeling for complex supply chains: the case for labeling the location of different supply chain links. *Agricultural Economics*, 47(2):205–213.
- Bierlaire, M. (2016). PythonBiogeme : a short introduction. Report TRANSP-OR 160706, Series on Biogeme. Transport and Mobility Laboratory, School of Architecture, Civil and Environmental Engineering, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Switzerland.
- Bilsky, W. and Schwartz, S. H. (1994). Values and personality. *European Journal of Personality*, 8(3):163–181.
- Boeri, M. and Masiero, L. (2014). Regret minimisation and utility maximisation in a freight transport context. *Transportmetrica A: Transport Science*, 10(6):548–560.

- Bonke, J. (1996). Economic influences on food choice non-convenience versus convenience food consumption. In *Food choice, acceptance and consumption,* pages 293–318. Springer.
- Booth-Kewley, S. and Vickers Jr, R. R. (1994). Associations between major domains of personality and health behavior. *Journal of personality*, 62(3):281–298.
- Bouchard Jr., T. J. (2004). Genetic influence on human psychological traits: A survey. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 13(4):148–151.
- Brazell, J. D., Diener, C. G., Karniouchina, E., Moore, W. L., Séverin, V., and Uldry,
  P. F. (2006). The no-choice option and dual response choice designs. *Marketing Letters*, 17(4):255–268.
- Brooks, K. and Lusk, J. L. (2010). Stated and revealed preferences for organic and cloned milk: combining choice experiment and scanner data. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 92(4):1229–1241.
- Brunsø, K., Fjord, T., and Grunert, K. (2002). Consumers' food choice and quality perception. *The Aarhus School of Business*, Working pa:1–60.
- Brunsø, K. and Grunert, K. G. (1995). Development and testing of a cross-culturally valid instrument: Food-related life style. *NA Advances in Consumer Research. eds. Frank R. Kardes and Mita Sujan, Provo, UT : Association for Consumer Research,* 22:475–480.
- Brunsø, K., Scholderer, J., and Grunert, K. G. (2004). Testing relationships between values and food-related lifestyle: Results from two European countries. *Appetite*, 43(2):195–205.
- Byrnes, N. K. and Hayes, J. E. (2013). Personality factors predict spicy food liking and intake. *Food Quality and Preference*, 28(1):213–221.
- Candel, M. (2001). Consumers' convenience orientation towards meal preparation: conceptualization and measurement. *Appetite*, 36(1):15–28.
- Caputo, V., Lusk, J. L., and Nayga, R. M. (2018a). Choice experiments are not conducted in a vacuum: The effects of external price information on choice behavior. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 145:335–351.

- Caputo, V., Van Loo, E. J., Scarpa, R., Nayga, R. M., and Verbeke, W. (2018b). Comparing Serial, and Choice Task Stated and Inferred Attribute Non-Attendance Methods in Food Choice Experiments. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 69(1):35– 57.
- Carrillo, E., Prado-Gascó, V., Fiszman, S., and Varela, P. (2012). How personality traits and intrinsic personal characteristics influence the consumer's choice of reduced-calorie food. *Food Research International*, 49(2):792–797.
- Carroll, R. and Vallen, B. (2014). Compromise and attraction effects in food choice. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 38(6):636–641.
- Carson, R. T., Louviere, J. J., Anderson, D. A., Arabie, P., Bunch, D. S., Hensher, D. A., Johnson, R. M., Kuhfeld, W. F., Steinberg, D., Swait, J., Timmermans, H., and Wiley, J. B. (1994). Experimental analysis of choice. *Marketing Letters*, 5(4):351–367.
- Caussade, S., de Dios Ortúzar, J., Rizzi, L. I., and Hensher, D. A. (2005). Assessing the influence of design dimensions on stated choice experiment estimates. *Transportation research part B: Methodological*, 39(7):621–640.
- Chen, J., Hui, E., and Wang, Z. (2017). More promotion-focused, more happy? Regulatory focus, post-purchase evaluations and regret in the real estate market. *Urban Studies*, 54(1):251–268.
- Chen, M. F. (2007). Consumer attitudes and purchase intentions in relation to organic foods in Taiwan: Moderating effects of food-related personality traits. *Food Quality and Preference*, 18(7):1008–1021.
- Chorus, C. G. (2010). A new model of random regret minimization. *European Journal* of Transport and Infrastructure Research, 10(2):181–196.
- Chorus, C. G. (2012a). *Random Regret-based discrete choice modeling: A tutorial.* Springer Science and Business Media, Heidelberg, Germany.
- Chorus, C. G. (2012b). Random Regret Minimization: An Overview of Model Properties and Empirical Evidence. *Transport Reviews*, 32(1):75–92.
- Chorus, C. G. (2014). A generalized random regret minimization model. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 68:224–238.

- Chorus, C. G. (2015). Models of moral decision making: Literature review and research agenda for discrete choice analysis. *Journal of Choice Modelling*, 16:69–85.
- Chorus, C. G., Arentze, T. A., and Timmermans, H. J. P. (2008). A Random Regret-Minimization model of travel choice. *Transportation Research Part B: Methodological*, 42(1):1–18.
- Chorus, C. G., Koetse, M. J., and Hoen, A. (2013a). Consumer preferences for alternative fuel vehicles: Comparing a utility maximization and a regret minimization model. *Energy Policy*, 61:901–908.
- Chorus, C. G. and Rose, J. M. (2011). Selecting a date: a matter of regret and compromises. *Paper accepted for presentation at the second International Choice Modelling Conference (ICMC)*.
- Chorus, C. G., Rose, J. M., and Hensher, D. A. (2013b). Regret minimization or utility maximization: It depends on the attribute. *Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design*, 40(1):154–169.
- Chorus, C. G., van Cranenburgh, S., and Dekker, T. (2014). Random regret minimization for consumer choice modeling: Assessment of empirical evidence. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(11):2428–2436.
- Chowdhury, S., Meenakshi, J., Tomlins, K. I., and Owori, C. (2011). Are consumers in developing countries willing to pay more for micronutrient-dense biofortified foods? evidence from a field experiment in uganda. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 93(1):83–97.
- Cliceri, D., Spinelli, S., Dinnella, C., Prescott, J., and Monteleone, E. (2018). The influence of psychological traits, beliefs and taste responsiveness on implicit attitudes toward plant- and animal-based dishes among vegetarians, flexitarians and omnivores. *Food Quality and Preference*, 68(December 2017):276–291.
- Cohen, D. and Farley, T. a. (2008). Eating as an automatic behavior. *Preventing chronic disease*, 5(1):A23.
- Conner, T. S., Thompson, L. M., Knight, R. L., Flett, J. A. M., Richardson, A. C., and Brookie, K. L. (2017). The Role of Personality Traits in Young Adult Fruit and Vegetable Consumption. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8(February):1–11.

- Connolly, T. and Butler, D. (2006). Regret in economic and psychological theories of choice. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 19(2):139–154.
- Connors, M., Bisogni, C. A., Sobal, J., and Devine, C. M. (2001). Managing values in personal food systems. *Appetite*, 36(3):189–200.
- Coricelli, G., Critchley, H. D., Joffily, M., O'Doherty, J. P., Sirigu, A., and Dolan, R. J. (2005). Regret and its avoidance: a neuroimaging study of choice behavior. *Nature neuroscience*, 8(9):1255–62.
- Costa Jr, P. T. and McCrae, R. R. (1992). Four ways five factors are basic. *Personality and individual differences*, 13(6):653–665.
- Cramer, L. and Antonides, G. (2011). Endowment effects for hedonic and utilitarian food products. *Food Quality and Preference*, 22(1):3–10.
- Dawes, R. M. (1964). Social selection based on multidimensional criteria. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 68(1):104.
- de Boer, M., McCarthy, M., Cowan, C., and Ryan, I. (2004). The influence of lifestyle characteristics and beliefs about convenience food on the demand for convenience foods in the Irish market. *Food Quality and Preference*, 15(2):155–165.
- de Jong, N., Ocké, M. C., Branderhorst, H. A. C., and Friele, R. (2003). Demographic and lifestyle characteristics of functional food consumers and dietary supplement users. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 89(02):273.
- de Jonge, J., van der Lans, I. A., and van Trijp, H. C. (2015). Different shades of grey: Compromise products to encourage animal friendly consumption. *Food Quality and Preference*, 45:87–99.
- Dhar, R. and Gorlin, M. (2013). A dual-system framework to understand preference construction processes in choice. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 23(4):528–542.
- Dhar, R. and Simonson, I. (2003). The Effect of Forced Choice on Choice. *Behavior Research Methods & Instrumentation*, 40(2):146–160.
- Dieckmann, A. and Dippold, K. (2009). Compensatory versus noncompensatory models for predicting consumer preferences. *Judgment and Decision Making*, 4(3):200–213.

- Edenbrandt, A. K., Gamborg, C., and Thorsen, B. J. (2018). Consumers' preferences for bread: Transgenic, cisgenic, organic or pesticide-free? *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 69(1):121–141.
- Edwards, W. (1954). The theory of decision making. *Psychological Bulletin*, 51(4):380–417.
- Eertmans, A., Victoir, A., Vansant, G., and Van den Bergh, O. (2005). Food-related personality traits, food choice motives and food intake: Mediator and moderator relationships. *Food Quality and Preference*, 16(8):714–726.
- Emberger-Klein, A. and Menrad, K. (2018). The effect of information provision on supermarket consumers' use of and preferences for carbon labels in germany. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 172:253–263.
- Florack, A., Keller, J., and Palcu, J. (2013). Regulatory focus in economic contexts. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 38:127–137.
- Ford, J. K., Schmitt, N., Schechtman, S. L., Hults, B. M., and Doherty, M. L. (1989). Process tracing methods: Contributions, problems, and neglected research questions. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 43(1):75–117.
- Frewer, L. and Van Trijp, H. (2006). *Understanding consumers of food products*. Woodhead Publishing.
- Furst, T., Connors, M., Bisogni, C. A., Sobal, J., and Falk, L. W. (1996). Food choice: a conceptual model of the process. *Appetite*, 26(3):247–65.
- Garretson, J. A. and Burton, S. (2000). Effects of Nutrition Facts Panel Values, Nutrition Claims, and Health Claims on Consumer Attitudes, Perceptions of Disease-Related Risks, and Trust. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 19(2):213– 227.
- Gilbride, T. J. and Allenby, G. M. (2004). A Choice Model with Conjunctive, Disjunctive, and Compensatory Screening Rules. *Marketing Science*, 23(3):391–406.
- Goetzke, B. I. and Spiller, A. (2014). Health-improving lifestyles of organic and functional food consumers. *British Food Journal*, 116(3):510–526.

- Goldberg, L. R. and Strycker, L. A. (2002). Personality traits and eating habits: The assessment of food preferences in a large community sample. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(1):49–65.
- Gracia, A., Barreiro-Hurlé, J., and Galán, B. L. (2014). Are local and organic claims complements or substitutes? a consumer preferences study for eggs. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 65(1):49–67.
- Grebitus, C., Steiner, B., and Veeman, M. (2015). The roles of human values and generalized trust on stated preferences when food is labeled with environmental footprints: Insights from germany. *Food Policy*, 52:84–91.
- Grebitus, C., Steiner, B., and Veeman, M. M. (2016). Paying for sustainability: A cross-cultural analysis of consumers' valuations of food and non-food products labeled for carbon and water footprints. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 63:50–58.
- Green, P. E. and Srinivasan, V. (1978). Con joint Analysis in Consumer Research: Issues and Outlook. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 5(2):103–123.
- Grunert, K. G. (2005). Food quality and safety: consumer perception and demand. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 32(3):369–391.
- Grunert, K. G. (2006). Future trends and consumer lifestyles with regard to meat consumption. *Meat Science*, 74(1):149–160.
- Grunert, K. G. (2011). Sustainability in the Food Sector: A Consumer Behaviour Perspective. *Int. J. Food System Dynamics*, 2(3):207–218.
- Grunert, K. G., Sonntag, W., Glanz-Chanos, V., and Forum, S. (2018). Consumer interest in environmental impact, safety, health and animal welfare aspects of modern pig production: Results of a cross-national choice experiment. *Meat science*, 137:123–129.
- Guilford, J. (1959). Personality. McGraw Hill, New York.
- Hall, S., Crowe, E., and Higgins, E. T. (1997). Regulatory focus and strategic inclinations: Promotion and prevention in decision-making. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 69(2):117–132.

- Hardie, B. G. S., Johnson, E. J., and Fader, P. S. (1993). Modeling Loss Aversion and Reference Dependence Effects on Brand Choice. *Marketing Science*, 12(4):378–394.
- Hasselbach, J. L. and Roosen, J. (2015). Consumer heterogeneity in the willingness to pay for local and organic food. *Journal of food products marketing*, 21(6):608–625.
- Heiman, A. and Lowengart, O. (2014). Calorie information effects on consumers' food choices : Sources of observed gender heterogeneity. *Journal of Business Research*, 67(5):964–973.
- Hempel, C. and Hamm, U. (2016). Local and/or organic: a study on consumer preferences for organic food and food from different origins. *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 40(6):732–741.
- Hensher, D. A., Rose, J. M., and Greene, W. H. (2015). *Applied choice analysis. Second edition.* Cambridge University Press.
- Herman, C. P., Roth, D. a., and Polivy, J. (2003). Effects of the presence of others on food intake: a normative interpretation. *Psychological bulletin*, 129(6):873–86.
- Hess, S. (2012). Rethinking heterogeneity: the role of attitudes, decision rules and information processing strategies. *Transportation Letters*, 4(2):105–113.
- Hess, S., Beck, M. J., and Chorus, C. G. (2014). Contrasts between utility maximisation and regret minimisation in the presence of opt out alternatives. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 66(1):1–12.
- Hess, S., Stathopoulos, A., and Daly, A. (2012). Allowing for heterogeneous decision rules in discrete choice models: An approach and four case studies. *Transportation*, 39(3):565–591.
- Higgins (1997). Beyond pleasure and pain. American Psychologist, 52(12):1280-300.
- Higgins, E. T. (1998). Promotion and prevention: Regulatory focus as a motivational principle. *Advnces in experimental social psychology*, 30:1–46.
- Higgins, E. T., Friedman, R. S., Harlow, R. E., Idson, L. C., Ayduk, O. N., and Taylor, A. (2001). Achievement orientations from subjective histories of success: Promotion pride versus prevention pride. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 31(1):3–23.

- Higgs, S. (2015). Social norms and their influence on eating behaviours. *Appetite*, 86:38-44.
- Higgs, S. and Thomas, J. (2016). Social influences on eating. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, 9:1–6.
- Hoek, A. C., Luning, P. A., Stafleu, A., and De Graaf, C. (2004). Food-related lifestyle and health attitudes of Dutch vegetarians, non-vegetarian consumers of meat substitutes, and meat consumers. *Appetite*, 42(3):265–272.
- Holmes, T. J. and Yan, R. (2012). Predicting consumers' preferences for and likely buying of local and organic produce: results of a choice experiment. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, 18(5):369–384.
- Hu, W. et al. (2006). Effects of endogenous task complexity and the endowed bundle on stated choice. In American Agricultural Economics Association (AAEA) annual meeting, Long Beach, California. Retrieved from http://ageconsearch.umn. edu/handle/21437.
- Ison, J. and Kontoleon, A. (2014). Consumer preferences for functional gm foods in the uk: A choice experiment. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*.
- Ivanic, A. S. (2016). To Choose (Not) to Eat Healthy: Social Norms, Self-affirmation, and Food Choice. *Psychology & Marketing*, 33(8):595–607.
- Janssen, M. and Hamm, U. (2012). Product labelling in the market for organic food: Consumer preferences and willingness-to-pay for different organic certification logos. *Food quality and preference*, 25(1):9–22.
- John, O. P. and Srivastava, S. (1999). The big five trait taxonomy: History, measurement, and theoretical perspectives. *Handbook of personality: Theory and research*, 2(1999):102-138.
- Joong, Y., Njite, D., and Hancer, M. (2013). Anticipated emotion in consumers' intentions to select eco-friendly restaurants : Augmenting the theory of planned behavior. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 34:255–262.

- Jurado, F. and Gracia, A. (2017). Does the valuation of nutritional claims differ among consumers? insights from spain. *Nutrients*, 9(2):132.
- Kahneman, D. (2003). Maps of Bounded Rationality : Psychology for Behavioral Economics. *The American Economic Review*, 93(5):1449–1475.
- Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., and Thaler, R. H. (1990). Experimental tests of the endowment effect and the coase theorem. *Journal of political Economy*, 98(6):1325–1348.
- Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., and Thaler, R. H. (1991). The Endowment Effect, Loss Aversion, and Status Quo Bias. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 5(1):193–206.
- Kahneman, D. and Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect Theory : An Analysis of Decision under Risk. *Econometrica*, 47(2):263–292.
- Kahneman, D. and Tversky, A. (1984). Choices, Values, and Frames. *American Psychologist*, 39(4):341–350.
- Kalyanaram, G. and Winer, R. S. (1995). Empirical Generalizations from Reference Price Research. *Marketing Science*, 14(3):G161–G169.
- Kehagia, O. C., Colmer, C., and Chryssochoidis, M. G. (2017). Consumer valuation of traceability labels: a cross-cultural study in germany and greece. *British Food Journal*, 119(4):803–816.
- Kim, S.-W., Brorsen, B. W., and Lusk, J. (2018). Not everybody prefers organic food: unobserved heterogeneity in us consumers' preference for organic apple and milk. *Applied Economics Letters*, 25(1):9–14.
- Kim, Y. G., Suh, B. W., and Eves, A. (2010). The relationships between food-related personality traits, satisfaction, and loyalty among visitors attending food events and festivals. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 29(2):216–226.
- Klapper, D., Ebling, C., and Temme, J. (2005). Another look at loss aversion in brand choice data: Can we characterize the loss averse consumer? *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 22(3):239–254.

- Knetsch, J. L. and Sinden, J. A. (1984). Willingness to pay and compensation demanded:
   Experimental evidence of an unexpected disparity in measures of value. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 99(3):507–521.
- Koistinen, L., Pouta, E., Heikkilä, J., Forsman-Hugg, S., Kotro, J., Mäkelä, J., and Niva, M. (2013). The impact of fat content, production methods and carbon footprint information on consumer preferences for minced meat. *Food Quality and Preference*, 29(2):126–136.
- Kozup, J. C., Creyer, E. H., and Burton, S. (2003). Making Healthful Food Choices: The Influence of Health Claims and Nutrition Information on Consumers' Evaluations of Packaged Food Products and Restaurant Menu Items. *Journal of Marketing*, 67(2):19–34.
- Lancaster, K. J. (1966). A new approach to consumer theory. *Journal of Political Economy*, 74(2):132–157.
- Lappalainen, R., Kearney, J., and Gibney, M. (1998). A pan EU survey of consumer attitudes to food, nutrition and health: An overview. *Food Quality and Preference*, 9(6):467–478.
- Lau, D., Krondl, M., and Coleman, P. (1984). Psychological factors affecting food selection. In *Nutrition and behavior*, pages 397–415. Springer.
- Leary, M. R., Kelly, K. M., Cottrell, C. a., and Schreindorfer, L. S. (2013). Construct validity of the need to belong scale: mapping the nomological network. *Journal of personality assessment*, 95(6):610–24.
- Leder, S., Florack, A., and Keller, J. (2013). Thoughts About Possible Failure: Regulatory Focus and the Anticipation of Regret. *Social Cognition*, 31(3):349–373.
- Leong, W. and Hensher, D. A. (2015). Contrasts of Relative Advantage Maximisation with Random Utility Maximisation and Regret Minimisation. *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, 49(1):167–186(20).
- List, J. A. (2004). Neoclassical Theory versus Prospect Theory: Evidence from the Marketplace. *Econometrica*, 72(2):615–625.

- Lockwood, P., Jordan, C. H., and Kunda, Z. (2002). Motivation by positive or negative role models: regulatory focus determines who will best inspire us. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 83(4):854–864.
- Loomes, G. and Sugden, R. (1982). Regret theory : An alternative theory of rational choice under uncertainty. *Wiley on behalf of the Royal Economic Society*, 92(368):805–824.
- Luce, R. D. (1959). Individual choice behavior. Wiley: New York.
- Mancini, P., Marchini, A., and Simeone, M. (2017). Which are the sustainable attributes affecting the real consumption behaviour? Consumer understanding and choices. *British Food Journal*, 119(8):1839–1853.
- Marra, C. A., Harvard, S., Grubisic, M., Galo, J., Clarke, A., Elliott, S., and Lynd, L. D. (2017). Consumer preferences for food allergen labeling. *Allergy, Asthma and Clinical Immunology*, 13(1):1–11.
- Marschak, J. (1960). Binary choice constraints on random utility indicators. Technical report, Stanford Symposium in mathematical methods in the social sciences.
- Marshall, D. and Bell, R. (2004). Relating the food involvement scale to demographic variables, food choice and other constructs. *Food Quality and Preference*, 15(7-8 SPEC.ISS.):871–879.
- Martins, Y. and Pliner, P. (2005). Human food choices: An examination of the factors underlying acceptance/rejection of novel and familiar animal and nonanimal foods. *Appetite*, 45(3):214–224.
- Mazumdar, T., Raj, S., and Sinha, I. (2005). Reference Price Research: Review and Propositions. *Journal of Marketing*, 69(4):84–102.
- McFadden, D. (1973). Conditional logit analysis of qualitative choice behavior.
- McFadden, D. (1981). Econometric models of probabilistic choice. *Structural analysis* of discrete data with econometric applications, 198272.
- McFadden, D. (2000). Economic Choices. Prize Lecture.

- Meenakshi, J. V., Banerji, A., Manyong, V., Tomlins, K., Mittal, N., and Hamukwala, P. (2012). Using a discrete choice experiment to elicit the demand for a nutritious food: Willingness-to-pay for orange maize in rural Zambia. *Journal of Health Economics*, 31(1):62–71.
- Mela, D. J. (1999). Food choice and intake: the human factor. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 58(3):513–521.
- Moro, D., Veneziani, M., Sckokai, P., and Castellari, E. (2015). Consumer willingness to pay for catechin-enriched yogurt: Evidence from a stated choice experiment. *Agribusiness*, 31(2):243–258.
- Mourali, M., Yang, Z., Pons, F., and Hassay, D. (2018). Consumer power and choice deferral: The role of anticipated regret. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, 35(1):81–99.
- Mugera, A., Burton, M., and Downsborough, E. (2017). Consumer preference and willingness to pay for a local label attribute in western australian fresh and processed food products. *Journal of Food Products Marketing*, 23(4):452–472.
- Myrland, Ø., Trondsen, T., Johnston, R. S., and Lund, E. (2000). Determinants of seafood consumption in Norway: Lifestyle, revealed preferences, and barriers to consumption. *Food Quality and Preference*, 11(3):169–188.
- Nestle, M. and Jacobson, M. F. (2000). Halting the obesity epidemic: a public health policy approach. *Public health reports*, 115(1):12.
- Neumann, N. and Böckenholt, U. (2014). A meta-analysis of loss aversion in product choice. *Journal of Retailing*, 90(2):182–197.
- Nie, C. and Zepeda, L. (2011). Lifestyle segmentation of US food shoppers to examine organic and local food consumption. *Appetite*, 57(1):28–37.
- Nocella, G. and Kennedy, O. (2012). Food health claims What consumers understand. *Food Policy*, 37(5):571–580.
- Olesen, I., Alfnes, F., Røra, M. B., and Kolstad, K. (2010). Eliciting consumers' willingness to pay for organic and welfare-labelled salmon in a non-hypothetical choice experiment. *Livestock Science*, 127(2-3):218–226.

- Olsen, N. V., Menichelli, E., Sørheim, O., and Næs, T. (2012). Likelihood of buying healthy convenience food: An at-home testing procedure for ready-to-heat meals. *Food Quality and Preference*, 24(1):171–178.
- O'Sullivan, C., Scholderer, J., and Cowan, C. (2005). Measurement equivalence of the food related lifestyle instrument (frl) in ireland and great britain. *Food quality and preference*, 16(1):1–12.
- Owusu-Sekyere, E., Owusu, V., and Jordaan, H. (2014). Consumer preferences and willingness to pay for beef food safety assurance labels in the kumasi metropolis and sunyani municipality of ghana. *Food control*, 46:152–159.
- Pambo, K. O., Otieno, D. J., and Okello, J. J. (2017). Analysis of consumer preference for vitamin a-fortified sugar in kenya. *The European Journal of Development Research*, 29(4):745–768.
- Payne, J. W., Bettman, J. R., and Johnson, E. J. (1993). *The adaptive decision maker*. Cambridge University Press.
- Pérez-Cueto, F. J., Verbeke, W., de Barcellos, M. D., Kehagia, O., Chryssochoidis, G., Scholderer, J., and Grunert, K. G. (2010). Food-related lifestyles and their association to obesity in five European countries. *Appetite*, 54(1):156–162.
- Perugini, M. and Gallucci, M. (1997). A hierarchical faceted model of the big five. *European Journal of Personality*, 11(4):279–301.
- Pliner, P. and Mann, N. (2004). Influence of social norms and palatability on amount consumed and food choice. *Appetite*, 42(2):227–237.
- Pouta, E., Heikkilä, J., Forsman-Hugg, S., Isoniemi, M., and Mäkelä, J. (2010). Consumer choice of broiler meat: The effects of country of origin and production methods. *Food quality and preference*, 21(5):539–546.
- Putler, D. S. (1992). Incorporating Reference Price Effects into a Theory of Consumer Choice. *Marketing Science*, 11(3):287–309.
- Raffaelli, R., Notaro, S., Scarpa, R., Pihlens, D., and Louviere, J. (2009). Valuing the external effects of alpine transhumance: an application of the best-worst approach

to rank ordered data. In Paper Presented at the International Choice Modelling Conference, Harrogate.

- Ragaert, P., Verbeke, W., Devlieghere, F., and Debevere, J. (2004). Consumer perception and choice of minimally processed vegetables and packaged fruits. *Food Quality and Preference*, 15(3):259–270.
- Rappoport, L. H., Peters, G. R., Huff-Corzine, L., and Downey, R. G. (1992). Reasons for eating: an exploratory cognitive analysis. *Ecology of Food and Nutrition*, 28(3):171–189.
- Raun Mørkbak, M., Christensen, T., and Gyrd-Hansen, D. (2010). Consumer preferences for safety characteristics in pork. *British Food Journal*, 112(7):775–791.
- Renner, B., Sproesser, G., Strohbach, S., and Schupp, H. T. (2012). Why we eat what we eat. The Eating Motivation Survey (TEMS). *Appetite*, 59(1):117–128.
- Richard, R., de Vries, N. K., and van der Pligt, J. (1998). Anticipated regret and precautionary sexual behavior 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28(15):1411–1428.
- Roering, K. J., Boush, D. M., Shipp, S. H., et al. (1986). Factors that shape eating patterns: A consumer behavior perspective. *What is America eating*, pages 72–84.
- Roininen, K., Lähteenmäki, L., and Tuorila, H. (1999). Quantification of consumer attitudes to health and hedonic characteristics of foods. *Appetite*, 33(1):71–88.
- Rokeach, M. (1973). The nature of human values. New York, NY, US: Free Press.
- Rokka, J. and Uusitalo, L. (2008). Preference for green packaging in consumer product choices Do consumers care? *International Journal of Consumer Studies*, 32(5):516–525.
- Rose, J. M. and Bliemer, M. C. J. (2009). Constructing Efficient Stated Choice Experimental Designs. *Transport Reviews*, 29(5):587–617.
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). Lavaan: An r package for structural equation modeling. *Journal of statistical software*, 48(2):1–36.

- Saffrey, C. and Roese, N. (2006). Praise for regret: Positive evaluative metaperceptions of negative affective experience. *Unpublished manuscript*.
- Saliba, A. J., Wragg, K., and Richardson, P. (2009). Sweet taste preference and personality traits using a white wine. *Food Quality and Preference*, 20(8):572–575.
- Savage, L. J. (1954). The foundations of statistics. John Wiley, New York.
- Scheibehenne, B., Miesler, L., and Todd, P. M. (2007). Fast and frugal food choices: Uncovering individual decision heuristics. *Appetite*, 49(3):578–589.
- Scholderer, J., Brunsø, K., Bredahl, L., and Grunert, K. G. (2004). Cross-cultural validity of the food-related lifestyles instrument (FRL) within Western Europe. *Appetite*, 42(2):197–211.
- Schwartz, B., Ward, A., Monterosso, J., Lyubomirsky, S., White, K., and Lehman, D. R. (2002). Maximizing versus satisficing: happiness is a matter of choice. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 83(5):1178–1197.
- Schwartz, S. H. and Bilsky, W. (1990). Toward a universal psychological structure of human values: Extensions and cross-cultural replications. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 58(5):878.
- Sharpe, K. M., Staelin, R., and Huber, J. (2008). Using Extremeness Aversion to Fight Obesity: Policy Implications of Context Dependent Demand. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(3):406–422.
- Shimanoff, S. B. (1984). Commonly named emotions in everyday conversations. *Perceptual and Motor Skills.*
- Sijtsema, S. J., Jesionkowska, K., Symoneaux, R., Konopacka, D., and Snoek, H. (2012). Perceptions of the health and convenience characteristics of fresh and dried fruits. *LWT - Food Science and Technology*, 49(2):275–281.
- Simon, H. A. (1955). A Behavioral Model of Rational Choice. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 69(1):99–118.
- Simonson, I. (1989). Choice Based on Reasons: The Case of Attraction and Compromise Effects. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 16(2):158.

- Simonson, I. (1992). The Influence of Anticipating Regret and Responsibility on Purchase Decisions. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 19(1):105–118.
- Skelton, A. C. and Allwood, J. M. (2017). Questioning demand: A study of regretted purchases in Great Britain. *Ecological Economics*, 131:499–509.
- Sobal, J., Bisogni, C. A., and Jastran, M. (2014). Food Choice Is Multifaceted, Contextual, Dynamic, Multilevel, Integrated, and Diverse. *Mind, Brain, and Education*, 8(1):6–12.
- Spinelli, S., De Toffoli, A., Dinnella, C., Laureati, M., Pagliarini, E., Bendini, A., Braghieri, A., Gallina Toschi, T., Sinesio, F., Torri, L., Gasperi, F., Endrizzi, I., Magli, M., Borgogno, M., di Salvo, R., Favotto, S., Prescott, J., and Monteleone, E. (2018). Personality traits and gender influence liking and choice of food pungency. *Food Quality and Preference*, 66(August 2017):113–126.
- Sporleder, E. M., Kayser, M., Friedrich, N., Theuvsen, L., et al. (2014). Consumer preferences for sustainably produced bananas: a discrete choice experiment. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*, 17(1):59–82.
- Stafleu, A., de Graaf, C., van Staveren, W. A., and Schroots, J. J. (1991). A review of selected studies assessing social-psychological determinants of fat and cholesterol intake. *Food Quality and Preference*, 3(4):183–200.
- Steenis, N. D., van Herpen, E., van der Lans, I. A., Ligthart, T. N., and van Trijp, H. C. (2017). Consumer response to packaging design: The role of packaging materials and graphics in sustainability perceptions and product evaluations. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 162:286–298.
- Steenkamp, J.-B. E. (1989). Product quality: An investigation into the concept and how it is perceived by consumers. Steenkamp.
- Steptoe, A., Pollard, T. M., and Wardle, J. (1995). Development of a Measure of the Motives Underlying the Selection of Food : the Food Choice Questionnaire. *Appetite*, 25:267–284.
- Stüttgen, P., Boatwright, P., and Monroe, R. T. (2012). A Satisficing Choice Model. *Marketing Science*, 31(6):878–899.

- Swait, J. (2001). A non-compensatory choice model incorporating attribute cut offs. *Transportation Research Part B*, 35(35):903–928.
- Swardh, J.-e. and Algers, S. (2009). Willingness to accept commuting time for yourself and for your spouse : Empirical evidence from Swedish stated preference data. *12th World Conference for Transportation Research*, (Working Papers 2009:5, Swedish National Road & Transport Research Institute (VTI)).
- Ten Berge, J. M. (1999). A legitimate case of component analysis of ipsative measures, and partialling the mean as an alternative to ipsatization. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 34(1):89–102.
- Thaler, R. (1980). Toward a positive theory of consumer choice. *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 1(1):39–60.
- Thiene, M., Boeri, M., and Chorus, C. G. (2012). Random Regret Minimization: Exploration of a New Choice Model for Environmental and Resource Economics. *Environmental and Resource Economics*, 51(3):413–429.
- Thurstone, L. L. (1927). A law of comparative judgment. Psychological review, 34(4):273.
- Train, K. E. (2009). *Discrete choice methods with simulation*. Cambridge university press.
- Traub, L. and Odland, D. (1979). Convenience foods and home-prepared foods. comparative costs, yield, and quality.(agricultural economic report no. 429). washington.
- Tversky, A. (1972). Elimination by aspects: A theory of choice. *Psychological review*, 79(4):281.
- Tversky, A. and Kahneman, D. (1991). Loss Aversion in Riskless Choice : A Reference-Dependent Model. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 106(4):1039–1061.
- Ubilava, D. and Foster, K. (2009). Quality certification vs. product traceability: Consumer preferences for informational attributes of pork in georgia. *Food Policy*, 34(3):305–310.
- van Cranenburgh, S., Guevara, C. A., and Chorus, C. G. (2015). New insights on random regret minimization models. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 74:91–109.
- van Cranenburgh, S., Rose, J. M., and Chorus, C. G. (2018). On the robustness of efficient experimental designs towards the underlying decision rule. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 109(March 2017):50–64.
- Van Herpen, E., Fischer, A. R. H., and Van Trijp, H. C. M. (2015). How to position 'mildly sustainable' products: The joint impact of assortment display and price setting. *Food Quality and Preference*, 46:26–32.
- Van Trijp, H. C., Hoyer, W. D., and Inman, J. J. (1996). Why switch? product category: level explanations for true variety-seeking behavior. *Journal of Marketing Research*, pages 281–292.
- Vermeir, I. and Verbeke, W. (2006). Sustainable food consumption: Exploring the consumer "attitude Behavioral intention" gap. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 19(2):169–194.
- Walker, J. L., Ben-Akiva, M., and Bolduc, D. (2007). Identification of parameters in Normal Error Component Logit-Mixture (NECLM) Models. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, 22:1095–1125.
- Wang, R. (2018). When Prospect Theory Meets Consumer Choice Models: Assortment and Pricing Management with Reference Prices. *Manufacturing & Service Operations Management*, 20(3):583–600.
- Wang, Z., An, S., Wang, J., and Ding, C. (2017). Evacuation travel behavior in regret minimization or utility maximization rules? Evidence from emergency context. *KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering*, 21(1):440–446.
- Waterlander, W. E., Steenhuis, I. H., de Vet, E., Schuit, A. J., and Seidell, J. C. (2009). Expert views on most suitable monetary incentives on food to stimulate healthy eating. *European journal of public health*, 20(3):325–331.
- Wedel, M. and Kamakura, W. (2000). Market segmentation: Conceptual and methodological foundations.

- Wedel, M. and Kamakura, W. (2002). Introduction to the special issue on market segmentation. *Intern. J. of Research in Marketing*, 19:181–183.
- Werth, L. and Foerster, J. (2007). How regulatory focus influences consumer behavior. *European Journal of Social Psychology*, 37(August 2006):33–51.
- Wu, L., Gong, X., Qin, S., Chen, X., Zhu, D., Hu, W., and Li, Q. (2017). Consumer preferences for pork attributes related to traceability, information certification, and origin labeling: Based on china's jiangsu province. *Agribusiness*, 33(3):424–442.
- Wu, L., Wang, H., and Zhu, D. (2015). Analysis of consumer demand for traceable pork in china based on a real choice experiment. *China Agricultural Economic Review*, 7(2):303–321.
- Yin, S., Li, Y., Xu, Y., Chen, M., and Wang, Y. (2017). Consumer preference and willingness to pay for the traceability information attribute of infant milk formula: Evidence from a choice experiment in china. *British Food Journal*, 119(6):1276–1288.
- Yue, C., Zhao, S., and Kuzma, J. (2015). Heterogeneous consumer preferences for nanotechnology and genetic-modification technology in food products. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 66(2):308–328.
- Zeelenberg, M. (1999). Anticipated regret, expected feedback and behavioral decisionmaking. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 12:93–106.
- Zeelenberg, M. and Pieters, R. (2007). A Theory of Regret Regulation 1. o. *Journal* of Consumer Psychology, 17(1):3–18.